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PART |

ITEM 1. BUSINESS
Forward-Looking Statements

This report includes forward-looking statementshwitthe meaning of Section 21E of the SecuritiesHaxnge Act of 1934, as amended,
which are subject to the “safe harbor” createdanti®n 21E. In particular, statements about oueetqgtions, beliefs, plans, objectives or
assumptions of future events or performance artagwd or incorporated by reference in this repslitstatements other than statements of
historical facts contained herein are forward-logkstatements. We have based these forward-loskéitgments on our current expectations
about future events. While we believe these extieasmare reasonable, forward-looking statemergsrdrerently subject to risks and
uncertainties, many of which are beyond our con®@air actual results may differ materially from slecsuggested by these forward-looking
statements for various reasons; including thoseudi&ed in this report under the heading “Risk Fact&iven these risks and uncertainties,
you are cautioned not to place undue reliance oticowarc-looking statements. The forward-looking statemémtiided in this report are
made only as of the date hereof. We do not undertahd specifically decline, any obligation to uggdany of these statements or to publicly
announce the results of any revisions to any fa@oking statements to reflect future events or tmyments. When used in the report, un
otherwise indicated, “we,” “our,” “us,” the “Compghand “BioCryst” refer to BioCryst Pharmaceuticallsc.

Our Business

We are a biotechnology company that designs, opéisnand develops novel drugs that block key enzynvedved in the pathogenesis
diseases. We focus on therapeutic areas with ummeeical needs that are of interest to us and aligvith our capabilities and expertise. We
integrate the disciplines of biology, crystallogngpmedicinal chemistry and computer modeling 8zdiier and develop small molecule
pharmaceuticals through the process known as steiguided drug design.

Structureguided drug design is a drug discovery approacWliigh we design synthetic compounds from detaiteattural knowledge ¢
the active sites of enzyme targets associatedpaitticular diseases. We use X-ray crystallograpbyputer modeling of molecular structures
and advanced chemistry techniques to focus orhtiee-dimensional molecular structure and activediaracteristics of the enzymes that
control cellular biology. Enzymes are proteins thettas catalysts for many vital biological reatsioOur goal generally is to design a
compound that will fit in the active site of an gne and thereby prevent its catalytic activity. Blles in development by us and our partner
are summarized in the table below:

Phase
Drug/Drug Candidate Drug Class Therapeutic Area(s Rights
Acute Influenza, Phase 3 BioCryst (worldwide,
hospital setting except Japan, Taiwan,
| N inid Korea and Israel
Peramivir l?]thr%\i/%rrlous euraminidase Seasonal Influenza Approved Shionogi
(Japan’ (Japan & Taiwan
Approved Green Cross
(Korea) (Korea)
Ulodesine Oral Purine Nucleoside Gout Phase 3 ready| BioCryst
Phosphorylase Inhibitc (worldwide)
Forodesine Oral Purine Nucleoside Oncology Phase 2 Mundipharma
Phosphorylase Inhibitc (worldwide)
BCX4161 Oral Serine Protease Inhibitor Hereditary angioedema (“HAE”)] Preclinical BioCryst
Targeting Kallikrein (worldwide)
BCX4430 RNA dependent-RNA PolymeraseFiloviruses, including Preclinical BioCryst
Inhibitor hemorrhagic fever viruse (worldwide)
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In addition to these drugs and product candidatesare developing a series of molecules with thjeative of selecting a second
generation kallikrein inhibitor for the treatmertHbAE and advancing it into preclinical developmén2013.

Our Business Strategy

Our business strategy is to maximize sustainablesMiay moving our product candidate portfolio froiimcovery through clinical
development, registration and ultimately to the kearBioCryst was founded on the strength of itdyestage discovery and development
capabilities. We may decide to market, distributd sell our products in specific therapeutic arédternatively, we may rely on partners,
licensees and others to develop, market, distriant#or sell our products in therapeutic areas @/her have not developed the pre-requisite
expertise or for which we do not intend to develop commercial infrastructure to commercialize @dpict. The principal elements of our
strategy are:

» Focusing on High Vali-Added Structure-Guided Drug Design Technologdi¥s.utilize structure-guided drug design in order to
most efficiently develop new therapeutic candidaftsicture-guided drug design is a process by hwvie design a product
candidate through detailed analysis of the enzyarget, which the product candidate must inhibibrider to stop the progression of
the disease or disorder. We believe that strudurded drug design is a powerful tool for the effit development of small-
molecule product candidates that have the potettiaé safe and effective. Our structure-guided) diesign technologies typically
allow us to design and synthesize multiple prodactdidates that inhibit the same enzyme targel, thi2 goal of establishing bro
patent protection and formulating compounds witmpetitive advantage

e Selecting Inhibitors that are Promising CandidatesCommercializationWe test multiple compounds to identify those that a
most promising for clinical development. We basesmiection of product candidates on desirable yebdharacteristics, such as
initial indications of safety and efficacy. We leelé that this focused strategy allows us to eliteit@ss promising candidates from
consideration sooner without incurring substardiimical costs. In addition, our preference isatest product candidates on the
basis of their potential for relatively efficienbh&se 1 and Phase 2 clinical tri

» Entering into Contractual RelationshigAn important element of our business strategy isotatrol fixed costs and overhead
through contracting and entering into license agesgs with third parties. We maintain a streamlinerporate infrastructure that
focuses our expertise. By contracting with othexcggity organizations and the U.S. Government, eleebe that we can control
costs, enable our product candidates to reach #iikatnmore quickly and reduce our business riskgéfeerally plan to advance
product candidates through initial and early-staigey development, and then may out-license prochutlidates or continue later
stage development, depending on the therapeuticaan@ our capabilities. We seek to retain U.S tsigih our product candidates
within specialty markets, while relying on collabtive arrangements with third parties for prodwaididates within larger markets
or outside our area of expertise. Potential thadypalliances could include preclinical developmetinical development,
regulatory approval, marketing, sales and distidsubf our product candidates. We believe partripsshre a good potential source
of development payments, license fees, future guayiments and royalties. Partnerships may redwcedsts and risks and increi
the effectiveness of late-stage drug developmegtlatory approval, manufacturing, and selling wf products. We are willing to
license a product candidate to a partner duringséaxye of the development process for which werchéte it to be beneficial to us
and to the ultimate development and commerciabmabif that product candidal

We are a Delaware corporation originally founded986. Our corporate headquarters is located & Ed@peror Blvd., Suite 200,
Durham, North Carolina 27703 and the corporatgtelae number is (919) 859-1302. For more infornmadibout us, please visit our website
at www.biocryst.com. The information on our websit@ot incorporated into this Form 10-K.

Peramivir

Peramivir is a neuraminidase inhibitor for the tneent of patients with influenza. Influenza is asnal virus with highest infection rates
generally observed in colder months. Intravenows) (beramivir has been approved in Japan and Kiorgae treatment of patients with
influenza. In these countries, influenza occurmprily during the September to April timeframe.

We have been developing i.v. peramivir under a $84llion contract from the Biomedical Advanceddearch and Development
Authority within the United States Department ofdtth and Human Services (“‘BARDA/HHS"). See “Collaations and In-License
Relationships— BARDA/HHS” below for a further dission of this development contract.

We also have various regional collaborations ferdbvelopment and commercialization of peramiviFawan and Israel, as well as for
the pursuit of government stockpiling agreementsunope, Russia, Canada, Israel and Singapore.
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In January 2010, our partner Shionogi & Co., Lt&hjonogi”) received the world’s first approval fov. peramivir and launched it under
the commercial name RAPIACTAIn Japan. It was initially approved for the treatref adults with uncomplicated seasonal influerszawell
as those at high-risk for complications associati¢d influenza. In October 2010, Shionogi receieguproval for an additional indication to
treat children and infants with influenza in JapanAugust 2010, Green Cross Corporation (“Greens€¥) received marketing and
manufacturing approval from the Korean Food & DAdministration (“KFDA”) for i.v. peramivir under # commercial name PERAMIFLY
to treat patients with influenza A & B viruses, limting pandemic H1IN1 and avian influenza.

Peramivir is an intravenously administered anthagent that rapidly delivers high plasma conceiung to the sites of infection.
Peramivir inhibits the interactions of influenzaur@minidase, an enzyme that is critical to the aghiaf influenza within the host. Peramivir is
an inhibitor of influenza A and B viruses, includistrains of influenza viruses that may be restdtanther available neuraminidase inhibitors.
Because of the similarities of the neuraminidasvasites among the different strains of the iefima virus, peramivir is a potent broad-
spectrum inhibitor and may be effective in thetimeent and prevention of influenza irrespectivehaf strain of the virus. The availability of an
i.v. neuraminidase inhibitor may be important iatting patients hospitalized with severe and piitife-threatening influenza by ensuring
that the appropriate dose is administered, which beea concern with currently available oral oral@d anti-influenza agents.

The influenza virus causes an acute viral disebfigeaespiratory tract. Unlike the common cold andhe other respiratory infections,
seasonal flu can cause severe iliness, resultitifpithreatening complications. According to therters for Disease Control and Prevention
(the “CDC"), an estimated 5% to 20% of the Ameripmpulation suffers from influenza annually, andrthare approximately 3,000 to 49,000
flu-related deaths per year in the U.S. Most at riskyaung children, the elderly and people with sesip compromised immune systems. V
the concern of avian influenza and the possibleathof a pandemic, many governments throughouwtril have been stockpiling antiviral
drugs, such as oseltamivir (TAMIFLY ). We have sab¢hird-party commercial agreements to assisthaold we receive any governmental
stockpiling orders. There is interest by many efsthgovernments, including the U.S. Governmerfinding additional vaccines and antivirals
to address mutations to the influenza virus ortemqt@al pandemic situation.

Clinical Trials

The peramivir Phase 3 301 clinical trial (“301”) sva multicenter, randomized, double-blind, contatudy to evaluate the efficacy and
safety of 600 mg i.v. peramivir administered onedydfor five days in addition to standard of c§f8OC"), compared to SOC alone, in adults
and adolescents hospitalized due to serious irflwe@n November 7, 2012, we announced completidheoplanned interim analysis of the
peramivir Phase 3 clinical trial. The differencdvibeen the peramivir and the control groups on tiragry endpoint was small and the
recalculated sample size was greater than the fimeddutility boundary of 320 subjects. Based bis information, the independent data
monitoring committee (“DMC”) recommended that tiedy be terminated for futility. No unexpected abeacevents were identified and the
DMC expressed no concerns about the safety of peiraWe suspended enroliment in the 301 clinicaltand subsequently terminated it.
During the first half of 2013, we will conduct meegs and discussions with BARDA/HHS and the U.Sd& Drug Administration (“FDA")
to determine the appropriate future for the perampirogram. At the conclusion of these meetings,fthiure development, if any, of peramivir
in the U.S. will be determined.

In January 2011, we announced top-line results wamcompleted 303 clinical trial. This clinicalarwas an opeiabel, randomized tri
of the antiviral activity, safety and tolerabilivf i.v. peramivir administered either as a oncdydafusion of 600 mg or a twice-daily infusion
of 300 mg to adult and adolescent subjects hogmtalwith confirmed or suspected influenza infectibreatment was planned for 5 days with
an extension to 10 days in patients who needediaddi treatment. This completed Phase 3 safetyvantbgy trial was one of the largest
prospective clinical trials of an influenza antatiin the hospital setting completed to date. Tiiveoal trial enrolled 234 patients aged 14 to
92 years during the 2009-2010 H1N1 pandemic.

Both dose regimens of i.v. peramivir evaluatechi;m 303 trial were generally safe and well-toleraléte frequency and severity of
adverse events were similar in the two groups,veer@ consistent with the profile of influenza patgehospitalized during the 2009-2010
H1N1 pandemic. Severe Adverse Events (“SAE#)e reported in 20 percent of patients. Of thaltSAES reported, one case of elevated |
enzymes was attributed to the study drug and b#rdbAESs were attributed to other factors. The mosimon SAEs reported were respiratory
failure, acute respiratory distress syndrome, segpiock and acute renal failure. Overall mortadiithin 28 days of initial peramivir treatment
was 8.7 percent; no deaths were attributed totthy girug. No safety signals were identified. Thienary efficacy endpoint in the trial was the
change (reduction) in influenza virus titer as noead by logo tissue culture infective dose (TGID t 38 hours. There were no differences
between the two dosing regimens in the decreasasairtiter after 48 hours of treatment with penaim
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Purine Nucleoside Phosphorylase (“PNP”) Inhibitors

PNP is a purine salvage pathway enzyme. Low ddseBIB inhibitors could be useful in reducing semumic acid (“sUA”) for the
treatment of gout, while high doses of PNP inhitsitoould be useful in the treatment of hematoldgitaignancies. We have two PNP
inhibitors that are in development, ulodesine Far treatment of gout and forodesine for the treatraEhematological malignancies.

Ulodesine

Ulodesine is an oral PNP inhibitor with the potahtor once-a-day dosing suitable for chronic adstration. In September 2009, we
announced the initiation of a clinical program &velop ulodesine for the treatment of gout. Goat éhronic inflammatory arthritis caused by
monosodium urate crystal deposits in joints anckttireys resulting from elevated sUA levels in bheod, a condition known as
hyperuricemia. We believe that ulodesine is a psimgi product candidate to control gout becauséPbiase 2 clinical trials of ulodesine
confirmed a meaningful dose related reduction iA shht was sustained for the duration of drug eypesin addition, ulodesine is generally
safe and well-tolerated through 24 weeks of treatmehen evaluated as an add-on therapy to alloplin gout patients who have not
adequately responded to allopurinol alone.

Following the successful conclusion of ulodesinageh? clinical trials and interactions with U.Sd &uropean regulatory agencies, we
are currently seeking a partner to fund Phase 8ldpment and commercialization of ulodesine. Duthéocost of future development and
commercialization, we do not plan to initiate Phaskevelopment of ulodesine without a partner.

Clinical Trials

On July 24, 2012, we announced favorable 52-wefgtyseesults and sustained efficacy from the extenphase of the randomized
Phase 2b clinical trial of ulodesine (the “BCX422@3” or “203” trial) added to allopurinol in patitsnwith gout who had failed to reach the
sUA therapeutic goal of <6 mg/dL on allopurinolag as well as positive Phase 2 safety resultatienqits with mild to moderate renal
impairment. The approximate doubling of SUA resgoraes with ulodesine seen at 12 weeks was sadtinough 52 weeks of treatment.
After 52 weeks of treatment, ulodesine doses ofj510 mg, and 20 mg/day showed response rates%6f 48% and 64% respectively,
compared to 19% for placebo. These results arestenswith the previously reported positive finglinat the 12-week primary efficacy time
point. There was a low incidence of gout flarethi clinical trial. Gout flares over 52 weeks ocedrin 7% of placebo-treated patients as
compared to 9-21% of patients treated with ulodedim addition, a total of 118 patients with mitdrhoderate renal impairment, based on the
body surface area adjustment of the Cockroft-Gauathula, have been evaluated on study drug achesPhase 2 program. These clinical trial
confirmed that ulodesine can be used safely irepttiwith mild to moderate renal impairment, a camroo-morbidity in gout patients.

In January 2012, we reported positive 24-week tedrdm the extension phase of our randomized ghlacontrolled Phase 2b clinical
trial BCX4208203 evaluating 5 mg, 10 mg, 20 mg and 40 mg ofedote added to allopurinol in patients with goubwiad failed to reach tt
sUA therapeutic goal of <6 mg/dL on allopurinolao The results of this blinded safety extensianficmed that ulodesine was generally safe
and well-tolerated, and sustained sUA control divee. In addition, the results of a vaccine suldgtindicated sufficient responses to various
vaccines, and thus indicated a healthy immune foméh tested patients. The types and rates ofradvevents through 24 weeks, including
infections, were similar between the groups treatitld ulodesine and placebo. No opportunistic ansual infections were observed. As
expected, a dosgependent effect on lymphocyte counts was obsemddhis effect appeared to plateau within 12 weékseatment. Throug
24 weeks of treatment, no patients from the placgbog or 10 mg cohorts discontinued study drugtdumnfirmed lymphocyte or CD4+ cell
counts below certain pre-specified thresholds. fpatients were discontinued from the 20 mg group Ehpatients from the 40 mg group due
to pre-specified stopping rules based on CD4+amlhts. Following this analysis, the 40 milligraohort was discontinued.

In November 2011, we presented during a late-breated session at the American College of Rheurngto(“ACR”) positive top-line
12-week results from the Phase 2b BCX4208-203 ffia¢ clinical trial randomized 279 patients tcefivial arms: ulodesine at doses of 5 mg,
10 mg, 20 mg, 40 mg and placebo, administered dadg-for 12-weeks. Allopurinol 300 mg once-dailysvadministered in all trial arms. The
primary endpoint of the trial was the proportiorpatients with SUA <6 mg/dL at day 85. The primangpoint of the trial was successfully
achieved. When added to allopurinol 300 mg, ulauegias superior to allopurinol plus placebo (p=0.00erall). Ulodesine doses evaluate
the clinical trial showed response rates rangingfB3% to 49%, as compared to 18% for placebo. #gldlodesine to allopurinol was
generally safe and well-tolerated at all dosesistudBoth the frequency and types of adverse eyantisiding infections, were similar between
the groups treated with ulodesine and placebo. pjmidunistic or unusual infections were reportedither the ulodesine treated groups or
placebo.
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In May 2011, we presented results from our two detegl, short-duration Phase 2 clinical trials afddsine at the Annual European
Congress of Rheumatology in London, U.K. We repbfiedings from our Phase 2 BCX4208-202 clinicaltevaluating ulodesine alone and
in combination with allopurinol, a clinical trighat utilized a factorial design to evaluate varidases of ulodesine or placebo combined with
various doses of allopurinol or placebo. The priyr&rdpoint was change in sUA after 21 days of tneat compared to baseline concentratior
prior to treatment. A sUA dose-response was dematest for both ulodesine and allopurinol, and twbination of ulodesine and allopurinol
was shown to be superior to either drug alone iA skiluction. Combinations of lower doses of ulodesvith allopurinol showed additive or
synergistic effects in sUA reduction. The dosesloflesine alone and in combination with allopuriwelre generally safe and well-tolerated.
There were no pharmacokinetic drug-drug interastioetween ulodesine and either allopurinol ordtsva metabolite, oxypurinol.

Forodesine

Forodesine is an orally-available transition-sttalog PNP inhibitor that may be developed to tvastty of blood cancers, also known
as hematological malignancies. Forodesine has @p@erned Orphan Drug status by the FDA for threécatibns: T-cell non-Hodgkin's
lymphoma, including cutaneous t-cell lymphoma (“QT)Z chronic lymphocytic leukemia (“CLL") and relatl leukemias including T-cell
prolymphocytic leukemia; adult T-cell leukemia amalry cell leukemia and for treatment of acute Bybhoblastic leukemia (“B-ALL"). The
FDA has also granted “fast track” status to theettgsment of forodesine for the treatment of reldpserefractory Teell leukemia, and Spec
Protocol Assessment (“SPA”) from the FDA for fored® to conduct a pivotal clinical trial in CTCLtian oral formulation.

In February 2006, we entered into an exclusivealtgybearing right and license agreement with Mphdrma International Corporation
Limited, a subsidiary of Mundipharma Internatiortldings Limited (“Mundipharma”), for the co-deve@lment and commercialization of
forodesine for use in the field of oncology (therifinal Agreement”). On November 11, 2011, we esdeinto an Amended and Restated
License and Development Agreement (the “AmendedRestated Agreement”) with Mundipharma amendingrasthting the Original
Agreement.

Under the terms of the Amended and Restated Agneeeindipharma was granted worldwide rights taft@sine in the field of
oncology. Mundipharma controls all development anchmercialization of forodesine and assumes allréutievelopment and
commercialization costs. The Amended and Restatgdefnent provides for the possibility of future mvieayments totaling $15.0 million for
achieving specified regulatory events for certaii¢ations. In addition, the Amended and Restatge@ément provides that we will receive
tiered royalties ranging from mid to high singligit percentages of net product sales in eachtcpwhere forodesine is sold by Mundiphart
See “Collaborations and In-License Relationships—atpharma” below for a further discussion of therte and conditions of the Amended
and Restated Agreement.

In January 2013, Mundipharnsalapanese subsidiary, Mundipharma K.K., initigecbliment in a phase 1/2 clinical trial of foroghesin
recurrent/refractory peripheral t-cell ymphomaigats. The objective of the Phase 1 portion isaioficm safety and tolerability in
recurrent/refractory peripheral T-cell lymphomaigiats during repeated oral administration of foide 300 mg twice daily for 28 days, to
evaluate pharmacokinetics, and to determine themewended dose for Phase 2. The goal of the Phasgi@n is to evaluate the efficacy,
safety, and pharmacokinetics of the recommendedgdosegimen determined in the Phase 1 portionpfin@ary efficacy endpoint shall be
objective response rate (“ORR”) based on evaludijoan image assessment committee.

We licensed forodesine and other PNP inhibitorsfdbert Einstein College of Medicine of Yeshivaildersity (“AECOM”) and
Industrial Research, Ltd. (“IRL”) and will owe sid#nse payments to AECOM/IRL based on the futulestone payments and royalties
received by us from Mundipharma. On November 1712@e further amended our agreements with AECOMIAMRereby AECOM/IRL
agreed to accept a reduction of one-half in thegrgage of Net Proceeds (as defined in the licagemement) received by us under our
Amended and Restated Agreement with Mundipharmas. rfElduction does not apply to royalty payments enasla result of sales of licensed
products by our sub licensees.

Pre-clinical Compounds

Our leading pre-clinical compounds include BCX41#&4 oral prophylactic drug for hereditary angioedeand BCX4430, a broad
spectrum antiviral (“BSAV”) for development as adital countermeasure against filoviruses, includiegiorrhagic fever viruses. Both
product candidates are currently in pre-clinicaid¢ology studies.
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BCX4161 & dgeneration compoundBCX4161 is positioned to be the breakthrough orappylactic drug for HAE attacks. In
February 2012, we reported that we confirmed thiemy of BCX4161 in preclinical laboratory experimgusing human plasma, and
established a predicted therapeutic window for BO&Min the prevention of HAE attacks. Subsequemtyydeveloped a formulation that we
believe supports Phase 1 clinical developmentyveadompleted preclinical toxicology studies necasfar the initiation of clinical trials in
human subjects. On November 20, 2012, we had eotefierence with the FDA regarding the Investigaaiddew Drug application (“IND”) for
BCX4161. During the call, the FDA informed us tkiaty were requiring Good Manufacturing PracticeNI®&’) standards to the process of
compounding BCX4161 capsules at the U.S. clinital &s a consequence, the BCX4161 IND was placediaical hold until the drug
compounding could be performed under GMP standatus practice of compounding drug product at cihgites is not uncommon in Phas
clinical trials. We had proposed to administer hgeticapsules containing formulated drug solutiompounded at the clinical site. The clinical
hold imposed by the FDA created a delay in our psed BCX4161 development timeline, but we expeatitate Phase 1 clinical trials of
BCX4161 around the end of the first quarter of 201 Burope. The main success factors for the BCAARIBase 1 clinical trial are to
demonstrate safety, adequate and consistent dpagerse, and pharmacodynamic effects after oral midtration. We have also identified
several promising second generation oral HAE comgspuand plan to select a lead candidate in 2013.

BCX4430:The objective of BioCryst's BSAV program is to déyea broad-spectrum therapeutic for viruses tbaem threat to national
health and security. On November 12, 2012, we ameexl proof-of-principle data demonstrating that Bi@30 is efficacious and well-
tolerated in a preclinical disease model for euvithgeefficacy against yellow fever virus infectiahthe 2nd Antivirals Congress in Cambridge.
We are continuing our collaboration with the U.8m& Medical Research Institute of Infectious Disssa§' USAMRIID") regarding
filoviruses, while seeking additional U.S. Govermifunding for the further development of BCX443be primary focus of the program is
the treatment of hemorrhagic fever viruses, suddaburg virus and Ebola virus. We plan to provédielitional BCX4430 updates throughout
2013.

BCX5191:BCX5191 was a novel adenine nucleoside analogtiaggeiral RNA polymerase for the potential treatthef hepatitis C
virus (“HCV”). We successfully completed in-vitrm@ in-vivo studies in which BCX5191 exhibited patand selective pan-genotypic
antiviral activity against the isolated hepatitip@ymerase enzyme, while rapidly converting todhsve triphosphate form in the liver.
BCX5191 showed no inhibition of human RNA polymerasid no evidence of toxicity from standard inevécreens. In preclinical models,
BCX5191 demonstrated high oral bioavailability atsdoharmacokinetic profile supported once-dailgidg in clinical studies. We intended to
begin Phase 1 testing of BCX5191 before the erzDap.

On October 30, 2012, we announced the withdrawalioiND for BCX5191, following a discussion withe FDA. The FDA raised
concerns regarding the preclinical toxicity profieBCX5191 and questioned whether proposed expdsuels of BCX5191 were sufficient to
reduce viral load in patients infected with HCV. part of our strategy to address the FDA'’s concamesconducted an additional study of a
low dose of BCX5191 in HCV infected animals to cwterize its efficacy against HCV. This experimeas designed to determine if non-
toxic doses of BCX5191 would have a potent antivéftect. Following seven days of treatment withm2fiday of BCX5191, the viral load
reduction observed in the animals was insufficterjustify continued development. As a consequewesterminated the BCX5191 preclinical
program on January 28, 2013. We do not intend teyauthe development of BCX5191 or any backup camgs against HCV.

Corporate restructuring

On December 7, 2012, we announced a corporateicasting intended to significantly reduce our cststicture and to implement a
focused strategy to advance our hereditary HAEaanihiral programs. This action was in responseet@nt events, including termination of
the proposed acquisition of Presidio Pharmaceutitat. (“Presidio”) and an assessment of our asBeéviously on October 18, 2012,
BioCryst and Presidio announced the signing offanitiee merger agreement for Presidio to be acepliiny BioCryst in an alstock transactio
valued at $101 million, based on the prior daytsiig price of BioCryst's stock. The parties mutpagreed to terminate the merger on
November 30, 201:

The corporate restructuring included a workforauction of approximately 50% of our headcount, ®p8sitions. We restructured our
operations and implemented a focused R&D strategyder to have sufficient liquidity to advance &lAE and antiviral programs to reach
near-term value milestones. The restructuring asdarch and development focus significantly redacedost structure going forward. We
expect to reduce our operating cash utilizatior3@¥6 to 40% and our operating expenses by 40% toi6@®13, as compared to 2012 levels.
These reductions will enable us to extend our castvay to reach important nearm milestones in our oral HAE and broad spectamtiviral
programs. We recorded a restructuring charge & @llion in the fourth quarter of 2012.

Collaborations and In-License Relationships

BARDA/HHS In January 2007, BARDA/HHS awarded us a $102.6onillfouryear contract for the advanced development of pera
for the treatment of influenza. Since the initiahtract award, the contract has been amendedléztreiodifications in the development plar
peramivir for influenza. During 2009, peramivirrdtial development shifted to focus on intravenocelé/dry and the treatment of hospitalized
patients. To support this change, a September 2609act
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modification was awarded to extend the i.v. perangrogram by 12 months and to increase funding®y.2 million. The contract was further
modified in February 2011 for an additional $55.@lion. The contract termination date is now Dec&mB1, 2013 and the total contract
amount from BARDA/HHS is $234.8 million. Through &snber 31, 2012, approximately $188.3 million hesrbrecognized as revenue ur
this contract. In conjunction with the terminatioithe peramivir 301 clinical trial in November Z0all substantial peramivir development
activity has been postponed pending joint BARDA/HIFBA and BioCryst meetings. These meetings witiadode in the first half of 2013
and will determine the future development actigitier peramivir in the United States, if any.

In January 2006, we received FDA Fast Track desigm#or peramivir. In September 2009, we receiadRequest for Proposal (“RFP”)
from BARDA/HHS for the supply of i.v. peramivir. I@ctober 2009, the FDA granted an Emergency Usadkization (“EUA") for i.v.
peramivir, which expired in June 2010, with the iexjion of the declared emergency. On Novembef892we received and shipped an order
for 10,000 courses of i.v. peramivir (600 mg onedydfor five days) under the EUA for an aggregptechase price of $22.5 million.

Shionogi. On February 28, 2007, we entered into a Licensgeldpment and Commercialization Agreement, as aegnslipplemented
or otherwise modified (the “Shionogi Agreement’asended supplemental or otherwise modified), afuske license agreement with
Shionogi to develop and commercialize peramividapan for the treatment of seasonal and potentifdiyhreatening human influenza. Under
the terms of the Shionogi Agreement, Shionogi ola@irights to injectable formulations of peraminidapan in exchange for a $14.0 million
upfront payment. The license provided for developmmeilestone payments (up to $21.0 million), whigve all been paid, and for commercial
milestone payments (up to $95.0 million) in additto double-digit (between 10% and 20%) royaltymemts on product sales of peramivir.
Generally, all payments under the Shionogi Agregraemnon-refundable and non-creditable, but thmeysabject to audit. Shionogi is
responsible for all development, regulatory, andkating costs in Japan. The term of the Shionoge&ment is from February 28, 2007 until
terminated. Either party may terminate in the ewdrain uncured breach. Shionogi has the rightrofiteation without cause. In the event of
termination, all license and rights granted to 8bii shall terminate and shall revert back to us.d&veloped peramivir under a license from
the University of Alabama Birmingham (“UAB”) and Ve paid sublicense payments to UAB on the upfraghpents and will owe sublicense
payments on any future event payments and/or iegakceived by us from Shionogi. In October 2@@8 and Shionogi amended the Shior
Agreement to expand the territory covered by threament to include Taiwan and to provide rightsShionogi to perform a Phase 3 clinical
trial in Hong Kong.

PhaRMA Notes and Currency Hedge Agreement

On March 9, 2011, we announced that JPR Royaltyl$ab(“Royalty Sub”), a wholly-owned subsidiary BioCryst, completed a
private placement to institutional investors of &Bfhillion in aggregate principal amount of its RMA Senior Secured 14% Notes due 2020,
(“PhaRMA Notes”). The PhaRMA Notes, which are ohtigns of Royalty Sub, are secured by (i) Royali’S rights to receive royalty
payments from Shionogi in respect of commerciasalf RAPIACTA in Japan and, if approved for comeradrsale, Taiwan, as well as future
milestone payments payable by Shionogi under thendgi Agreement and all of Royalty Sub’s otheredssand (ii) a pledge by us of our
equity interest in Royalty Sub. Royalty Sub’s ohtigns to pay principal and interest on the PhaRNbAes are obligations solely of Royalty
Sub and are without recourse to any other perssiuding us, except to the extent of our pledgewfequity interests in Royalty Sub in
support of the PhaRMA Notes.

In connection with the issuance of the PhaRMA Nbte&oyalty Sub, we entered into a purchase aredagieement (the “Purchase and
Sale Agreement”) dated as of March 9, 2011 betwsesnd Royalty Sub. Under the terms of the Purchadesale Agreement, we transferred
to Royalty Sub, among other things, (i) our rigiotseceive certain royalty and milestone paymemmshfShionogi arising under the Shionogi
Agreement, and (ii) the right to receive paymemidar a Japanese yen/U.S. dollar foreign currendgdarrangement put into place by us in
connection with the transaction. Of the $30.0 millin gross proceeds from the sale of the PhaRM#&&by Royalty Sub, $3.0 million was
used to fund an interest reserve account, andfafterand financing expenses in connection wittirdresactions, the net proceeds to us were
approximately $22.7 million. See NoteRpyalty Monetizatiorin the consolidated financial statements includgeliém 8 in the Annual Report
on Form 10-K for a further description of the teraml conditions of this financing transaction.

The Purchase and Sale Agreement includes custamjamgsentations, warranties and covenants by uswstdmary indemnification and
other provisions typical for asset sale agreemierdructured financing transactions for pharmaicaltoyalty payments.

The PhaRMA Notes were issued by Royalty Sub undéndenture, dated as of March 9, 2011 (the “Indes1), by and between Royal
Sub and U.S. Bank National Association, as Tru@tee“Trustee”). Principal and interest on the Phi#@RNotes issued by Royalty Sub are
payable from, and are secured by, the rights taltpynd milestone payments under the Shionogi &gent transferred by us to Royalty Sub
and payments, if any, made to Royalty Sub undeCilmeency Hedge
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Agreement (defined below). Payments may also beerfrath the interest reserve account and certaier @bcounts established in accordance
with the Indenture. Principal on the PhaRMA Notesgquired to be paid in full by the final legaltométy date of December 1, 2020, unless the
PhaRMA Notes are repaid, redeemed or repurchaskere@ihe PhaRMA Notes are redeemable by Royally seginning March 9, 2012 as
described below. The PhaRMA Notes bear intereteatate of 14% per annum, payable annually ineasren September 1st of each year,
beginning on September 1, 2011 (each, a “Paymete’Da

Various accounts have been established in accoedaitic the Indenture, including, among others,itherest reserve account as well
collections account into which royalty and milest@rayments under the Shionogi Agreement will beenbdaddition, we may, but are not
obligated to, make capital contributions to a aptcount that may be used to redeem, or on opdaccasion pay any interest shortfall on,
the PhaRMA Notes.

On each Payment Date in respect of the PhaRMA Nfirds will be applied by the Trustee in the ordipriority set forth below:
. first, to Royalty Sub for the payment of all taxaged by Royalty Sub, if an'
. second, to the payment of certain expenses of Rogab not previously paid or reimburs:

. third, to the Trustee for distribution to the hatleall interest due and payable on the PhaRMA §ateluding any accrued
and unpaid interest due on prior Payment Datesaagdccrued and unpaid interest on such unpadeist, compounded
annually, taking into account any amounts paid ftheinterest reserve account and capital accaustioh Payment Dat

. fourth, as long as no event of default has occuaratlis continuing, on the September 1, 2014 PayDate, the
September 1, 2015 Payment Date or the SeptemB@i6, Payment Date, to the interest reserve accthengmount (if any)
set forth in a written direction to the Trusteenfr®oyalty Sub; provided, that such applicationwfds, together with any
such prior application of funds, shall not exce2dl$nillion in the aggregat

. fifth, to the Trustee for distribution to the hotdef the PhaRMA Notes, principal payments on theFMA Notes (without
premium or penalty), allocated pro rata among thldérs of the PhaRMA Notes, until the outstandiriggipal balance of
such PhaRMA Notes has been paid in 1

. sixth, after the PhaRMA Notes have been paid il folthe Trustee for the payment of principalarid interest on,
subordinated notes, if any, issued by Royalty Supeamitted by the Indenture for the PhaRMA Notesdrtain
circumstances

. seventh, after the PhaRMA Notes have been paidllintd the ratable payment of all other obligasamder the Indenture
for the PhaRMA Notes until all such amounts arel paifull; and

. eighth, after the PhaRMA Notes and all amounts gwinder the Indenture have been paid in full, tgdRy Sub, all
remaining amount:

If the amounts available for payment on any PayrBexte are insufficient to pay all of the interesedn a Payment Date, unless
sufficient capital is contributed to Royalty Subixyas permitted under the Indenture or the inteeserve account is available to make such
payment, the shortfall in interest will accrue net&t at the interest rate applicable to the PhaRi#es compounded annually. If such shortfall
(and interest thereon) is not paid in full on appto the next succeeding Payment Date, an “E@EBefault” under the Indenture will occur.
Events of Default under the Indenture include,dretnot limited to, the following:

. failure to pay interest on the PhaRMA Notes dueioyn Payment Date (other than the final legal mgtaiate or any
redemption date) in full, on or prior to the neMtseeding Payment Date, together with any additiaoerued and unpaid
interest on any interest not paid on the Paymetd Da which it was originally dus

. failure to pay principal and premium, if any, arcdried and unpaid interest on the PhaRMA Noteseriinal legal
maturity date, or failure to pay the redemptiorcenivhen required on any redemption d

. failure to pay any other amount due and payableutice Indenture and the continuance of such ddfimuh period of 30 or
more days after written notice thereof is giveiRtryalty Sub by the Truste
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. failure by Royalty Sub to comply with certain coaats set forth in the Indenture or the PhaRMA Nqtesvided, that, if th
consequences of the failure can be cured, sualrdadontinues for a period of 30 days or more aftéten notice of the
failure has been given to Royalty Sub by the Trustiethe direction of holders of a majority of theéstanding principal
balance of PhaRMA Notes, and, except in respeatanfvenant, obligation, condition or provision abhg qualified in respe
of Material Adverse Change (as defined in the Iale), such failure is a Material Adverse Char

. Royalty Sub becomes subject to a Voluntary Bankmupt an Involuntary Bankruptcy (each as definethaIndenture)

. any judgment or order for the payment of moneyxicess of $1.0 million (not paid or covered by irsge) shall be
rendered against Royalty Sub and either (i) enfosrd proceedings have been commenced by any aregibm such
judgment or order or (ii) there is any period of@Msecutive days during which a stay of enforcdroéauch judgment ¢
order, by reason of a pending appeal or othensisa not be in effec

. Royalty Sub is classified as a corporation or pipliraded partnership taxable as a corporatiotJf&. federal income tax
purposes

. Royalty Sub becomes an investment company reqtorbd registered under the Investment Company At940, as
amended

. we shall have failed to perform any of our coveramtder the Purchase and Sale Agreement and slurke fa a Material
Adverse Change; (

. the Trustee shall fail to have a first-priority fested security interest in any of the collatesdiging the PhaRMA Notes or
in any of the equity in Royalty Sub pledged by

The Indenture does not contain any financial comenaAdditionally, the Indenture includes customapresentations and warranties of
Royalty Sub, affirmative and negative covenantRayalty Sub, the above-described Events of Defmudtrelated remedies, and provisions
regarding the duties of the Trustee, indemnificatibthe Trustee, and other matters typical foeimdres used in structured financings of this

type.

The PhaRMA Notes will be redeemable at the optioRayalty Sub at any time at a redemption pricea¢tthe percentage of the
outstanding principal balance of the PhaRMA Noteind redeemed specified below for the period inclwlihe redemption occurs, plus acci
and unpaid interest through the redemption datdnefhaRMA Notes being redeemed:

Redemptior
Payment Dates (Between Indicated Date Percentage
From and including March 9, 2012 to and includingrish 8, 2013 107.(%
From and including March 9, 2013 to and includingrish 8, 201« 103.5%
From and including March 9, 2014 and theree 100.(%

In association with the PhaRMA Notes, we enteréal énCurrency Hedge Agreement to hedge certais askociated with changes in
value of the Japanese yen relative to the U.Sad(ithe “Currency Hedge Agreement”). Under the Eucy Hedge Agreement, we have the
right to purchase dollars and to sell yen at a@&te00 yen per dollar for which we may be requitegay a premium in each year from 2014
through 2020, provided the Currency Hedge Agreem@nains in effect. A payment of $2.0 million wik required if, on May 18 of the
relevant year, the U.S. dollar is worth 100 yetess as determined in accordance with the Curreletge Agreement. In conjunction with
establishing the Currency Hedge Agreement, webeiltequired to post collateral to the counterpavtyich may cause us to experience
additional quarterly volatility in our financial salts. We will not be required at any time to pustateral exceeding the maximum premium
payments remaining payable under the Currency HAdgeement. Subject to certain obligations we hav@nnection with the PhaRMA
Notes, we have the right to terminate the Currdiegige Agreement with respect to the 2016 throudt® 2@riod by giving notice to tt
counterparty prior to May 18, 2014 and paying @$gillion termination fee.

Green Cross In June 2006, we entered into an agreement witlkeiG@ross to develop and commercialize peramiviéarea. Under the
terms of the agreement, Green Cross will be resplei®r all development, regulatory, and commdizadion costs in Korea. We received a
one-time license fee of $250,000. The license plewihat we will share in profits resulting frone thale of peramivir in Korea, including the
sale of peramivir to the Korean government for lgpiling purposes. Furthermore, Green Cross will pgya premium over its cost to supply
peramivir for development and any future marketihigeramivir products in Korea. Both parties hawe tight to terminate in the event of an
uncured material breach. In the event of termimatidl rights, data, materials, products and othf@armation would be transferred to us.
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In August 2010, we announced that Green Crossdwived marketing and manufacturing approval froenkorean Food & Drug
Administration for i.v. peramivir, under the comroial name PERAMIFLY . PERAMIFLU is intended to ttgmtients with influenza A & B
viruses, including pandemic H1N1 and avian inflieerZreen Cross received the indication of singkedmministration of 300 mg i.v.
peramivir. Since PERAMIFLU’s approval, Green Crbss been in pricing discussions with the Korearnddat Health Insurance Corporation
and has yet to agree to a formulary price. PERANUBLdistribution to date has been limited to a ebgease basis.

Other Peramivir Collaborationtn addition to Shionogi and Green Cross, we har@ngements with several companies outside the
U.S. to represent us and peramivir for governmerkpiling purposes, including Merck KGaA for EumpRussia, Canada, and Singapore,
Neopharm for Israe

AECOM and IRL In June 2000, we licensed a series of potent iANiBitors from AECOM/IRL. The license agreemens tieeen
amended six times, most recently on June 19, 2Z¥elead product candidates from this collaboratimnforodesine and ulodesine. We have
obtained worldwide exclusive rights to develop thpeoduct candidates for human PNP inhibition dtichately to distribute these, or any
other, product candidates that might arise froreaesh on these PNP inhibitors. We have the opti@xpand the agreement to include other
inventions in the field made by the investigataremployees of AECOM/IRL. We have agreed to userneraially reasonable efforts to
develop these products. This license agreementiaagrminated by us at any time by giving 60 daxsace notice or in the event of material
uncured breach by AECOM/IRL.

In addition, we agreed to pay certain milestonenpayts for each licensed product, which range iratigregate from $1.4 million to
almost $4.0 million per indication, for future démement of these inhibitors, singtigit royalties on net sales of any resulting preiduade by
us, and to share approximately one quarter of éuparyments received from third-party sub licenaédise licensed PNP inhibitors, if any. We
also agreed to pay annual license fees ranging $b50,000 to $500,000, creditable against actyellties and other payments due to
AECOM/IRL.

Under the terms of the May 2010 amendment, AECOMARBreed to accept a reduction of one-half in thie@ntage of future Net
Proceeds (as defined in the license agreement)ethetion did not apply to any payment receivedibyinder the license agreement dated
February 1, 2006 with Mundipharma. Further, theuotion did not apply to royalty payments as a itesfusales of licensed products by us or
our sub licensees. In consideration for the Mayl2@bdification, we issued to AECOM/IRL shares of oammon stock with an aggregate
value of approximately $5.9 million and paid AECORIL approximately $90,000 in cash. The value o tonsideration began to be
amortized to expense in May 2010 and will end iptS&mber 2027, which is the expiration date forl#st-to-expire patent covered by the
agreement. We also agreed to pay certain feesnamégsions incurred by AECOM/IRL in connection withbsequent sales of the shares is
pursuant to the amendment.

Under the terms of the November 2011 amendment, QIRL agreed to accept a reduction of one-hathie percentage of all Net
Proceeds (as defined in the license agreementyestby us under our Amended and Restated AgreewigmtMundipharma.

Under the terms of the June 2010 amendment, thiepatarified the definition of the field with nesct to PNP inhibition and
AECOM/IRL agreed to the exclusive worldwide liceri§eBCX4430 to BioCryst for any antiviral use.

At our sole option and subject to certain agreeshugpnditions, any future non-royalty payments ttuke paid by us to AECOM/IRL
under the license agreement may be made eithasim @ shares of our common stock, or in a contibinaf cash and shares.

Mundipharma In February 2006, we entered into an exclusivealtgybearing right and license agreement with Mphdrma for the
development and commercialization of forodesineN& inhibitor, for use in oncology. Under the temfishe Original Agreement,
Mundipharma obtained rights to forodesine in magleatross Europe, Asia, and Australasia in exchorge$10.0 million ugront payment. i
addition, Mundipharma contributed $10.0 milliontbé documented out-of-pocket development costgiiadby us in respect of the current
and planned trials as of the effective date ofatpeeement, and Mundipharma would conduct additioligical trials at their own cost up to a
maximum of $15.0 million. The Original Agreemenbpided for the possibility of future event paymetataling $155.0 million for achieving
specified development, regulatory and commerciehév (including certain sales level amounts folloyva product’s launch) for certain
indications. In addition, the Original Agreemenbyided that we would receive royalties (rangingrirsingle digits to mid teens) based on a
percentage of net product sales, which varies dipgrupon
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when certain indications receive new drug applacafi'NDA”) approval in a major market country anaincvary by country depending on the
patent coverage or sales of generic compoundgartular country. Generally, all payments undher ©riginal Agreement were
nonrefundable and non-creditable, but they areestibp audit. We licensed forodesine and other iPBitors from AECOM/IRL and will
owe sublicense payments to AECOM/IRL on all milestpayments and royalties received by us from Mumatima.

On November 11, 2011, we entered into the AmendedRestated Agreement with Mundipharma. Underehag of this Amended and
Restated Agreement, Mundipharma obtained worldwglgs to forodesine in the field of oncology. Mupldarma will control the developme
and commercialization of forodesine and assumiulte development and commercialization costs. Aimended and Restated Agreement
provides for the possibility of future event payrteetotaling $15.0 million for achieving specifieggulatory events for certain indications. In
addition, the Amended and Restated Agreement peswitat we will receive tiered royalties rangingnfrmid- to high-single-digit percentages
of net product sales in each country where foradess sold by Mundipharma. These royalties areesailp downward adjustments based on
the then-existing patent coverage and/or the aviliffaof generic compounds in each country. Gelgrall payments under the Amended and
Restated Agreement are nonrefundable and non-abéelitout they are subject to audit.

Mundipharma will also have a right of exclusive aggtions with us for a limited period of time Hey initiate negotiations for a specif
backup PNP inhibitor. Otherwise, they will be atdeparticipate in the same negotiations processenter into with another company for the
backup PNP inhibitor. The Amended and Restated égemt will continue for the commercial life of theensed products, but may be
terminated by either party following an uncured eniai breach by the other party or in the eventpiteeexisting third party license with
AECOM/IRL expires. It may be terminated by Mundipina upon 60 days written notice without cause alenrcertain other conditions as
specified in the Amended and Restated AgreemeMutidipharma terminates the Amended and Restatedeftgent, Mundipharma would no
longer have any rights in forodesine and the righisld revert back to us; provided, however, thahie event the we determine to
subsequently use the data developed under the Aedeartl Restated Agreement for development and cocratization of forodesine in the
field of oncology, then we would have to pay Murdipma 150% of the cost of such data for such use Amended and Restated Agreement
resolved all ongoing disputes between the partidscancluded ongoing negotiations.

Emory University (Emory' ). In June 2000, we licensed intellectual propertynfiemory related to the HCV polymerase target assed
with hepatitis C viral infections. Under the originerms of the agreement, the research investig&tmm Emory provided us with materials
and technical insight into the target. We have edjte pay Emory single-digit royalties on salesuoy resulting product and to share in future
payments received from other third party partnéemny. We can terminate this agreement at any tisngiving 90 days advance notice. Upon
termination, we would cease using the licensedreiciyy.

The University of Alabama at BirminghaWve have had a close relationship with UAB sincefoumation. Our former Chairman,
Dr. Charles E. Bugg, was the previous Directohef t AB Center for Macromolecular Crystallographyd aur former Chief Operating
Officer, Dr. J. Claude Bennett, was the former leierst of UAB, the former Chairman of the Departmehiedicine at UAB and a former
Chairman of the Department of Microbiology at UAReveral of our programs originated at UAB.

We currently have agreements with UAB for influemeauiraminidase and complement inhibitors. Undetdh@s of these agreements,
UAB performed specific research for us in returnrissearch payments and license fees. UAB haseagtarst certain rights to any discoveries ir
these areas resulting from research developed [ &f5ointly developed with us. We have agreeddg pingle-digit royalties on sales of any
resulting product and to share in future paymestgived from other third-party partners. We havagleted the research under both the
complement and influenza agreements. These twegnats have initial 25-year terms, are automayicathewable for five-year terms
throughout the life of the last patent and are teafle by us upon three months’ notice and by UABar certain circumstances. Upon
termination each party shall cease using the qthey’s proprietary and confidential informationdamaterials, the parties shall jointly own
joint inventions and UAB shall resume full ownersloff all UAB licensed products. There is curremttyactivity between us and UAB on the
agreements, but when we license this technologh as in the case of the Shionogi and Green Cgrsements, or commercialize products
related to these programs, we will owe sublicergs br royalties on amounts we receive.

Government Contracts

On February 24, 2011, we announced that BARDA/HE®& dwarded us a contract modification of $55.0iami|lintended to fund
completion of the Phase 3 development of i.v. pérarfor the treatment of patients hospitalizedwifluenza. This contract modification
brings the total award from BARDA/HHS to $234.8 linih and extends the contract term by 24 monthsuidin December 31, 2013, providing
funding through completion of Phase 3 and to supiperfiling of an NDA to seek regulatory approt@l i.v. peramivir in the U.S. Through
December 31, 2012, $188.3 million has been recegnés revenue under the contract.
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Our contract with BARDA/HHS for the advanced deyetent of peramivir is a milestone-driven, cost-gined-fee contract.
BARDA/HHS will make periodic assessments of ourgeess, and the continuation of the contract isdhaseour performance, the timeliness
and quality of deliverables, and other factors. Gibeernment has rights under certain contract elstrs terminate this contract. The contract i
terminable by the government at any time for breactor convenience. In addition, the governmers the right to audit costs billed to them
under the contract and routinely conducts auditswrcontract. Any findings associated with themgtine audits are generally reflected
prospectively in our operating results upon thamdte agreement and resolutions of the audit figslin

BARDA/HHS has indicated that antiviral drugs areimportant element of their pandemic influenza prepness efforts and that their
strategy includes not only stockpiling of existiagtiviral drugs, but also seeking out new antivimadications to further broaden their
capabilities to treat and prevent all forms ofueihza. Peramivir is in the same class of neuramseidnhibitors as oseltamivir (TAMIFLU) and
zanamivir (RELENZA® ). We committed under contracintork with BARDA/HHS to develop parenteral formtitens of peramivir, which
could be especially useful in hospital settingpamndemic situations due to the ability to delivighhevels of the drug rapidly throughout the
body.

Under the defined scope of work in the contrachldBARDA/HHS for the development of peramivir, a pess was undertaken to valic
a U.S.-based manufacturer and the related methiqatdducing commercial batches of peramivir acpftiarmaceutical ingredient (“API1”). As
a required outcome of this validation process,dargantities of peramivir APl were produced. Inaadance with our accounting practices, we
recorded all costs associated with this validagimycess as research and development expenses@onsolidated Statements of
Comprehensive Loss. Simultaneously, revenue frenBIRDA/HHS contract was also recorded in our Ctidated Statements of
Comprehensive Loss in 2009. BARDA/HHS subsequearilymbursed us for these costs and upon reimburgeinoem BARDA/HHS, the
associated peramivir APl became property of the G&ernment.

Under the terms of the contract, if we determireedmount of peramivir API produced under the cantisain excess of what is necess
to complete the contract, we can acquire any experssnivir API at cost to use for our own purpod#s. believe that as a result of the
manufacturing campaign described above, more pegmaA®| has been produced than is required to stgps. regulatory approval. If we u
any excess API for our other contracts or actigjtiee will need to reconcile through an appropréguisition process with BARDA/HHS and
to determine the appropriate acquisition procesairesration for this API.

Patents and Proprietary Information

Our success will depend in part on our ability idain and enforce patent protection for our prosluctethods, processes and other
proprietary technologies, preserve our trade sgcagid operate without infringing on the proprigtaghts of other parties, both in the United
States and in other countries. We own or havegitghtertain proprietary information, proprietagghnology, issued and allowed patents and
patent applications which relate to compounds weedarveloping. We actively seek, when appropriatgegtion for our products, proprietary
technology and proprietary information by mean8)@. and foreign patents, trademarks and contrbattengements. In addition, we rely
upon trade secrets and contractual arrangemeptstiect certain of our proprietary information, prietary technology and products.

The patent positions of companies like ours areggly uncertain and involve complex legal anddatguestions. Our ability to
maintain and solidify our proprietary position faur technology will depend on our success in olgieffective patent claims and enforcing
those claims once granted. We do not know whetimeiofour patent applications or those patent apfithns that we license will result in the
issuance of any patents. Our issued patents asd that may issue in the future, or those licensets, may be challenged, invalidated,
rendered unenforceable or circumvented, which ctlil our ability to stop competitors from markegi related products or the length of term
of patent protection that we may have for our potsiuin addition, the rights granted under anyesispatents may not provide us with
competitive advantages against competitors withl@aimompounds or technology. Furthermore, our cetitgrs may independently develop
similar technologies or duplicate any technologyadeped by us in a manner that does not infringepatents or other intellectual property.
Because of the extensive time required for devetpntesting and regulatory review of a potentialdoict, it is possible that, before any of
product candidates or those developed by our parttam be commercialized, any related patent mpiyeerr remain in force for only a short
period following commercialization, thereby redugiany advantage of the patent.

As of January 31, 2013, we have been issued 21dat8nts that expire between 2015 and 2027 andetzé to our PNP, serine prote
and neuraminidase inhibitor compounds. We havagied six different classes of compounds representmw composition of matter patents
from AECOM and IRL for our PNP inhibitors, plus atishal manufacturing patents related to
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these PNP inhibitors. Additionally, we have appnoaiely 40 PCT or U.S. patent applications pendéatgted to PNP, neuraminidase, RNA or
DNA polymerase, Janus Kinase and serine proteadgitiors. Our pending applications may not resulissued patents, our patents may not
cover the products of interest or may not be emfalote in all, or any jurisdictions and our patengsy not provide us with sufficient protection
against competitive products or otherwise be coroialty viable. After expiration of composition ofatter patents for our drug products, we
may rely on data exclusivity or in some cases nektifaise patents. The enforceability of these pateawries from jurisdiction to jurisdiction
and may not be allowed or enforceable in sometdeies where we may seek approval. We may not trevéunds to continue patent
prosecution or to defend all of our existing pagentour current patent estate and may selectalesndon patents or patent families worldwide
or in certain territories.

Our success is also dependent upon the skills, lettme and experience of our scientific and techmeesonnel, none of which is
patentable. To help protect our rights, we reqgalremployees, consultants, advisors and partoegster into confidentiality agreements,
which prohibit the disclosure of confidential infleation to anyone outside of our Company and, whessible, require disclosure and
assignment to us of their ideas, developmentspdés@es and inventions. These agreements may owidgradequate protection for our trade
secrets, know-how or other proprietary informatiothe event of any unauthorized use or disclosutée lawful development by others of
such information.

Competition

The pharmaceutical and biotechnology industriesraemsely competitive. Many companies, includingtéchnology, chemical and
pharmaceutical companies, are actively engagedtivitees similar to ours, including research armyelopment of drugs for the treatment of
cancer, infectious, autoimmune, and inflammatospdiers. Many of these companies have substangiabter financial and other resources,
larger research and development staffs, and maemsixe marketing and manufacturing organizatibias twe do. In addition, some of them
have considerable experience in preclinical testiigical trials and other regulatory approval ggdures. There are also academic institutions
governmental agencies and other research orgamzdtiat are conducting research in areas in whéhre working. They may also market
commercial products, either on their own or throaghaborative efforts. We expect to encounter iiggnt competition for any of the
pharmaceutical products we plan to develop. Congsathiat complete clinical trials, obtain requiredulatory approvals and commence
commercial sales of their products before their getitors may achieve a significant competitive adage.

The pharmaceutical market for products that preeemteat influenza is very competitive. Key conit factors for i.v. peramivir
include, among others, efficacy, ease of use,\sgfeice and cost-effectiveness, storage and hagadéiquirements and reimbursement. A
number of neuraminidase inhibitors are currentlgilable in the U.S. and/or other counties, inclgdiapan, for the prevention or treatment of
influenza, including seasonal flu vaccines and &ffidann-La Roche Ltd.’s (“Roche”) TAMIFLU, GlaxoSthKline plc’s (“GSK”) RELENZA
and Daiichi Sankyo Co., Ltd.’s INAVIR , which is pqoved in Japan. Roche’s neuraminidase inhibitaise approved for prophylaxis of
influenza, and both Roche and GSK have i.v. fortmuts in clinical trial development. In January 20GSK announced initiation of a multi-
country Phase 3 study of intravenous zanamivir grae active ingredient as in RELENZA) in hospriadi patients with influenza. Various
government entities throughout the world are offgiincentives, grants and contracts to encouradiéi@uil investment into preventative and
therapeutic agents against influenza, which may e effect of further increasing the number af @mpetitors and/or providing advantages
to certain competitors.

In addition to these companies with neuraminidakébitors, there are other companies working toettgy additional antiviral drugs to
used against various strains of influenza. In &lditseveral pharmaceutical and biotechnology firimduding major pharmaceutical
companies, have announced efforts in the fieldrotture-based drug design and in the therapergseof cancer, infectious disease,
autoimmune, and inflammatory disorders, as wetithsr therapeutic areas where we are focusing rug discovery efforts.

Gout is a large, growing market with a trend ofr@asing prevalence that experts expect to caroytive foreseeable future. Over
17 million patients have been diagnosed with godhé major industrial markets. Doctors seek toagarboth acute gout attacks and the
underlying cause of the disease chronically. Uloges focused on the latter, with the objectivaohieving and sustaining a reduced serum
uric acid level at or below 6 mg/dL in patients wheave failed to reach target on their current thies

There remains a high unmet medical need in the gatignt population and several companies are wgrta address it. More than halt
the patients taking allopurinol, the most commaugscribed urate lowering drug, fail to reach tie@tment goal. Additionally, gout patients
had suffered from the lack of improvements in tresit for nearly 40 years until the FDA approved 8tk Pharmaceutical Company Limited’
ULORIC ®in 2009. During 2010, Savient Pharmaceusi¢at.’s KRYSTEXXA® was approved for a severe, gaipulation of gout patients.
2012, there were several programs in late-stag&alidevelopment, including ulodesine and Astraeta plc’s lesinurad, to further improve
the efficacy of urate lowering therapy in combipativith allopurinol or ULORIC.
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HAE is a rare, severely debilitating and potenyiédital genetic condition that occurs in about 1@000 to 1 in 50,000 people. Current
treatments include potentially toxic oral anabslieroids for prophylaxis or medicines that arewéd by injection or infusion to either
prevent or treat acute attacks, including CINRYZEhiah is an i.v. medication that has been approvwethé FDA to prevent swelling and
painful attacks in teenagers and adults. Dailyl, adaninistration of a safe and efficacious propbfitadrug would revolutionize treatment for
patients suffering from this serious condition. fiehare programs in various stages of developmegither prevent or treat acute attacks.

BCX4430 is the lead compound in our BSAV prograrne Bbjective of the BSAV program is to develop lkspectrum antiviral
therapeutics for viruses that pose a threat tatneald national security. The U.S. Governmentvgsting in a number of programs intended tc
address gaps in its medical countermeasure plan.

In order to compete successfully in other therdpereas, we must develop proprietary positionsatented drugs for therapeutic marl
that have not been satisfactorily addressed byertional research strategies and, in the procgpand our expertise in structure-based drug
design. Our products, even if successfully testetideveloped, may not be adopted by physiciansater products and may not offer
economically feasible alternatives to other thexapi

Research and Development

We initiated our research and development actw/itiel 986. We have assembled a scientific resesiachwith expertise in a broad base
of advanced research technologies including prdiiohemistry, X-ray crystallography, chemistry gtdirmacology. Our research facilities
include protein biochemistry and organic synth&gieratories, testing facilities, X-ray crystallaghy, computer and graphics equipment and
facilities to make product candidates on a smallestor early stage clinical trials. During the y@anded December 31, 2012, 2011, and 201
our research and development expenses were $5lidhn$57.2 million and $83.9 million, respectiyel

Compliance

We conduct our business in an ethical, fair, hoaadtlawful manner. We act responsibly, respegtfatid with integrity in our
relationships with patients, health care professimrcollaborators, governments, regulatory estittockholders, suppliers and vendors.

In order to ensure compliance with applicable lawd regulations, our Chief Financial Officer, Geh&ounsel and Vice President of
Human Resources oversee compliance training, édacaiditing and monitoring; enforce disciplingyidelines for any infractions of our
corporate polices; implement new policies and pdaces; respond to any detected issues; and undestakective action procedures. Our
controls address compliance with laws and reguiatibat govern public pharmaceutical companiesidio, but not limited to, the following:
federal and state law, such as the Sarbanes-Oxiegf2002 and the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practicesof 1977; NASDAQ listing
requirements; the regulations of the Financial tduRegulatory Authority; the Securities and Exadi@ Commission; the FDA; and the Uni
States Department of Health and Human Servicesst@udard operating procedures are designed taderevMramework for corporate
governance in accordance with ethical standarddastlegal practices.

Government Regulation

The FDA regulates the pharmaceutical and biotedgyoindustries in the U.S., and our product canéslare subject to extensive and
rigorous domestic government regulations priordmmercialization. The FDA regulates, among othergs, the development, testing,
manufacture, safety, efficacy, record-keeping, liagestorage, approval, advertising, promotiorie and distribution of pharmaceutical
products. In foreign countries, our products ase alubject to extensive regulation by foreign goments. These government regulations will
be a significant factor in the production and mérgof any pharmaceutical products that we develf@ilure to comply with applicable FDA
and other regulatory requirements at any stagexguhie regulatory process may subject us to sars;tincluding:

e delays;

e warning letters

+ fines;

e product recalls or seizure
e injunctions;
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* penalties
» refusal of the FDA to review pending market appt@pplications or supplements to approval applocei
» total or partial suspension of productis
e civil penalties;
» withdrawals of previously approved marketing apgiiens; anc
e criminal prosecutions
The regulatory review and approval process is ngixpensive and uncertain. Before obtaining r&tguy approvals for the commercial

sale of any products, we or our partners must deinate that our product candidates are safe aprdtiafé for use in humans. The approval
process takes many years, substantial expenseberiagurred and significant time may be devoteditacal development.

Before testing potential candidates in humans, aveyout laboratory and animal studies to deterrsifety and biological activity. After
completing preclinical trials, we must file an INDcluding a proposal to begin clinical trials, wthe FDA. Thirty days after filing an IND, a
Phase 1 human clinical trial can start, unles$-bA places a hold on the trial.

Clinical trials to support a NDA are typically cantted in three sequential phases, but the phasgsweaap.

Phase 1—During Phase 1, the initial introductiothefdrug into healthy volunteers, the drug iseg@$b assess metabolism,
pharmacokinetics and pharmacological actions afetysancluding side effects associated with insieg doses.

Phase 2—Phase 2 usually involves trials in a lidngtatient population to: (1) assess the efficacthefdrug in specific, targeted
indications; (2) assess dosage tolerance and dadimsage; and (3) identify possible adverse effantssafety risks.

Phase 3—If a compound is found to be potentiallgative and to have an acceptable safety profilehiase 2 evaluations, Phase 3
clinical trials, also called pivotal studies, magbudies or advanced clinical trials, are undenakefurther demonstrate clinical efficacy and to
further test for safety within an expanded patoyulation at geographically dispersed clinicalltsites. In general, the FDA requires that at
least two adequate and well-controlled Phase &alitrials be conducted.

Initiation and completion of the clinical trial pb@s are dependent on several factors includingdghimat are beyond our control. For
example, the clinical trials cannot begin at aipatar site until that site receives approval frissinstitutional Review Board (“IRB”), which
reviews the protocol and related documents. Trosgss can take from several weeks to several mdnthsdition, clinical trials are
dependent on patient enrollment, but the rate ahwhatients enroll in the study depends on:

» willingness of investigators to participate in ad;

» ability of clinical sites to obtain approval frofnetir IRB;

» the availability of the required number of eligilslebjects to be enrolled in a given tr
» the availability of existing or other experimendailigs for the disease we intend to tr
» the willingness of patients to participate; ¢

» the patients meeting the eligibility criter

Delays in planned patient enrollment may resulhoreased expense and longer development timelines.

After successful completion of the required clihiesting, generally an NDA is submitted. Upon iptef the NDA, the FDA will revie\
the application for completeness. Within 60 dalgs,EDA will determine if the application is suféeitly complete to warrant full review and
will consider the application “filed” at that timAlso upon receipt of the application, the FDA vaifisign a review priority to the application.
Priority review applications are usually revieweithin 8 months;
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standard review applications are usually reviewétim/12 months. The FDA will usually refer NDAsrfoew molecular entities (“NMEs”) to
an appropriate advisory committee for review anal@ation in regards to providing a recommendat®toavhether the application should be
approved. The FDA is not bound to follow the recasmaiation of an advisory committee.

Following the review of the application, which miaglude requests for additional information frone ponsor and results from
inspections of manufacturing and clinical siteg, BDA will issue an “action letter” on the applicet. The action letter will either be an
“approval letter” in which case the product mayld&fully marketed in the United States or a “con@leesponse letter.” A complete response
letter will state that the FDA cannot approve tHeANin its present form and, usually, will describléof the specific deficiencies that the FDA
has identified in the application. The completeoese letter, when possible, will include the FDA8sommended actions to place the
application in a condition for approval. Deficieesican be minor (e.g., labeling changes) or majgr,(requiring additional clinical trials). A
complete response letter may also be issued b#fereDA conducts the required facility inspectiomér reviews labeling, leaving the
possibility that additional deficiencies in theginal NDA could be subsequently cited. An applicateiving a complete response letter is
permitted to resubmit the NDA addressing the idiematideficiencies (in which case a new two or sonth review cycle will begin), or
withdraw the NDA. The FDA may consider a failureté@e action within one year of a complete respéeiser to be a request to withdraw,
unless the applicant has requested an extensiime@in which to resubmit. If the FDA approves abA the marketing of the product will be
limited to the particular disease states and cmnditof use that are described in the product label

We and all of our contract manufacturers are aspired to comply with the applicable FDA currer@cd Manufacturing Practice, or
cGMP, regulations during clinical development ame@mnsure that the product can be consistently naatwied to meet the specifications
submitted in an NDA. The cGMP regulations includguirements relating to product quality as welthescorresponding maintenance of
records and documentation. Manufacturing facilitresst be approved by the FDA before they can b tesenanufacture our products. Based
on an inspection, the FDA determines whether mantuifig facilities are in compliance with applicalsegulations. Manufacturing facilities
non-United States countries that are utilized towufiacture drugs for distribution into the Unite@d®ts are also subject to inspection by the
FDA. Additionally, failure to comply with local redatory requirements could affect production andilability of product in relevant markets.

Human Resources

As of January 31, 2013, we had approximately 40leyags, of whom 26 were engaged in the researcli@nelopment function of our
operations. Our research and development stafff irom hold Ph.D. or M.D. degrees, have diverdiigperience in biochemistry,
pharmacology, X-ray crystallography, synthetic aigachemistry, computational chemistry, medicinamistry, clinical development and
regulatory affairs.

Our employees are not represented by any collebtivgaining agreements, and we have never expedemwork stoppage. Employees
are required to execute confidentiality and assmgmnof intellectual property agreements. We conside relations with our employees to be
satisfactory.

Available Information

We have available a website on the Internet. Odres$ is www.biocryst.com. We make available, &feharge, at our website our
Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports omi-10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K, and amendsnterthose reports filed or
furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) offlkehange Act as soon as reasonably practicaldewaé electronically file such material
with, or furnish it to, the SEC. We also make aafalié at our website copies of our audit committesater, compensation committee charter,
corporate governance and nominating committee ehartd our code of business conduct, which apfied our employees as well as the
members of our Board of Directors. Any amendmenbtavaiver from, our code of business conduct b&llposted on our website.

Financial Information

For information related to our revenues, profiet, lnss and total assets, in addition to othemfiiel information, please refer to the
Financial Statements and Notes to Financial Stat&smntained in this Annual Report. Financial infation about revenues derived from
foreign countries is included in Note 1 to the Ficial Statements contained in this Annual Report.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

An investment in our stock involves risks. You khoarefully read this entire report and consideetfollowing uncertainties and risks,
which may adversely affect our business, finarsmaldition or results of operations, along with aflthe other information included in our
other filings with the Securities and Exchange Cdsnion, before deciding to buy our common stock.
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Risks Relating to Our Business
We have incurred losses since our inception, exgeatontinue to incur such losses, and may neverpbpefitable.

Since our inception, we have not achieved profitgbMWe expect to incur additional losses for theeseeable future, and our losses
could increase as our research and developmemtsefimgress. We expect that such losses will dlatet from quarter to quarter and losses an
fluctuations may be substantial.

To become profitable, we, or our collaborative pars, must successfully manufacture and develogustacandidates, receive regulatory
approval, and successfully commercialize and/ogreinto profitable agreements with other partiesolld be several years, if ever, before we
receive significant royalties from any current otufre license agreements or revenues directly fsmduct sales.

Because of the numerous risks and uncertaintiexiassd with developing our product candidatesthed potential for
commercialization, we are unable to predict themrixof any future losses. Even if we do achievditatality, we may not be able to sustain or
increase profitability on a quarterly or annualibal we are unable to achieve and sustain piafitg, the market value of our common stock
will likely decline.

Our success depends upon our ability to advance praducts through the various stages of developmespecially through the clinical
trial process.

To receive the regulatory approvals necessanhisale of our product candidates, we or our pegtmeist demonstrate through
preclinical studies and clinical trials that eacbduct candidate is safe and effective. The clirtital process is complex and uncertain.
Because of the cost and duration of clinical triale may decide to discontinue development of pcbdandidates that are unlikely to show
good results in the clinical trials, unlikely tolpedvance a product to the point of a meaningdllbboration, or unlikely to have a reasonable
commercial potential. We may suffer significantosetks in pivotal clinical trials, even after earlgdinical trials show promising results.
Clinical trials may not be adequately designedxaceted, which could affect the potential outcome analysis of study results. Any of our
product candidates may produce undesirable sigetsfin humans. These side effects could causenagialatory authorities to interrupt, de
or halt clinical trials of a product candidate. $aeside effects could also result in the FDA oeifgm regulatory authorities refusing to approve
the product candidate for any targeted indicatidvie, our partners, the FDA or foreign regulatorthatties may suspend or terminate clinical
trials at any time if we or they believe the tpalrticipants face unacceptable health risks. Glirtitals may fail to demonstrate that our produc
candidates are safe or effective and have acceptabhmercial viability.

Our ability to successfully complete clinical teas dependent upon many factors, including butinoted to:
» our ability to find suitable clinical sites and &stigators to enroll patient
» the availability of and willingness of patientsparticipate in our clinical trials
» difficulty in maintaining contact with patients pwovide complete data after treatme

e our product candidates may not prove to be eithfer ar effective (e.g. the planned Phase 1 clirtiial for BCX4161 may not be
successful)

» clinical protocols or study procedures may not thecuately designed or followed by the investigat
« manufacturing or quality control problems couldegffthe supply of drug product for our trials; ¢
« delays or changes in requirements by governmegtai@es
Clinical trials are lengthy and expensive. We or partners incur substantial expense for, and @esighificant time to, preclinical testi
and clinical trials, yet cannot be certain thattiésts and trials will ever result in the commdrsale of a product. For example, clinical trials
require adequate supplies of drug and sufficietiepaenroliment. Delays in patient enroliment casult in increased costs and longer

development times. Even if we or our partners ss&fodly complete clinical trials for our productnzhdates, we or our partners might not file
the required regulatory submissions in a timely nesrand may not receive regulatory approval fopttueluct candidate.
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Our clinical trials may not adequately show that odrugs are safe or effective.

Progression of our drug products through the dihitevelopment process is dependent upon our imidisating our drugs have adequate
safety and efficacy in the patients being treateddhieving pre-determined safety and efficacy eimp according to the trial protocols.
Failure to achieve either of these could resuttétays in our trials or require the performancadditional unplanned trials. This could result in
delays in the development of our product candidatescould result in significant unexpected costhe termination of programs.

If we fail to reach milestones or to make annual mmum payments or otherwise breach our obligatiomsder our license agreements,
our licensors may terminate our agreements with th@nd seek additional remedies.

If we are unable or fail to meet payment obligasigmerformance milestones relating to the timingeglulatory filings, or development
and commercial diligence obligations, are unablfaibto make milestone payments or material dat payments in accordance with
applicable provisions, or fail to pay the minimurmaal payments under our respective licenses;icemgors may terminate the applicable
license or seek other available remedies. As dtresur development of the respective product cdaigi or commercialization of the product
would cease.

If we fail to obtain additional financing or accepble partnership arrangements, we may be unabledmplete the development and
commercialization of our product candidates or camie operations.

As our programs advance, our costs are likely toeimse. Our current and planned clinical trials phe related development,
manufacturing, regulatory approval process requir@s) and additional personnel resources and gestquired for supporting the
development of our product candidates will conssigaificant capital resources. Our expenses, reeeand cash utilization rate could vary
significantly depending on many factors, includingr ability to raise additional capital; the dey@hent progress of our collaborative
agreements for our product candidates; the amduonding we receive from BARDA/HHS for peramivihie amount of funding or assistar
if any, we receive from any governmental agencyeftver peramivir or BCX4430 or from other new parships with third parties for the
development of our product candidates includinglefine, BCX4161 or BCX4430; the amount or profitabof any orders for peramivir or
BCX4430 by any government agency or other pary;pitogress and results of our current and propdsadal trials for our most advanced
drug products; the progress made in the manufacfuf our lead products and the progression obttugr programs. We expect that we will
be required to enter into one or more acceptabia@ahip arrangements in order to complete theldgwment of ulodesine for the treatment of
gout. The inability to enter into sufficient accaiplie partnership arrangements may require us &y deleliminate the development of
ulodesine.

We expect that we will be required to raise addgiccapital to complete the development and comialéation of our current product
candidates and we may seek to raise capital atirmey Additional funding, whether through additibsales of securities or collaborative or
other arrangements with corporate partners or fsthrer sources, including governmental agenciegiretal and from any BARDA/HHS
contract specifically, may not be available wheedesl or on terms acceptable to us. The issuanuefgfired or common stock or convertible
securities, with terms and prices significantly méavorable than those of the currently outstandmmgmon stock, could have the effect of
diluting or adversely affecting the holdings ortrig of our existing stockholders. In addition, abbrative arrangements may require us to
transfer certain material rights to such corpopateners. Insufficient funds or lack of an accefgadartnership may require us to delay, scale-
back or eliminate certain of our research and dgreknt programs.

In order to continue future operations and contiouedrug development programs, we will be requitethise additional capital. In
addition to seeking strategic partnerships, traimae and government funding, we may decide tosscti®e equity or debt markets or seek «
sources to meet liquidity needs. Our ability teeaadditional capital may be limited and may gyed#ipend upon the success of ongoing
development related to our current drug developmesdrams, including the Phase 1 clinical studp@6X4161, progress of our second
generation HAE compounds, and continued succedsfidlopment of BCX4430. In addition, the constaotand volatility in the equity and
debt markets may restrict our future flexibilityraise capital when such needs arise. Furthermardave exposure to many different
industries, financing partners and counterpartresyding commercial banks, investment banks anthpes (which include investors, licensing
partners, and the U.S. Government) which may b&abfesor may become unstable in the current ecanamd political environment. Any
such instability may impact these parties’ abitayfulfill contractual obligations to us or they ghit limit or place burdensome conditions upon
future transactions with us. Also, it is possiltlattsupplier may be negatively impacted. Any suataworable outcomes in our current
programs or unfavorable economic conditions colddgsevere downward pressure on the stock and oratkets, which could reduce the
return available on invested corporate cash, wifisavere and sustained could have a material dwerae impact on our results of operations
and cash flows and limit our ability to continuevdlpment of our product candidates.
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If BARDA/HHS were to eliminate, reduce or delay fding from our contract, or dispute some of our inaed costs or other actions
taken under the contract, this would have a sigo#int negative impact on our revenues, cash flowsldhe development of peramivir.

Our projections of revenues and incoming cash flamessubstantially dependent upon BARDA/HHS reirsbaorent for the costs related
to our peramivir program. If BARDA/HHS were to elimate (a possibility after our collaborative FDAJBBARDA/HHS meetings in the first
half of 2013), reduce or delay the funding for thiegram or disallow some of our incurred costsweeld have to obtain additional funding
for development of this product candidate or sigaiiitly reduce or stop the development effort. Iremt BARDA/HHS may challenge actions
that we have taken or may take under our contwadth could negatively impact our operating resahs cash flows.

In contracting with BARDA/HHS, we are subject taieas U.S. Government contract requirements, inolydeneral clauses for a cost-
reimbursement research and development contraathwmay limit our reimbursement or if we are founde in violation could result in
contract termination. U.S. Government contractéchify contain extraordinary provisions which wouldt typically be found in commercial
contracts. For instance, government contracts pemilateral modification by the government, intexation of relevant regulations (i.e.,
federal acquisition regulation clauses), and thktako terminate without cause. In addition, U&overnment contracts are subject to an in-
process review, where the U.S. Government willeevihe project and will consider its options untther contract. As such, we may be at a
disadvantage as compared to other commercial atsifd.S. Government contracts are subject to amditmodification by the government at
its sole discretion. If the U.S. Government ternesdts contract with us for its convenience, avéf default by failing to perform in accordar
with the contract schedule and terms, significagative impact on our cash flows and operationsdo@sult.

Our contract with BARDA/HHS has special contractingquirements, which create additional risks of naction or loss of funding.

We have entered into a contract with BARDA/HHS tfoe advanced development of our neuraminidaseitohjiperamivir. In
contracting with BARDA/HHS, we are subject to varsdJ.S. Government contract requirements, includigeral clauses for a cost-
reimbursement research and development contra8t.&bvernment contracts typically contain unfavgabrmination provisions and are
subject to audit and modification by the governmadrits sole discretion, which subjects us to adidl risks. These risks include the ability of
the U.S. Government to unilaterally:

» terminate or reduce the scope of our contract;
» audit and object to our contr-related costs and fees, including allocated intlicests.

The U.S. Government may terminate its contractk wét either for its convenience or if we defaultféijing to perform in accordance
with the contract schedule and terms. Terminatiwrcénvenience provisions generally enable usdover only our costs incurred or
committed, and settlement expenses and profit @envtirk completed prior to termination. Terminatfondefault provisions do not permit
these recoveries. In the event of termination e Government may dispute wind down and termamatiosts and may question prior
expenses under the contract and deny payment &¢ #xpenses. Should we choose to challenge theGdv@&rnment for denying certain
payments under the contract, such a challenge soligict us to substantial additional expensesthwivie may or may not recover.

As a U.S. Government contractor, we are requirembtoply with applicable laws, regulations and stadd relating to our accounting
practices and are subject to periodic audits aneéwes. As part of any such audit or review, the .\GSBvernment may review the adequacy of,
and our compliance with, our internal control sysdeand policies, including those relating to ourcpasing, property, estimating,
compensation and management information systenseden the results of its audits, the U.S. Govemimmay adjust our contract-related
costs and fees, including allocated indirect coeitgs adjustment could impact the amount of revemaported on a historic basis and could
impact our cash flows under the contract prospeltiin addition, in the event BARDA/HHS determirtbat certain costs and fees were
unallowable or determines that the allocated imdlicest rate was higher than the actual indirest cate, BARDA/HHS would be entitled to
recoup any overpayment as a result. In additioan idudit or review uncovers any improper or illegivity, we may be subject to civil and
criminal penalties and administrative sanctionsluding termination of our contracts, forfeiturepbfits, suspension of payments, fines and
suspension or prohibition from doing business whth U.S. Government. We could also suffer seri@rahto our reputation if allegations of
impropriety were made against us. In addition, uhdl&. Government purchasing regulations, someaipotosts may not be reimbursable or
allowed under our contracts. Further, as a U.S .e@ovent contractor, we are subject to an incredskaf investigations, criminal
prosecution, civil fraud, whistleblower lawsuitsdasther legal actions and liabilities as comparegrivate sector commercial companies.
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If we fail to successfully commercialize or estadfiicollaborative relationships to commercialize tan of our product candidates or if
any partner terminates or fails to perform its oghtions under agreements with us, potential revesd®m commercialization of our
product candidates could be reduced, delayed anglated.

Our business strategy is to increase the asset wfilour product candidate portfolio. We believis ik best achieved by retaining full
product rights or through collaborative arrangersavith third parties as appropriate. As neededsmg@l third-party alliances could include
preclinical development, clinical development, degury approval, marketing, sales and distributibour product candidates.

Currently, we have established collaborative refeghips with Mundipharma for the development androercialization of forodesine
and with each of Shionogi and Green Cross for thelbpment and commercialization of peramivir. Phecess of establishing and
implementing collaborative relationships is difficaime-consuming and involves significant unceryg, including:

* our partners may seek to renegotiate or termitmetie telationships with us due to unsatisfactonyical results, a change in
business strategy, a change of control or othesores

* our contracts for collaborative arrangements majrex

* our partners may choose to pursue alternative téabies, including those of our competitc

* we may have disputes with a partner that could teditigation or arbitration

* we do not have day to day control over the ac#sitf our partners and have limited control oveirttecisions

» our ability to generate future event payments aydlties from our partners depends upon theirtaslto establish the safety and
efficacy of our product candidates, obtain regulatipprovals and achieve market acceptance of ptedieveloped from our
product candidate:

* we or our partners may fail to properly initiategintain or defend our intellectual property rightdere applicable, or a party may
utilize our proprietary information in such a wag/ta invite litigation that could jeopardize or potially invalidate our proprietary
information or expose us to potential liabili

» our partners may not devote sufficient capitalesources towards our product candidates;
* our partners may not comply with applicable govesnhregulatory requiremen

If we or our partners fail to fulfill our respondibes in a timely manner, or at all, our commeaitciation efforts related to that
collaboration could be reduced, delayed or terrehabr it may be necessary for us to assume reigildggor activities that would otherwise
have been the responsibility of our partner. Ifake unable to establish and maintain collaboratiegionships on acceptable terms, we may
have to delay or discontinue further developmerdref or more of our product candidates, undertakengercialization activities at our own
expense or find alternative sources of funding. Aalay in the development or commercialization af product candidates would severely
affect our business, because if our product cateddo not progress through the development praressch the market in a timely manner,
or at all, we may not receive additional futurergygayments and may never receive milestone, ptaglies or royalty payments.

We have not commercialized any products or techigids and our future revenue generation is uncertain

We have not commercialized any products or tectgiesy and we may never be able to do so. We clyreate no marketing capability
and no direct or third-party sales or distributaapabilities and may be unable to establish thapalilities for products we plan to
commercialize. In addition, our revenue from collediive agreements is dependent upon the statmsrgdfreclinical and clinical programs. If
we fail to advance these programs to the poinedidyable to enter into successful collaboratiareswill not receive any future event or other
collaborative payments.

Our ability to receive revenue from products we owarcialize presents several risks, including:
« we or our collaborators may fail to successfullyngdete clinical trials sufficient to obtain FDA nkating approval
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* many competitors are more experienced, have sigmifiy more resources and, their products couldhréize market before ours,
more cost effective or have a better efficacy terability profile than our product candidat:

* we may fail to employ a comprehensive and effedtivellectual property strategy, which could resaltlecreased commercial
value of our Company and our produc

* we may fail to employ a comprehensive and effeatdgulatory strategy, which could result in a dedayailure in
commercialization of our produci

» our ability to successfully commercialize our protiuis affected by the competitive landscape, whatmot be fully known at this
time;

» reimbursement is constantly changing, which coushtly affect usage of our products; ¢

» any future revenue from product sales would demendur ability to successfully complete clinicaldies, obtain regulatory
approvals, manufacture, market and commercialigeapproved drugs

If our development collaborations with third partse such as our development partners and contrasie@rch organizations, fail, the
development of our product candidates will be deddyor stopped.

We rely heavily upon other parties for many impottstages of our product candidate developmenydirg but not limited to:

» discovery of compounds that cause or enable bicdbgeactions necessary for the progression oflitease or disorder, called
enzyme target:

» licensing or design of enzyme inhibitors for deyet®nt as product candidat

» execution of some preclinical studies and-stage development for our compounds and produclidates;

e management of our clinical trials, including mediicnitoring and data manageme

» execution of additional toxicology studies that nieyrequired to obtain approval for our productdidates; ant

* manufacturing the starting materials and drug sufest required to formulate our drug products aetioduct candidates to be
used in both our clinical trials and toxicologydies.

Our failure to engage in successful collaboratiainany one of these stages would greatly impacbasiness. If we do not license
enzyme targets or inhibitors from academic insting or from other biotechnology companies on atat#p terms, our drug development
efforts would suffer. Similarly, if the contractsearch organizations that conduct our initial te-stage clinical trials, conduct our toxicology
studies, manufacture our starting materials, dulgnce and drug products or manage our regulatnggion breached their obligations to us
or perform their services inconsistent with indysttandards and not in accordance with the requéegdlations, this would delay or prevent
development of our product candidates.

If we lose our relationship with any one or mordtafse parties, we could experience a significataydin both identifying another
comparable provider and then contracting for itgises. We may be unable to retain an alternatregiger on reasonable terms, if at all. Even
if we locate an alternative provider, it is likahat this provider may need additional time to oegpto our needs and may not provide the sarr
type or level of service as the original providaraddition, any provider that we retain will bebgact to applicable FDA current Good
Laboratory Practices (“cGLP"), current Good Mantifaing Practices (“cGMP”) and current Good Clini€ahctices (“cGCP”), and
comparable foreign standards. We do not have domiey compliance with these regulations by theswigers. Consequently, if these
practices and standards are not adhered to by phegilers, the development and commercializatioouo product candidates could be
delayed, and our business, financial conditionrasdlts of operations could be materially adverséfigcted.
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Our development of peramivir for influenza is sulgjeto all disclosed drug development and potentiammercialization risks and
numerous additional risks. Any potential revenuertgdits to us are highly speculative.

Further development and potential commercializatibperamivir is subject to all the risks and utarities disclosed in our other risk
factors relating to drug development and commaeeeitibn. In addition, potential commercializatiohp@ramivir is subject to further risks,
including but not limited to the following:

* i.v. peramivir may not prove to be safe and sudfitly effective for market approval in the Unite@t®s or other major markets. On
November 7, 2012, we announced completion of taar@d interim analysis of the peramivir Phaseridi trial. The differenc
between the peramivir and control groups on theary endpoint was small and the recalculated sasipéewas greater than the
predefined futility boundary of 320 subjects. We@ended enrollment and subsequently terminate8Ghelinical trial;

* necessary government or other third party fundimgj @inical testing for further development of parair may not be available
timely, at all, or in sufficient amount

« flu prevention or pandemic treatment concerns nwymaterialize at all, or in the near futu

« advances in flu vaccines or other antivirals, idalg competitive i.v. antivirals, could substartiakplace potential demand for
peramivir;

e any substantial demand for pandemic or seasonakfiiments may occur before peramivir can be aatetjudeveloped and tested
in clinical trials;

e peramivir may not prove to be accepted by patiantsphysicians as a treatment for seasonal infaueampared to the other
currently marketed antiviral drugs, which would iimevenue from nc-governmental entities

* numerous large and well-established pharmacewtitdbiotech companies will be competing to meettheket demand for flu
drugs and vaccine

« the only major markets in which patents relatingéoamivir have issued or been allowed are theddrfittates, Canada, Japan,
Australia and many contracting and extension st@ftéise European Union, while no patent applicationissued patents for
peramivir exist in other potentially significant rkats;

» regulatory authorities may not make needed accoratiwts to accelerate the drug testing and appmmeaiess for peramivir; ar

e in the next few years, it is expected that a lichilwmber of governmental entities will be the priynpotential customers for
peramivir and if we are not successful at markegiagamivir to these entities for any reason, wé nat receive substantial
revenues from stockpiling orders from these esti

If any or all of these and other risk factors o¢ewe will not attain significant revenues or grosargins from peramivir and our stock
price will be adversely affected.

There are risks related to the potential emergemnsg or sale of peramivir.

To the extent that peramivir is used as a treatrfoennfluenza, there can be no assurance thailiprove to be generally safe, well-
tolerated and effective. Emergency use of peramisy create certain liabilities for us. There isassurance that we or our manufacturers wil
be able to fully meet the demand for peramivirtia €vent of additional orders. Further, we mayaobieve a favorable price for additional
orders of peramivir in the U.S. or in any othermioy. Our competitors may develop products thaidcompete with or replace peramivir. We
may face competition in markets where we have nstiag intellectual property protection or are uleao successfully enforce our intellectual
property rights.

There is no assurance that the non-U.S. partnersingp we have entered into for peramivir will leguany order for peramivir in those
countries. There is no assurance that peramivitgibpproved for emergency use or will achieveketaapproval in additional countries. In
the event that any emergency use is granted, ih@@assurance that any order by any non-U.Sh@aship will be substantial or will be
profitable to us. The sale of peramivir, emergensy or other use of peramivir in any country magate certain liabilities for us.
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Because we have limited manufacturing experience, depend on third-party manufacturers to manufactuour product candidates and
the materials for our product candidates. If we caot rely on thirdparty manufacturers, we will be required to incuiggificant costs anc
potential delays in finding new third-party manufaarers.

We have limited manufacturing experience and orgynall scale manufacturing facility. We currengyyrupon thirdparty manufacture
to manufacture the materials required for our pobdandidates and most of the preclinical and @dihgjuantities of our product candidates.
depend on these third-party manufacturers to pmrfoeir obligations in a timely manner and in adeaworce with applicable governmental
regulations. Our third-party manufacturers may emder difficulties with meeting our requirements;luding but not limited to problems
involving:

e inconsistent production yield

e product liability claims

» difficulties in scaling production to commercialdavalidation sizes

» interruption of the delivery of materials requified the manufacturing proces

» scheduling of plant time with other vendors or ymepted equipment failur

» potential catastrophes, such as an earthquak@amJthat could strike their facilities or haveedfect on infrastructure

» potential impurities in our drug substance or dougducts that could affect availability of proddmt our clinical trials or future
commercialization

* poor quality control and assurance or inadequategss controls; ar
» lack of compliance with regulations and specificasi set forth by the FDA or other foreign regulgtagencies

These contract manufacturers may not be able tafaature the materials required or our product @hatds at a cost or in quantities
necessary to make them commercially viable. We lads@ no control over whether third-party manufeatsibreach their agreements with us
or whether they may terminate or decline to rengre@ments with us. To date, our third-party martufacs have met our manufacturing
requirements, but they may not continue to do sethérmore, changes in the manufacturing procepsomedure, including a change in the
location where the drug is manufactured or a charfigethirdparty manufacturer, may require prior review anprapal in accordance with tl
FDA’s cGMP and comparable foreign requirementssTaview may be costly and time-consuming and cdaldy or prevent the launch of a
product. The FDA or similar foreign regulatory ages at any time may also implement new standardshange their interpretation and
enforcement of existing standards for manufactpaekaging or testing of products. If we or our cact manufacturers are unable to comply,
we or they may be subject to regulatory actioni) eistions or penalties.

If we are unable to enter into agreements withtaaftil manufacturers on commercially reasonabl@seor if there is poor
manufacturing performance on the part of any oftbird-party manufacturers, we may not be ablecimglete development of, or market, our
product candidates.

Our raw materials, drug substances, and drug pts@we manufactured by a limited group of supplerd some at a single facility. If
any of these suppliers were unable to produce fite®es, this could significantly impact our supplyproduct candidate material for further
preclinical testing and clinical trials.

Royalties and milestone payments from Shionogi unttee Shionogi Agreement will be required to be dday Royalty Sub to service its
obligations under its PhaRMA Notes, and generallylivot be available to us for other purposes unRloyalty Sub has repaid in full its
obligations under the PhaRMA Notes.

In March 2011, our wholly-owned subsidiary Roy&hyb issued $30.0 million in aggregate principal antof PhaRMA Notes. The
PhaRMA Notes are secured principally by (i) certaiyalty and milestone payments under the ShioAggéement, pursuant to which
Shionogi licensed from us the rights to market peva in Japan and, if approved for commercial sal@wan, (ii) rights to certain payments
under a Japanese yen/U.S. dollar foreign curreadgd arrangement
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put into place by us in connection with the issgaoitthe PhaRMA Notes and (iii) the pledge by uswfequity interest in Royalty Sub.
Payments from Shionogi to us under the ShionogeAgrent will generally not be available to us fdrestpurposes until Royalty Sub has
repaid in full its obligations under the PhaRMA B®tAccordingly, these funds will be required todeelicated to Royalty Sub’s debt service
and not available to us for product developmentdtber purposes.

If royalties from Shionogi are insufficient for Roglty Sub to make payments under the PhaRMA Notedf @n event of default occurs
under the PhaRMA Notes, the holders of the PhaRMAtds may be able to foreclose on the collateralusir the PhaRMA Notes and
our equity interest in Royalty Sub, in which casewnay not realize the benefit of future royalty pagnts that might otherwise accrue to
us following repayment of the PhaRMA Notes.

Royalty Sub’s ability to service its payment obtigas in respect of the PhaRMA Notes, and our ighiti benefit from our equity interest
in Royalty Sub, is subject to numerous risks. Péraiwas first approved for marketing and manufaictg in Japan in October 2009 and has
been offered for sale in Japan only since Januat@2As a result, there is very little sales higtior peramivir in Japan, and there can be no
assurance that peramivir will gain market accemandhe Japanese market. In addition, Shioisagales of peramivir are expected to be hi
seasonal and vary significantly from year to yaad the market for products to treat or preventu@rfza is highly competitive. Under our
license agreement with Shionogi, Shionogi has cbotrer the commercial process for peramivir inalapnd Taiwan. Royalty Sub’s ability to
service the PhaRMA Notes may be adversely affdogedmong other things, changes in or any ternonatf our relationship with Shionogi,
reimbursement, regulatory, manufacturing and/ali@ttual property issues, product returns, prodecalls, product liability claims and
allegations of safety issues, as well as otheofactn the event that for any reason Royalty Sulmiable to service its obligations under the
PhaRMA Notes or an event of default were to ocawten the PhaRMA Notes, the holders of the PhaRM#feBlmay be able to foreclose on
the collateral securing the PhaRMA Notes and ouitgdnterest in Royalty Sub and exercise otheredims available to them under the
indenture in respect of the PhaRMA Notes. In su@nt we may not realize the benefit of future tgypayments that might otherwise accrue
to us following repayment of the PhaRMA Notes aremight otherwise be adversely affected.

Shionogi’s failure to successfully market and commalize peramivir in Japan would have a materiatigerse effect on Royalty Sub’s
ability to service its obligations on the PhaRMA Ns.

The successful commercialization of peramivir ipaladepends on the efforts of Shionogi and is be:yloa control of us or Royalty Sub.
As discussed above, peramivir has only recently lideoduced into the Japanese market, and therbeao assurance that peramivir will ¢
market acceptance in Japan. Future sales by Shiaflbdepend on many factors, including the ingide and severity of seasonal influenza in
Japan each year (both of which can vary very diganitly from year to year), the perceived and daéfecacy and safety of peramivir,
experience of physicians and patients with perainteintinued market acceptance, continued avaitaloif supply, competition, sales and
marketing efforts, governmental regulation andipgand reimbursement in Japan. Shionogi is resplenfor the marketing and sale of
peramivir in Japan, including with respect to thieipg of peramivir in that market. There are naoiimum royalties, sales levels or other
performance measures required of Shionogi undeshi@nogi Agreement and Shionogi could in its sbéeretion reduce or cease its sale
efforts of peramivir in Japan, subject to its cametnin the Shionogi Agreement to use diligent effdo commercialize peramivir in Japan. The
royalty payments associated with the 2011/20121érfza season were insufficient to satisfy the $eifpée 1, 2012 Payment Date on the
PhaRMA Notes such that approximately $572,000 w&frést is currently in arrears. Royalty paymersifiShionogi for the 2012/2013
influenza season may not be sufficient to satiséyihterest in arrears. If Shionogi is unable tdads to, successfully market and
commercialize peramivir, it would have a materidderse effect on Royalty Sub’s ability to servitsedbligations under the PhaRMA Notes
and our ability to benefit from our equity inter@siRoyalty Sub.

We may be required to pay significant premiums undlee foreign Currency Hedge Agreement entered ifttp us in connection with the
issuance of the PhaRMA Notes. In addition, because potential obligations under the foreign curregchedge are marked to market,
may experience additional quarterly volatility inuo operating results and cash flows attributable tioe foreign Currency Hedge
Agreement.

In connection with the issuance by Royalty SubhefPhaRMA Notes, we entered into a foreign Currétegige Agreement to hedge
certain risks associated with changes in the valube Japanese yen relative to the U.S. dolladddithe Currency Hedge Agreement, we may
be required to pay a premium in the amount of $2l0on in each year beginning in May 2014 and,yided the Currency Hedge Agreement
remains in effect, continuing through May 2020. Ispayment will be required if, in May of the relexgear, the spot rate of exchange for
Japanese yen-U.S. dollars (determined in accordaiticehe Currency Hedge Agreement) is such thettts. dollar is worth 100 yen or less.
We will be required to mark to market our potengbligations under the currency hedge and post calsdteral, which may cause us to
experience additional quarterly volatility in oyserating results and cash flows as a result. Aalttitly, we may be required to pay significant
premiums or a termination fee under the foreigmengy hedge agreement entered into by us in coieneetth the issuance of the PhaRMA
Notes. As of December 31, 2012, we have realizedeagn currency hedge loss of approximately $7d9,8nd posted aggregate cash colla
of approximately $5.2 million.
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If we or our partners do not obtain and maintain gernmental approvals for our products under devetognt, we or our partners will nc
be able to sell these potential products, which Vebsignificantly harm our business because we wékteive no revenue.

We or our partners must obtain regulatory apprbeébre marketing or selling our future drug produtt we or our partners are unabli
receive regulatory approval and do not market bose future drug products, we will never receasgy revenue from such product sales. Ir
United States, we or our partners must obtain Fppgr@aval for each drug that we intend to commere@liThe process of preparing for and
obtaining FDA approval may be lengthy and expensanel approval is never certain. Products disteith@broad are also subject to foreign
government regulation and export laws of the U.&thér the FDA nor foreign regulatory agencies haperoved any of our product
candidates. Because of the risks and uncertaintigi®@pharmaceutical development, our product adettdis could take a significantly longer
time to gain regulatory approval than we expeanay never gain approval. If the FDA delays regulatpproval of our product candidates,
our management’s credibility, our company’s valod aur operating results may suffer. Even if theAR) foreign regulatory agencies
approve a product candidate, the approval may tmeitindicated uses for a product candidate amd&y require post-marketing studies.

The FDA regulates, among other things, the receaplng and storage of data pertaining to poteptiatmaceutical products. We
currently store most of our preclinical researctadaur clinical data and our manufacturing datauatfacility. While we do store duplicate
copies of most of our clinical data offsite andgn#icant portion of our data is included in regubackups of our systems, we could lose
important data if our facility incurs damage, ooifr vendor data systems fail, suffer damage odestroyed. If we receive approval to market
our potential products, whether in the United Stateinternationally, we will continue to be sultjexextensive regulatory requirements. T
requirements are wide ranging and govern, amonrgy otiings:

» adverse drug experience reporting regulati

e product promotion

» product manufacturing, including good manufactugingctice requirements; al
» product changes or modificatior

Our failure to comply with existing or future regtdry requirements, or our loss of, or changepr@viously obtained approvals, could
have a material adverse effect on our businesaibecae will not receive product or royalty reveniiege or our partners do not receive
approval of our products for marketing.

We face intense competition, and if we are unaldecompete effectively, the demand for our produdétsiny, may be reduced.

The biotechnology and pharmaceutical industriehagkly competitive and subject to rapid and sulisghtechnological change. There
are many companies seeking to develop producthéosame indications that we are working on. Oungetitors in the United States and
elsewhere are numerous and include, among othejer multinational pharmaceutical and chemical canips and specialized biotechnology
firms. Most of these competitors have greater remsuthan we do, including greater financial resesiy larger research and development staf
and more experienced marketing and manufacturiggnizations. In addition, most of our competitaasédrgreater experience than we do in
conducting clinical trials and obtaining FDA anthet regulatory approvals. Accordingly, our commetitmay succeed in obtaining FDA or
other regulatory approvals of product candidatesenmapidly than we do. Companies that completaddirtrials, obtain required regulatory
approvals, and commence commercial sale of thegsibefore we do may achieve a significant cormipetiddvantage, including patent and
FDA exclusivity rights that would delay our ability market products. We face, and will continuéaite, competition in the licensing of
desirable disease targets, licensing of desiraioléyet candidates, and development and marketiogioproduct candidates from academic
institutions, government agencies, research intita and biotechnology and pharmaceutical comgaempetition may also arise from,
among other things:

» other drug development technologi
* methods of preventing or reducing the incidencdisdéase, including vaccines; a
» new small molecule or other classes of therapagtants
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Developments by others may render our product dane or technologies obsolete or noncompetitive.

We and our partners are performing research omweldping products for the treatment of severadrdisrs including influenza, gout,
hereditary angiodema, and recurrent/refractorypberial t-cell lymphoma, as well as broad spectrativisals which may be developed as
medical countermeasures. We expect to encounteifisant competition for any of the pharmaceutipedducts we plan to develop. Compa
that complete clinical trials, obtain required furglor government support, obtain required regmesapprovals and commence commercial
sales or stockpiling orders of their products befiieir competitors may achieve a significant cditipe advantage. Such is the case with E
Co. Ltd.’s TARGRETIN® for CTCL and the current neaniaidase inhibitors marketed by GSK and Rocherifiuenza and CINRYZE for
hereditary angioedema marketed by ViroPharma Iraratpd. With respect to the neuraminidase inhibjttirese companies may develop i.v.
formulations that could compete with peramivir. ther, several pharmaceutical and biotechnologysfjrimcluding major pharmaceutical
companies and specialized structure-based drugrdesimpanies, have announced efforts in the fieklracture-based drug design and in the
fields of PNP, influenza, hereditary angioedemad, iarother therapeutic areas where we have disg@féorts ongoing. If one or more of our
competitors’ products or programs are successfalptarket for our products may be reduced or ehieith

Compared to us, many of our competitors and pabkotimpetitors have substantially greater:
e capital resource:
» research and development resources, including peesand technology
* regulatory experienct
» preclinical study and clinical testing experien
* manufacturing and marketing experience;
» production facilities

Any of these competitive factors could impede aurding efforts, render technology and product cdaigis non-competitive or eliminate
or reduce demand for our product candidates.

If we fail to adequately protect or enforce our gltectual property rights or secure rights to patsrof others, the value of those rights
would diminish.

Our success will depend in part on our ability #melabilities of our partners to obtain, proteal @nforce viable intellectual property
rights including but not limited to trade name digenark and patent protection for our Company angribducts, methods, processes and othe
technologies we may license or develop, to presewwdrade secrets, and to operate without infrigdghe proprietary rights of third parties
both domestically and abroad. The patent positidriaiechnology and pharmaceutical companies iggdly highly uncertain, involves
complex legal and factual questions and has recbetin the subject of much litigation. Neither thated States Patent and Trademark Office
(“USPTQ"), the Patent Cooperation Treaty offices, the courts of the U.S. and other jurisdictioasédnconsistent policies nor predictable
rulings regarding the breadth of claims allowedhar degree of protection afforded under many blatetogy and pharmaceutical patents.
Further, we do not have worldwide patent protect@rour product candidates and our intellectuabgrty rights may not be legally protected
or enforceable in all countries throughout the wolh some jurisdictions, some of our product cdatés have short or no composition of
matter patent life and we may therefore rely om@adclusivity, formulation patents or method of ps¢ents Enforcement of formulations and
method of use patents can be highly uncertain angfrvom jurisdiction to jurisdiction and may natexqjuately prevent competitors and
potential infringers in some jurisdictions. Theiddy, scope, enforceability and commercial valii¢hese rights, therefore, is highly uncertain.

We also rely on trade secrets to protect technoilogpses when we believe patent protection ipptopriate or obtainable. However,
trade secrets are difficult to protect. If we canmaintain the confidentiality of our technologydasther confidential information in connection
with our collaborators and advisors, our abilityégeive patent protection or protect our proprebtaformation may be imperiled.

Our success depends in part on avoiding the irdriment of other parties’ patents and other intall@gbroperty rights as well as avoiding
the breach of any licenses relating to our techgie®and products. In the U.S., patent applicatiibed in recent years are confidential for
18 months, while older applications are not pulghntil the patent issues. As a result,
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avoiding patent infringement may be difficult and may inadvertently infringe third-party patentpooprietary rights. These third parties
could bring claims against us, our partners orlisensors that even if resolved in our favor, cotddise us to incur substantial expenses and,
resolved against us, could additionally cause ymatosubstantial damages. Further, if a paterningdiment suit were brought against us, our
partners or our licensors, we or they could beddrp stop or delay research, development, manufagtor sales of any infringing product in
the country or countries covered by the patentnfrénige, unless we can obtain a license from themdaholder. Such a license may not be
available on acceptable terms, or at all, partitpl&the third party is developing or marketingpeoduct competitive with the infringing
product. Even if we, our partners or our licenseese able to obtain a license, the rights may berdusive, which would give our
competitors access to the same intellectual prppert

If we or our partners are unable or fail to adegllyanitiate, protect, defend or enforce our irgetbial property rights in any area of
commercial interest or in any part of the world wehere wish to seek regulatory approval for our piaig, methods, processes and other
technologies, the value of the product candidatgsdduce revenue would diminish. Additionallypifr products, methods, processes, and
other technologies or our commercial use of suodyts, processes, and other technologies, ingualim not limited to any trade name,
trademark or commercial strategy infringe the pietpry rights of other parties, we could incur gahsal costs. The USPTO and the patent
offices of other jurisdictions have issued to usienber of patents for our various inventions anchaee in-licensed several patents from
various institutions. We have filed additional pdtepplications and provisional patent applicatimith the USPTO. We have filed a numbe
corresponding foreign patent applications and ihterfile additional foreign and U.S. patent apglions, as appropriate. We have also filed
certain trademark and trade name applications wadkel We cannot assure you as to:

» the degree and range of protection any patentsaffiltd against competitors with similar produc
« if and when patents will issu

» if patents do issue we cannot be sure that websilble to adequately defend such patents and erhatimot we will be able to
adequately enforce such patents

» whether or not others will obtain patents claimaggpects similar to those covered by our patenicgifns.

If the USPTO or other foreign patent office uphgbd¢ents issued to others or if the USPTO grartenpapplications filed by others, we
may have to:

» obtain licenses or redesign our products or presegsavoid infringemen
» stop using the subject matter claimed in thosempsiter
e pay damage:

We may initiate, or others may bring against ugdtion or administrative proceedings relatednteliectual property rights, including
proceedings before the USPTO or other foreign patiice. Any judgment adverse to us in any litigator other proceeding arising in
connection with a patent or patent application douhterially and adversely affect our businessfaial condition and results of operations
addition, the costs of any such proceeding mayubstantial whether or not we are successful.

Our success is also dependent upon the skills, lettme and experience, none of which is patentalbleyr scientific and technical
personnel. To help protect our rights, we requlireraployees, consultants, advisors and partneester into confidentiality agreements that
prohibit the disclosure of confidential informatitmanyone outside of our company and require assck and assignment to us of their ideas,
developments, discoveries and inventions. Thesseaggnts may not provide adequate protection fotrade secrets, know-how or other
proprietary information in the event of any unauthed use or disclosure or the lawful developmentthers of such information, and if any
our proprietary information is disclosed, our besis will suffer because our revenues depend upoability to license or commercialize our
product candidates and any such events would g&gnify impair the value of such product candidates

There is a substantial risk of product liability &ims in our business. If we are unable to obtainfcient insurance, a product liability
claim against us could adversely affect our busiees

We face an inherent risk of product liability exposrelated to the testing of our product candglatdhuman clinical trials and will face
even greater risks upon any commercialization bgfumir product candidates. We have product ligbili
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insurance covering our clinical trials. Clinicaiatrand product liability insurance is becomingriggsingly expensive. As a result, we may be
unable to obtain sufficient insurance or increaseaxisting coverage at a reasonable cost to grateagainst losses that could have a materie
adverse effect on our business. An individual miygba product liability claim against us if oneair products or product candidates causes.
or is claimed to have caused, an injury or is fotmbe unsuitable for consumer use. Any produbilltg claim brought against us, with or
without merit, could result in:

« liabilities that substantially exceed our produability insurance, which we would then be requiteghay from other sources, if
available;

e anincrease of our product liability insurance saiethe inability to maintain insurance coveragthie future on acceptable terms,
or at all;

« withdrawal of clinical trial volunteers or patien

« damage to our reputation and the reputation opoatlucts, resulting in lower sale
» regulatory investigations that could require cosfigalls or product modification

» litigation costs; ani

» the diversion of managem¢s attention from managing our busine

Insurance coverage is increasingly more costly adifficult to obtain or maintain.

While we currently have insurance for our businessperty, directors and officers, and our producisurance is increasingly more
costly and narrower in scope, and we may be redir@ssume more risk in the future. If we are eciiijo claims or suffer a loss or damage in
excess of our insurance coverage, we will be requio bear any loss in excess of our insurancedlitfiiwe are subject to claims or suffer a
loss or damage that is outside of our insurancera@e, we may incur significant uninsured coste@ated with loss or damage that could
have an adverse effect on our operations and fiabpasition. Furthermore, any claims made on aguiance policies may impact our ability
to obtain or maintain insurance coverage at redserwsts or at all.

If our facility incurs damage or power is lost fax significant length of time, our business will Sfr.

We store clinical and stability samples at ourlfgcthat could be damaged if our facility incursysical damage or in the event of an
extended power failure. We have backup power systaraddition to backup generators to maintain pawaell critical functions, but any loss
of these samples could result in significant delaysur drug development process.

In addition, we store most of our preclinical atidical data at our facilities. Duplicate copiesmbst critical data are secured off-site.
Any significant degradation or failure of our contgusystems could cause us to inaccurately cakolalose our data. Loss of data could re
in significant delays in our drug development psscand any system failure could harm our busined®perations.

If we fail to retain our existing key personnel dail to attract and retain additional key personneghe development of our product
candidates and the expansion of our business wéldelayed or stopped.

We are highly dependent upon our senior manageamhscientific team, the unexpected loss of whesdaes might impede the
achievement of our development and commercial tlbss Competition for key personnel with the exgece that we require is intense and is
expected to continue to increase. Our inabilitgttoact and retain the required number of skilled experienced management, operational an
scientific personnel will harm our business becauseely upon these personnel for many criticatfions of our business.
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Our existing principal stockholders hold a substaatamount of our common stock and may be abletfiiience significant corporate
decisions, which may conflict with the interest ofher stockholders.

We have a number of shareholders who own greaderiho of our outstanding common stock. These stidkhs, if they act together,
may be able to influence the outcome of matterairewy approval of the stockholders, including #iection of our directors and other
corporate actions.

Our stock price has been, and is likely to continteebe, highly volatile, which could result in thealue of an investment to decline
significantly.

The market prices for securities of biotechnologgnpanies in general have been highly volatile aagl oontinue to be highly volatile in
the future. Moreover, our stock price has fluctddtequently, and these fluctuations are oftenralatted to our financial results. For the twelve
months ended December 31, 2012, the 52-week réfrthe market price of our stock was from $1.08 59% per share. The following factors,
in addition to other risk factors described in théxtion, may have a significant impact on the retapkice of our common stock:

* announcements of technological innovations or nemdycts by us or our competito

» developments or disputes concerning patents orrigtapy rights;

« additional dilution through sales of our commorcgtor other derivative securitie

e status of new or existing licensing or collaboratagreements and government contre

e announcements relating to the status of our progy

e we or our partners achieving or failing to achieeselopment milestone

e publicity regarding actual or potential medicalulés relating to products under development byrusup competitors
» publicity regarding certain public health concefmswhich we are or may be developing treatme

* regulatory developments in both the United Stahesfareign countries

* public concern as to the safety of pharmaceuticzd ycts;

» actual or anticipated fluctuations in our operatiagults;

» changes in financial estimates or recommendatigrseburities analyst:

» changes in the structure of healthcare paymenessstincluding developments in price control legish;

e announcements by us or our competitors of sigmifiegquisitions, strategic partnerships, joint vees$ or capital commitment
» additions or departures of key personnel or memtiessir board of director:

e purchases or sales of substantial amounts of oak $ty existing stockholders, including officersdirectors;

» economic and other external factors or other disagir crises; an

e perioc-to-period fluctuations in our financial resul
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Future sales and issuances of securities may diltite ownership interests of our current stockholdeaind cause our stock price to
decline.

Future sales of our common stock by current stolcldre into the public market could cause the mapkiee of our stock to fall. As of
January 31, 2013, there were 50,928,144 sharasrafoonmon stock outstanding. We may from timengetissue securities in relation to a
license arrangement, collaboration, merger or aififr.

In addition, on June 28, 2011, we filed with theCS& shelf registration statement on Form S-3. $helf registration statement has been
declared effective and allows us to sell up to 8iflion of securities, including common stock, meed stock, depository shares, stock
purchase contracts and warrants, from time to i@ices and on terms to be determined at thedinsale.

As of January 31, 2013, there were 10,471,014 stptibns and restricted stock units outstanding 21242 shares available for
issuance under our Amended and Restated Stocktinedtian and equity compensation grants outsidl plan. The shares underlying
existing stock options and restricted stock units possible future stock options, stock appreaiatights and stock awards have been
registered pursuant to registration statementsoomFS-8.

If some or all of such shares are sold or othenigiseed into the public market over a short peabtime, our current stockholders’
ownership interests may be diluted and the valualgfublicly traded shares is likely to declins,the market may not be able to absorb those
shares at then-current market prices. Additionallch sales and issuances may make it more diffimulis to sell equity securities or equity-
related securities in the future at a time andepti@t our management deems acceptable, or at all.

If, because of our use of hazardous materials, vielate any environmental controls or regulationsahapply to such materials, we may
incur substantial costs and expenses in our remé¢itia efforts.

Our research and development involves the contfait® of hazardous materials, chemicals and varalisactive compounds. We are
subject to federal, state and local laws and reigumis governing the use, storage, handling andbdedpof these materials and some waste
products. Accidental contamination or injury frone$e materials could occur. In the event of andattj we could be liable for any damages
that result and any liabilities could exceed osoreces. Compliance with environmental laws andleggpns could require us to incur
substantial unexpected costs, which would matgraaild adversely affect our results of operations.

Information Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

This filing contains forward-looking statements hitit the meaning of Section 21E of the Securitieshaxge Act of 1934, as amended,
which are subject to the “safe harbor” createdanti®n 21E. All statements other than statemenktssdbrical facts contained in this filing are
forward-looking statements. These forward-lookitagements can generally be identified by the useastls such as “may,” “will,” “intends,”
“plans,” “believes,” “anticipates,” “expects,” “estates,” “predicts,” “potential,” the negative dfetse words or similar expressions. Statement
that describe our future plans, strategies, int@sti expectations, objectives, goals or prospeetalao forwardeoking statements. Discussic
containing these forward-looking statements aneqgipally contained in “Business,” “Risk Factors"dfManagement’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Gytems”, as well as any amendments we make to thect®ons in filings with the SEC.
These forward-looking statements include, but atdimited to, statements about:

” o« LT ”ou ”

» the initiation, timing, progress and results of pueclinical testing, clinical trials, and othesearch and development effol
» the potential funding from our contract with BAROMAS for the development of peramiv
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» the potential approval or stockpiling order or jgréfbm any order for peramivii
» the potential use of peramivir as a treatment folNH flu (or other strains of flu

» the further preclinical or clinical development axainmercialization of our product candidates, idetg peramivir, forodesine and
other PNP inhibitor and hereditary angioedema anddspectrum antiviral development progra

» the implementation of our business model, stratplgins for our business, product candidates arthtdogy;
e our ability to establish and maintain collaborast

» plans, programs, progress and potential succesgrafollaborations, including Mundipharma for foesthe and Shionogi and
Green Cross for peramivi

* Royalty Sub’s ability to service its payment obtigas in respect of the PhaRMA Notes, and our i3t benefit from our equity
interest in Royalty Sut

» the foreign currency hedge agreement entered inteshn connection with the issuance by Royalty 8ithne PhaRMA Notes

» the scope of protection we are able to establishnaaintain for intellectual property rights coveyiour product candidates and
technology;

» our ability to operate our business without infiirgythe intellectual property rights of othe

e estimates of our expenses, revenues, capital mqairts and our needs for additional financ

» the timing or likelihood of regulatory filings arappprovals

« our financial performance; ar

e competitive companies, technologies and our ingu

These statements relate to future events or téudure financial performance and involve known am#inown risks, uncertainties and

other important factors that may cause our acemllts, performance or achievements to be mageddfkerent from any future results,
performance or achievements expressed or impligtidse forwardeoking statements. Factors that may cause actsalts to differ material
from current expectations include, among otherghjnhose listed under “Risk Factors.” Any forwdmwdking statement reflects our current
views with respect to future events and is suliptihese and other risks, uncertainties and assongptelating to our operations, results of

operations, industry and future growth. Excepteagiired by law, we assume no obligation to updatese these forward-looking statements
for any reason, even if new information becomeslabie in the future.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
None.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

We lease offices in both Durham, North Carolina Bivthingham, Alabama. Our headquarters, includingainical and regulatory
operations, are based in Durham, while our prifdcigsearch facilities are located in Birmingham. \Wase approximately 17,250 square fe
Durham through December 31, 2014 and approxim&@|y50 square feet in Birmingham through June 80520f the 50,150 square feet of
space we lease in Birmingham, we have subleasadxdprately 16,050 square feet to another party.béleeve that our facilities are adequate
for our current operations.
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ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
Not applicable.

ITEM 4.  MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES
Not applicable.
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PART Il

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANTS COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISUER PURCHASES
OF EQUITY SECURITIES
Market Information

Our common stock trades on the NASDAQ Global Séleatket under the symbol BCRX. The following tabkgs forth the low and hig
sales prices of our common stock as reported bk @DAQ Global Select Market for each quarter ii2@nd 2011:

2012 2011

Low High Low High

First quarter 237 59t 336 534
Second quarte 29C 5.0 3.21 4.0z
Third quartel 347 474 231 3.9t
Fourth quarte 1.06 49t 22¢ 3.2¢

The last sale price of the common stock on JanBar2013 as reported by the NASDAQ Global Selectkeiawas $1.62 per share.

Holders
As of January 31, 2013, there were approximatetyt&ilders of record of our common stock.

Dividends
We have never paid cash dividends and do not patiipaying cash dividends in the foreseeabledutur
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Stock Performance Graph

This performance graph is not “soliciting mateti&,not deemed filed with the SEC and is not tdrmrporated by reference in any
filing by us under the Securities Act or the Exaparct, whether made before or after the date Hiema irrespective of any general
incorporation language in any such filing. The ktpdce performance shown on the graph is not rescég indicative of future price
performance.

PERFORMANCE GRAPH FOR BIOCRYST
Indexed Comparison Since 2007

180 04
16:0. 04
140 040
120 00
10004 [ : —a— BCRY
B, 0 ~@— Hasdai Stock Market
6,00 Hasdag Pharm Stocks
A0.00
20.00
1007 2008 2009 2000 011 2012
Beginning Investment Investment Investment Investment Investment
Investment
12/31/07 at 12/31/0¢ at 12/31/0¢ at 12/31/1( at 12/31/1: at 12/31/1:
BioCryst Pharmaceuticals, In $100.0C $ 22.17 $1045: $ 83.66 $ 3997 $ 22.9¢
The NASDAQ Stock Marke 100.0( 61.17 87.9: 104.1: 104.6¢ 123.8¢
NASDAQ Pharmaceutical Stocl| 100.0( 93.04 104.5¢ 113.3¢ 121.3: 161.3¢

The above graph measures the change in a $10Grmeeisin our common stock based on its closingepoit$6.18 on December 31,
2007 and its yeaend closing price thereafter. Our relative perfanoeis then compared with the CRSP Total Returaexad for the NASDAC
Stock Market (U.S.) and NASDAQ Pharmaceutical Ssock

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities: None.
Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

There were no repurchases of our common stockavestsurrendered to satisfy tax obligations duttiegfourth quarter of 2012.
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The selected Statement of Operations Data and Bal8@heet data with respect to the years ended eredth, 2012, 2011, 2010, 2009,
and 2008 set forth below are derived from our cbdated financial statements. The selected findrmtzEga set forth below should be read in
conjunction with “Management’s Discussion and Aisédyof Financial Condition and Results of Operatioantained in Item 7 below and our
consolidated financial statements and the notestih@appended to this annual report.

Years Ended December 31
2012 2011 2010 2009 2008
(In thousands, except per share amount:

Statement of Operations Data

Total revenue $ 26,29: $ 19,64 $ 62,38 $ 7459C $ 56,56
Cost of product sol — — 86 4,54¢ —

Research and development exper 51,46« 57,24¢ 83,90( 73,66 74,01¢
General and administrative expen 6,82¢ 11,98: 11,71¢ 10,12: 9,701
Royalty expens 13z — — — —

Restructuring cost 1,75¢ — 1,03¢ — —

Loss from operation (60,187) (49,587 (34,357 (13,737 (27,169
Net loss (39,08)) (56,949 (33,859 (13,45)) (24,737)
Basic and diluted net loss per sh $ (079 $ (120 $ (076 $ (035 $ (0.69
Weighted average shares outstant 49,47 45,14« 44 ,56¢ 38,92¢ 38,06:

As of December 31
2012 2011 2010 2009 2008
(In thousands)

Balance Sheet Data

Cash, cash equivalents and investm $ 37,066 $ 57,728 $ 66,34 $ 94,25¢ $ 63,31
Receivable: 4,56 5,831 30,227 33,72 11,98:
Inventory — 263 89¢ 6,281 —

Total asset 57, 43¢ 82,20¢ 109,44 142,19( 84,69:
Long-term deferred revent 5,92( 7,10: 15,94« 18,44: 20,93"
Non-recourse notes payal 30,00( 30,00( — — —

Accumulated defici (392,60) (353,52() (296,577 (262,719 (249,269)
Total stockholder (deficit) equity (454) 14,80¢ 65,50 86,26¢ 46,42¢

ITEM7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains certaatesnents of a forward-looking nature relating ttufe events or the future financial
performance of BioCryst. Such statements are amgliptions and the actual events or results mafedihaterially from the results discuss
in the forward-looking statements. Factors thatldozause or contribute to such differences incltidese discussed below and elsewhere in
this report, as well as those discussed in otHiegs made by BioCryst with the Securities and Bxgle Commission.
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The following Management’s Discussion and Analff8HD&A”) is intended to help the reader understandr results of operations and
financial condition. MD&A is provided as a supplemé&, and should be read in conjunction with, audited financial statements and 1
accompanying notes to the financial statementsather disclosures included in this Annual Reporfomm 10-K (including the disclosures
under “Item 1A. Risk Factors”).

Cautionary Statement

The discussion herein contains forward-lookingestants within the meaning of Section 21E of theugties Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended, which are subject to the “safe harbodtedkin Section 21E. Forward looking statementandigg our financial condition and our
results of operations that are based upon our tidased financial statements, which have been pezbim accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted within the Unitedt&taas well as projections for the future. Thepgration of these financial statements reqt
our management to make estimates and judgmentafteat the reported amounts of assets, liabilitiegenues and expenses, and related
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. &/aluate our estimates on an ongoing basis. Qiunass are based on historical experience
and on various other assumptions that are belitvbd reasonable under the circumstances. Thasaegwur estimates form the basis for
making judgments about the carrying values of asmad liabilities that are not readily apparentrfrather sources.

We operate in a highly competitive environment ithablves a number of risks, some of which are Inelyour control. We are subject to
risks common to biotechnology and biopharmaceutioaipanies, including risks inherent in our druscdvery, drug development and
commercialization efforts, clinical trials, unceny of regulatory actions and marketing approvedtiance on collaborative partners,
enforcement of patent and proprietary rights, thednfor future capital, competition associated \pitbducts, potential competition associated
with our product candidates and retention of kepleyees. In order for any of our product candidébelse commercialized, it will be
necessary for us, or our collaborative partnersptaduct clinical trials, demonstrate efficacy aafiety of the product candidate to the
satisfaction of regulatory authorities, obtain neditkg approval, enter into manufacturing, distribntand marketing arrangements, and obtain
market acceptance and adequate reimbursement fseerrgnent and private insurers. We cannot provigerance that we will generate
significant revenues or achieve and sustain ptafitg in the future. In addition, we can provide assurance that we will have sufficient
funding to meet our future capital requirementat&nents contained in Management'’s Discussion arady8is of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations and elsewhere in this repbith are not historical facts are, or may consittorward-looking statements. Forward-
looking statements involve known and unknown rislat could cause our actual results to differ miallgrfrom expected results. The most
significant known risks are discussed in the sectiotitled “Risk Factors.” Although we believe tlepectations reflected in the forward-
looking statements are reasonable, we cannot giggr&urture results, levels of activity, performancechievements. We caution you not to
place undue reliance on any forward-looking statgme

Our revenues are difficult to predict and dependhemerous factors, including the prevalence andrigvof influenza in regions for
which peramivir has received regulatory approvevesity of flu in those geographies that impacioéintent in our Phase 3 clinical trials,
ongoing discussions with government agencies réggfdture peramivir and/or BCX4430 developmentywad as entering into, or modifyin
licensing agreements for our product candidateghErmore, revenues related to our collaboratiwesligment activities are dependent upon
the progress toward and the achievement of devedofahmilestones by us or our collaborative pagner

Our operating expenses are also difficult to prealil depend on several factors, including reseandndevelopment expenses, drug
manufacturing, and clinical research activitieg, dmgoing requirements of our development programd the availability of capital and
direction from regulatory agencies, which are difft to predict. Management may be able to cont@ltiming and level of research and
development and general and administrative expebsésany of these expenditures will occur irresipe of our actions due to contractually
committed activities and/or payments.

As a result of these factors, we believe that jgetdoperiod comparisons are not necessarily meéulingd you should not rely on them
as an indication of future performance. Due tm&the foregoing factors, it is possible that operating results will be below the expectations
of market analysts and investors. In such eveatptihvailing market price of our common stock cduddmaterially adversely affected.

Overview

We are a biotechnology company that designs, opéisnand develops novel drugs that block key enzynvedved in the pathogenesis
diseases. We focus on therapeutic areas with ummeeical needs that are of interest to us and aligvith our capabilities and expertise. We
integrate the disciplines of biology, crystallogngpmedicinal chemistry and computer modeling srdver and develop small molecule
pharmaceuticals through the process known as steiguided drug design. Our strategy is to creatastainable portfolio of commercial
products and product candidates whereby we outdie@ights to product candidates in geographi¢iserapeutic areas where we do not intenc
to and/or do not have the ability to commerciattzem.
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Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

The accompanying discussion and analysis of oanfiial condition and results of operations are thag®n our consolidated financial
statements and the related disclosures, which bese prepared in accordance with generally acceqmealinting principles in the United
States. The preparation of these consolidated dinhgtatements requires us to make estimatesualginents that affect the reported amounts
of assets, liabilities, revenues, expenses anterktisclosure of contingent assets and liabilif®e evaluate our estimates, judgments and the
policies underlying these estimates on a periodfd) as situations change, and regularly disénaadial events, policies, and issues with
members of our audit committee and our independmgistered public accounting firm. We routinely kexsdie our estimates and policies
regarding revenue recognition, administration, mteey and manufacturing, taxes, stock-based congpems research and development,
consulting and other expenses and any associatstities.

Recent Corporate Highlights
Peramivir

On November 7, 2012, we announced completion opluened interim analysis of the peramivir 301 Rhaglinical trial. The 301
clinical trial was a multicenter, randomized, dasblind, controlled study to evaluate the efficacyl safety of 600 mg i.v. peramivir
administered once-daily for five days in additiorSOC, compared to SOC alone, in adults and adaieéstiospitalized due to serious
influenza. The difference between peramivir andm@mroups for the primary endpoint was small #melrecalculated sample size was greate
than the predefined futility boundary of 320 sulgeBased on this information, the DMC recommerttied the study be terminated for futili
No unexpected adverse events were identified aa@®MC expressed no concerns about the safety afrpeir. We suspended enroliment
the 301 clinical trial and subsequently terminateBuring the first half of 2013, we will condunteetings and discussions with BARDA/HHS
and the FDA to determine the appropriate futuraHerperamivir program. At the conclusion of thesetings, the future development, if any,
of peramivir in the U.S. will be determined.

On February 24, 2011, BARDA/HHS awarded us a $5illlon contract modification intended to fund coletion of the Phase 3
development of i.v. peramivir for the treatmenpafients hospitalized with influenza. This contnatdification brings the total award from
BARDA/HHS to $234.8 million and extends the contrigem by 24 months through December 31, 2013.chimract, as it currently stands,
provides for funding through completion of Phasand to support the filing of an NDA to seek regogtapproval for i.v. peramivir in the U.
Through December 31, 2012, $188.3 million has lveeagnized as revenue under this contract.

On March 9, 2011, we completed a $30.0 million necsurse financing transaction designed to monegzein future royalty and
milestone payments under our license agreementStitbnogi, pursuant to which Shionogi licensed frasrthe rights to market peramivir
(RAPIACTA) in Japan and, if approved for commerasiale, Taiwan. We formed Royalty Sub, a newly @@atholly-owned subsidiary, whic
completed a private placement to institutional stees of $30.0 million in aggregate principal amoohPhaRMA Senior Secured 14.0%
Notes. This private placement was exempt from tegisn under the Securities Act of 1933. The Ph@RNbtes, which are obligations
Royalty Sub, are secured by (i) Royalty Subghts to receive royalty payments from Shioringiespect of commercial sales of RAPIACTA
Japan and, if approved for commercial sale, Taiwanwell as future milestone payments payable ligr8lgi under the Shionogi Agreement
and all of Royalty Sub’s other assets, and (ii)egige by us of our equity interest in Royalty SRbncipal and interest on the PhaRMA Notes
issued by Royalty Sub are payable from, and angreddy, the rights to royalty and milestone paytaemder the Shionogi Agreement.
Principal on the PhaRMA Notes is required to bel paifull by the final legal maturity date of Decbear 1, 2020, unless the PhaRMA Notes
repaid, redeemed or repurchased earlier. The PhaRbtés are redeemable by Royalty Sub beginning M8r&2012 and bear interest at the
rate of 14% per annum, payable annually in arrearSeptember 2 of each year, beginning on Septeini2811. Royalty Sub’obligations t
pay principal and interest on the PhaRMA Notesoilggations solely of Royalty Sub and are withagaurse to any other person, including
us, except to the extent of our pledge of our gqunierests in Royalty Sub in support of the PhaRNidtes.

We received net proceeds of approximately $22.Hanikfter deducting transaction costs of $4.3iorilland the establishment of a
$3.0 million interest reserve account availablaetp cover future annual interest shortfalls. Abetember 31, 2012, the interest reserve
account has been fully utilized. Furthermore, appnately $572,000 of accrued interest is in arréams the September 1, 2012 Payment L
This shortfall accrues interest at the couponaatemust be paid by September 1, 2013 or the PhaRbtés will be in default. We expect
royalty payments from sales of RAPIACTA in 2013sttisfy the interest in arrears. However, based Uyigtorical RAPIACTA sales in Japan
and the interest currently in arrears, it is uraiarivhether 2013 RAPIACTA royalties will be suffcit to pay all interest in arrears and all
interest due on the September 1, 2013 Payment Date.
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In association with the PhaRMA Notes, we enteréad anCurrency Hedge Agreement to hedge certais askociated with changes in
value of the Japanese yen relative to the U.Saddlinder this agreement, we have the right tolmase dollars and sell yen at a rate of 100 ye
per dollar for which we may be required to pay @npium in each year from 2014 through 2020, provitiedCurrency Hedge Agreement
remains in effect. A payment of $2.0 million wiklsequired if, on May 18 of the relevant year, th&. dollar is worth 100 yen or less as
determined in accordance with the Currency Hedged&mgent. In conjunction with establishing the CocseHedge Agreement, we will be
required to post collateral to the counterpartyiciwimay cause us to experience additional quartedigtility in our financial results. We will
not be required at any time to post collateral edagg the maximum premium payments remaining pa&yabter the Currency Hedge
Agreement. Subject to certain obligations we haveoinnection with the PhaRMA Notes, we have thetrig terminate the Currency Hedge
Agreement with respect to the 2016 through 202@dédsy giving notice to the counterparty prior t@18, 2014 and paying a $2.0 million
termination fee. In advance of the May 18, 201#ieration date, we have a limitation on the maximhadge collateral of approximately $5.9
million. The Currency Hedge Agreement does notifufdr hedge accounting treatment and thereforeknamarket adjustments will be
recognized in our Consolidated Statements of OpermtCumulative mark to market adjustments throngbhember 31, 2012 resulted in a §
million hedge loss and we posted $5.2 million igr@gate collateral based on defined thresholds.operating results will continue to be
impacted by mark to market adjustments while the&@wcy Hedge Agreement remains in effect.

Ulodesine

On July 24, 2012, we announced favorable 52-wefgtyseesults and sustained efficacy from the extenphase of the randomized
Phase 2b clinical trial of ulodesine added to altiqol in patients with gout who had failed to redhe sUA therapeutic goal of <6 mg/dL on
allopurinol alone, as well as positive Phase 2tgagsults in patients with mild to moderate rengbairment. The approximate doubling of
sUA response rates with ulodesine seen at 12 weaksustained through 52 weeks of treatment. ARaveeks of treatment, ulodesine doses
of 5 mg, 10 mg, and 20 mg/day showed response 0dt&s%, 47% and 64% respectively, compared to i@%lacebo. These results are
consistent with the previously reported positivalfngs at the 12-week primary efficacy time poWith the results of the 203 clinical trial, we
have now concluded Phase 2 testing and are inaarde discussions with potential partners forcthinued Phase 3 development of
ulodesine and its eventual commercialization oroddwide basis. Due to the cost of Phase 3 devedmpmnd commercialization, we do not
plan to initiate Phase 3 development of ulodesiitkout a partner. Although we expect these outAlseediscussions to continue in 2013, we
cannot predict the outcome or timing associatetl adimpleting an out-licensing transaction.

Forodesine

On November 11, 2011, we entered into the AmendedRestated License and Development AgreementMitidipharma, amending
and restating the February 1, 2006 exclusive, tgyaaring Development and License Agreement ferdvelopment and commercialization
of forodesine for use in the field of oncology. éndhe terms of the Amended and Restated Agreememigipharma obtained worldwide
rights to forodesine, so they now control the waitte development and commercialization of forodesind assume all future development
and commercialization costs. Additionally, on Novwmm17, 2011, we further amended our agreementsARCOM/IRL whereby
AECOM/IRL agreed to accept a reduction of one-irathe percentage of Net Proceeds (as defineceidithended and Restated Agreement)
received by us under our Amended and Restated Agmeewith Mundipharma.

The Amended and Restated Agreement is a multiplaeht arrangement for accounting purposes in whigchre required to deliver to
Mundipharma both the worldwide rights to forodesamel the transfer of product data and know-howetonit Mundipharma to develop and
commercialize forodesine (the “Knowledge Transfefhe world-wide license rights were granted to Mipharma upon execution of
Amended and Restated Agreement and the Knowledgesfier and the product data and know-how transéee wompleted in the first quarter
of 2012. We have accounted for these elementsamhined unit of accounting as neither one hasistdone value to Mundipharma. Upon
completion of the Knowledge Transfer, the unamedideferred revenue and deferred expense of $1i8mand $1.9 million, respectively,
was recognized in our Statements of Comprehensigs In the quarter ended March 31, 2012.

Results of Operations
Year Ended December 31, 2012 Compared to 2011

Total 2012 revenues increased to $26.3 millioncespared to 2011 revenues of $19.6 million. Reveimu@912 included the recognition
of $7.8 million of previously deferred revenue asated with the Amended and Restated License anelbgment Agreement with
Mundipharma. The recognition of this revenue aredrtdated expense (noted below) did not impactash balance. The remaining 2012
revenue consisted of $3.3 million of royalty reverirom Shionogi sales of
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RAPIACTA, $14.0 million of reimbursement of collatadive expenses from BARDA/HHS related to the depeient of i.v. peramivir and
$1.2 million associated with collaborative reveiameortization from other corporate partnerships.€Ree increased in 2012 due to the
recognition of all previously deferred revenue agsed with the Mundipharma agreement as well agehognition of RAPIACTA royalty
revenue, for which no royalty was recognized in20lhese two increases were partially offset byetsed BARDA/HHS revenue, as
compared to 2011, associated with a lower rateaflienent in the 301 clinical trial compared to 20Revenues in 2011 consisted of $17.1
million of reimbursement of collaborative expengesn BARDA/HHS related to the continued developmehitv. peramivir and $2.5 million
associated with collaborative revenue amortizatiom other corporate partnerships.

Research and Development (“R&D”) expenses decre@s®81.5 million in 2012 from $57.2 million in thegior year. Approximately
$1.9 million of the 2012 R&D expense resulted fribva recognition of previously deferred expensesaated with the Amended and Restatec
License and Development Agreement with Mundipharfie remaining 2012 R&D expenses, compared wittpthor year, reflect decreased
spending associated with our ulodesine and peramiwgrams partially offset by increased spendingor pre-clinical compounds (primarily
BCX4161 and BCX5191). In connection with the Amesh@ad Restated License and Development Agreemémtviindipharma, we do not
expect to incur any significant forodesine costthmfuture. Furthermore, with the completion oaBé 2 testing of ulodesine in 2012, we do
not expect to incur significant ulodesine expernisdbe future, because we do not plan to initidiage 3 development of ulodesine without a
partner.

The following table summarizes our R&D expenseglierperiods indicated (amounts are in thousands).

2012 2011 2010
R&D expenses by prograr
Ulodesine $10,20¢ $20,18¢ $13,17¢
Peramivir 12,89: 17,36: 49,74(
BCX5191 9,04¢ 1,93¢ 6
BCX4161 8,96¢ 6,171 90C
Forodesine 2,17( 75¢ 7,277
BCX4430 1,30( 474 451
Other research, preclinical and development ¢ 6,87¢ 10,36( 12,35:
Total R&D expense $51,46¢ $57,24¢ $83,90(

Research and development expenses include alt dinelcindirect expenses and are allocated to $pgeidgrams at the point of
development of a lead product candidate. Direceagps are charged directly to the program to wihiel relate and indirect expenses are
allocated based upon internal direct labor houdiod¢ed to each respective program. Direct expetmesist of compensation for R&D
personnel and costs of outside parties to condborhtory studies, develop manufacturing processasufacture the product candidates,
conduct and manage clinical trials, patent-relatests, as well as other costs related to our dir@nd preclinical studies. Indirect R&D
expenses consist of lab supplies and servicedityaaxpenses, depreciation of development equifiraed other overhead of our research and
development efforts. R&D expenses vary accordindpéonumber of programs in clinical development tradstage of development of our
clinical programs. Later stage clinical progranmadtéo cost more than earlier stage programs dtleettonger length of time of the clinical
trials and the higher number of patients enrolfethese clinical trials.

General and administrative (“G&A§xpenses decreased to $6.8 million in 2012 compar&@2.0 million in the prior year. The decre
of $5.2 million is primarily due to the continueghtization of cost containment measures yieldingdaiction of non-critical consulting and
other administrative expenses, as well as avoidahoae-time expenses incurred in the 2011 relonadf our corporate headquarters. These
reductions were offset somewhat by $1.5 milliotrafsaction costs associated with the proposedenerith Presidio Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

Interest expense related to the non-recourse mss@sd in conjunction with the peramivir royalty medization transaction in March 2011
increased to $4.7 million in 2012 as compared t8 $dllion in 2011, due to recognizing a full yedrinterest expense in 2012 compared to a
partial year in 2011. In addition, a mark to mardkst of $0.7 million was recognized in 2012 redati® our foreign currency hedge, compared
to a mark to market loss of $4.0 million in thegpryear, resulting from changes in the U.S. dallgpanese yen exchange rate. We entered int
the foreign Currency Hedge Agreement to hedge admairtgthe value of the Japanese yen relative ttJt8edollar. The currency hedge does
not qualify for hedge accounting treatment andefoee mark to market adjustments are recognizediirConsolidated Statements of
Comprehensive Loss. Although we cannot predicfuhge yen/dollar exchange rate, the applicableifpr currency rates have moved such
that
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we have reclaimed hedge collateral in early 20b8sdver, it is possible that additional collaterdl tve required in 2013. We are unable to
predict future changes in the yen/dollar exchaade or increases/decreases in our hedge loss atesbwiith the Currency Hedge Agreement.

Restructuring

In December 2012, we announced that we had regtagtbur operations during the fourth quarter &2 significantly reduce the size
and operations of our Company in order to externcegisting cash runway. We eliminated approxima&$o of our workforce and decreased
other costs, which will decrease our 2013 operatagh utilization by 30 to 40% and decrease ouB2Qkrating expenses by 40 to 60%, as
compared to 2012 levels. These changes will allomeaisting cash and investments to last longerearale us to achieve important nezim
milestones. Based upon these changes, we anticpatsash and investments will fund our operatimnd 5 to 18 months, and thus into the
second quarter of 2014. In connection with thervestiring, we recorded restructuring charges ofagmately $1.8 million for the year ended
December 31, 2012, which are reported in a sephnatéem in our Consolidated Statements of Corhensive Loss. Significant components
of the restructuring charge were termination beéséfir employees impacted by the restructuringlassles associated with leased lab and
office space that is now vacant. We do not expgesidur any additional restructuring changes assalt of our December 2012 restructuring
addition, we restructured our operations in 201d ianurred approximately $1.0 million of chargesemntwe executed that restructuring.
Significant components of our 2010 restructuringembe write-off of assets and termination bendéiteemployees impacted by the
restructuring.

Year Ended December 31, 2011 Compared to 2010

Total 2011 revenues decreased to $19.6 millioroagpared to 2010 revenues of $62.4 million. Reveimu@®11 consisted primarily of
reimbursement of collaboration expenses from BARBIAS with $17.1 million related to the continued dpment of i.v. peramivir and
approximately $2.5 million associated with colladtdre revenue amortization from other corporatengaships. Revenues in 2010 consisted
primarily of reimbursement of collaboration expexigacluding $42.5 million from BARDA/HHS for theoatinued development of i.v.
peramivir and the sale of $8.3 million of peramizative pharmaceutical ingredient (API) and othertgg materials to Shionogi and Green
Cross, as well as a $7.0 million milestone paynfiemh Shionogi related to the marketing and manuifidicty approval of RAPIACTA in Japan
during the first quarter of 2010.

Revenue associated with reimbursement from BARDAZHbY the continued development of i.v. peramidcibased $25.4 million in
2011 as compared to 2010. The decrease in revesoeiated with our peramivir development prograsulted from the completion of two
clinical trials in 2010 and the realignment of omgpclinical trials. In addition, the decrease va#s0 partially related to an estimate revision of
prior period expenses for a peramivir clinicallteasociated with services performed by a contesgarch organization (“CRQ"), and its
subsequent revision of service costs in 2011 rfate final cost reconciliation. At the end of POWve estimated expenses related to this
clinical trial and the associated revenue we exgkti receive from BARDA/HHS from estimates prodde us by this CRO. Revisions to the
estimated costs resulted in a $3.0 million reductibperamivir expenses and a $3.6 million redurctmcollaboration revenue during the first
quarter of 2011, resulting in a net impact of $diion to net loss.

Research and development expenses decreased 2on§ilion in 2011 as compared to $83.9 million the prior year. The $26.7 million
decrease was driven by lower development costEissd with our peramivir development program (gsussed above) and lower costs
associated with our forodesine clinical programsdnnection with the Amended and Restated Agreemigim Mundipharma, we ceased
incurring all forodesine development costs in Nolken2011 and we received $0.9 million for previguestpensed compound development
costs. The decrease in aforementioned costs whallyanffset by higher development costs assodiatéh the ulodesine program for the
treatment of gout during 2011. Additionally, peraintosts for 2010 included $8.2 million of manufaing costs associated with peramivir
API production for Shionogi and Green Cross.

General and administrative expenses increased® $illion for 2011 from $11.7 million in 2010. €small change reflects timing of
expenses between the years associated with thetinarmf our headquarters to Durham, North Caeolind cost containment procedures
instituted in 2011.

Additionally, we incurred interest expense andésssn our foreign currency derivative during 20dsisociated with our $30.0 million
non-recourse debt financing transaction complatédarch 2011 to monetize certain future royalty aritbstone payments associated with a
license agreement with Shionogi — see “Note 3 —aRgWonetization” in our Notes to the Consolidatédancial Statements. We incurred
$3.8 million in interest expense related to ourf& Notes and recognized a $4.0 million mark to ke&toss related to our Currency Hedge
Agreement.
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Liguidity and Capital Resources

Cash expenditures have exceeded revenues singeception and we expect our 2013 operating expetasesceed our 2013 revenues.
Our operations have principally been funded thropgiblic offerings and private placements of eqaiyurities; cash from collaborative and
other research and development agreements, inglgdimernment contracts; and to a lesser extenRtla® MA Notes financing. On
February 24, 2011, we announced that BARDA/HHS&wadrded us a $55.0 million contract modificatioteirded to fund completion of the
Phase 3 development of i.v. peramivir, bringingttital award from BARDA/HHS to $234.8 million angtending the contract term by 24
months through December 31, 2013. On March 9, 2@&lcompleted a $30.0 million non-recourse delarfeing transaction designed to
monetize certain future royalty and milestone payts@nder our license agreement with Shionogi. ¥¢eived net proceeds from this
transaction of approximately $22.7 million, excliglihedge collateral posted subsequent to the dadithe transaction. In June 2011, we
entered into an At Market Issuance Sales Agreeffieat'ATM Agreement”) with McNicoll, Lewis & Vlak‘(MLV") pursuant to which we
may issue and sell $70.0 million in shares of @mmmon stock at current market prices under a Fenw&istration statement with MLV
acting as the sales agent. As of December 31, 204 have sold an aggregate of 5.0 million share®nfmon stock at an average per share
price of $3.96 pursuant to the ATM Agreement for pr@ceeds of $18.8 million. In addition to the ebave have received funding from other
sources, including other collaborative and otheeaech and development agreements; governmensgeaptipment lease financing; facility
leases; research grants; and interest income oimeestments.

As of December 31, 2012, we had net working capit§24.8 million, a decrease of approximately $hiBion from $26.6 million at
December 31, 2011. The decrease in working cap#aslprincipally due to funding of our normal opergtexpenses associated with the
development of our product candidates and $1.7amilh cash collateral posted against foreign cwydosses which was partially offset by
$17.8 million in net proceeds derived from the sHleommon stock through offerings under the ATMrégment through our Form S-3 shelf
registration. Our principal sources of liquidityl2¢écember 31, 2012 were approximately $21.2 mililbcash and cash equivalents;
approximately $15.9 million in investments consatkavailable-for-sale; and approximately $4.0 wiillin BARDA/HHS receivables. In
December 2012, we announced that we had restrdotwireoperations to significantly reduce the siaé aperations of our Company in order
to extend our existing cash runway. We eliminatgraximately 50% of our workforce and decreasee@tiosts, which we anticipate will
decrease our 2013 operating cash utilization bip3M% and decrease our 2013 operating expenséd toy60%, as compared to 2012 levels.
These changes will allow our existing cash andstments to last longer and enable us to achieveriapt near-term milestones. Based upon
these changes, we anticipate our cash and investméhfund our operations for 15 to 18 monthsgdhus into the second quarter of 2014.

We intend to contain costs and reduce cash flowirempents by closely managing our third party casid headcount, leasing scientific
equipment and facilities, contracting with othertjgs to conduct certain research and developmm@ijggis and using consultants. We expe:
incur additional expenses, potentially resultingignificant losses, as we continue to pursue esgarch and development activities, primarily
related to our clinical trial activity. We may incadditional expenses related to the filing, prosien, maintenance, defense and enforceme
patent and other intellectual property claims agditéonal regulatory costs as our clinical prograadsance through later stages of
development. The objective of our investment poigcio ensure the safety and preservation of imgeftnds, as well as maintaining liquidity
sufficient to meet cash flow requirements. We plageexcess cash with high credit quality finanaiatitutions, commercial companies, and
government agencies in order to limit the amourdwofcredit exposure. We have not realized anyifségint losses on our investments.

At December 31, 2012, we had long-term operatiagdeobligations, which provide for aggregate mimmpayments of approximately
$1.0 million in 2013, $1.0 million in 2014 and $0vllion in 2015. These obligations include theuiwt rental of our operating facilities.
We plan to finance our needs principally from tblofwing:
» lease or loan financing and future public or prvatjuity financing
* our existing capital resources and interest eaometthat capital
» payments under our contract with BARDA/HHS; ¢
* payments under collaborative and licensing agre&neith corporate partner
As our programs continue to advance, our costsimghease. Our current and planned clinical triplgs the related development,
manufacturing, regulatory approval process requirgsiand additional personnel resources and testngred for the continuing developm
of our product candidates will consume significeagpital resources and will increase our expensesegpenses, revenues and cash utilizatiol

rate could vary significantly depending on manytdas, including our ability to raise additional dajh the development progress of our
collaborative agreements for our product candidales
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amount and timing of funding we receive from BARDBINS for peramivir, the amount of funding or assist if any, we receive from other
governmental agencies or other new partnershigstiitd parties for the development of our prodearididates, the progress and results o
current and proposed clinical trials for our madtanced product candidates, the progress made imémufacturing of our lead product
candidates and the progression of our other pragrram

With the funds available at December 31, 2012, aleebe these resources will be sufficient to fund operations into the second quarte!
of 2014. Our future liquidity needs, and abilityaddress those needs, will largely be determineithéguccess of our product candidates and
key development and regulatory events in the futirerder to continue our operations substantialyond mid-2014, we will need to:

(1) successfully secure, or increase U.S. Goverhfoeding of our programs; (2) out-license righdscertain of our product candidates,
pursuant to which the we would receive cash miles$p(3) raise additional capital through equitglebt financings or from other sources;

(4) obtain product candidate regulatory approwatich would generate revenue and cash flow; ()cedspending on one or more research
and development programs; and/or (6) restructuegatipns. Additionally, we retain the ability tofef for sale approximately $50 million of
securities, including common stock, preferred stalebt securities, depositary shares and secuwtiesants from an effective shelf registration
statement, which we filed with the SEC on June224,1.

Our long-term capital requirements and the adeqo&oyr available funds will depend upon many fegtincluding:

e our ability to perform under the contract with BARIHHS and receive reimburseme
» the magnitude of work under the contract with BARBAS;

» the progress and magnitude of our research, dsgpdéry and development prograr
» changes in existing collaborative relationshipg@vernment contract

» our ability to establish additional collaborativationships with academic institutions, bioteclogyl or pharmaceutical companies
and governmental agencies or other third par

» the extent to which our partners, including goveental agencies, will share in the costs associaittdthe development of our
programs or run the development programs themse

* our ability to negotiate favorable development aratketing strategic alliances for certain produstididates or a decision to build
or expand internal development and commercial aéfies;

» successful commercialization of marketed produgtsither us or a partne

» the scope and results of preclinical studies aimicel trials to identify and develop product caaties;

» our ability to engage sites and enroll subjectsunclinical trials;

» the scope of manufacturing of our product candiltdesupport our preclinical research and clinigals;

» increases in personnel and related costs to sufffodevelopment of our product candida

» the scope of manufacturing of our drug substandedang products required for future NDA filing

« competitive and technological advanc

» the time and costs involved in obtaining regulatpprovals; an

» the costs involved in all aspects of intellectuagerty strategy and protection including the castslved in preparing, filing,
prosecuting, maintaining, defending and enforciatgpt claims

We expect that we will be required to raise addgiccapital to complete the development and comialézation of our current product
candidates and we may seek to raise capital atirmey Additional funding, whether through additibsales of equity or debt securities,
collaborative or other arrangements with corpopateners or from other sources, including goverrtaleagencies in general and from the
BARDA/HHS contract specifically, may not be avalkvhen needed or on terms acceptable to us. Tharse of preferred or common stock
or convertible securities, with terms and pricgm#icantly more favorable than those of the cutiseautstanding common stock, could have
the effect of diluting or adversely affecting thadings or rights of our existing stockholdersabidition, collaborative arrangements may
require us
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to transfer certain material rights to such corpopartners. Insufficient funds may require usetag, scale back or eliminate certain of our
research and development programs. Our future workapital requirements, including the need foritaatthl working capital, will be largely
determined by the advancement of our portfoliorofdpict candidates as well as rate of reimburseimgBARDA/HHS of our peramivir
expenses and any future decisions regarding thesfff the peramivir development program. More #jpadly, our working capital
requirements will be dependent on the number, ntag®j scope and timing of our development prograetgjlatory approval of our product
candidates; obtaining funding from collaborativetpers; the cost, timing and outcome of regulatemiews, regulatory investigations, and
changes in regulatory requirements; the costs @imibg patent protection for our product candidatbe timing and terms of business
development activities; the rate of technologichlances relevant to our operations; the efficiesfapanufacturing processes developed or
behalf by third parties; and the level of requiegbiinistrative support for our daily operations.

Financial Outlook for 2013

Based upon our strategic and development operatismexpect 2013 operating cash usage to be iratige of $22 to $26 million, and
expect our total 2013 operating expenses to bleeimange of $25 to $35 million. Our operating cishcast excludes any impact of our royi
monetization, hedge collateral posted or returselt of stock in the marketplace, and any othefroatine cash outflows or inflows, such as
restructuring and transaction costs. Our abilityetmain within our operating expense and operatag target ranges is subject to multiple
factors, including unanticipated or additional gahéevelopment and administrative costs and ddwors described under the Risk Factors
located elsewhere in this report.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
As of December 31, 2012, we are not involved in angonsolidated entities or off-balance sheet gearents.

Contractual Obligations

In the table below, we set forth our enforceablé legally binding obligations and future commitn®eand obligations related to all
contracts that we are likely to continue regardi#fabhe fact that they are cancelable as of Dece®be2012. Some of the amounts we include
in this table are based on management’s estimateassumptions about these obligations, includieg duration, the possibility of renewal,
anticipated actions by third parties, and othetdiac Because these estimates and assumptionsa@ssarily subjective, the obligations we
actually pay in future periods may vary from thostected in the table.

Payments Due by Perioc
(In thousands)

Less Thar More Than
Contractual Obligations Total 1 Year 1-3 Years 3-5 Years 5 Years
Operating lease obligations $2431 $ 101z $141¢ $ — $ —
Purchase obligations(. 18,63( 18,63( — — —
Contingent license obligatiol 8,07¢ 57t 1,15(C 1,15(C 5,20(
Non-recourse notes payable| 63,82: 4,772 8,40( 8,40( 42,25(
Total $92,95¢ $24,98¢ $10,96¢ $9,55( $ 47,45(

(1) Purchase obligations include commitments rdlédeclinical development, manufacturing and resieaperations and other purchase
commitments

(2) Assumes the PhaRMA Notes will be repaid at migtand the related interest costs will accrue hagaid annually through maturity.
This assumption is based on the unpredictable aatuthe royalty payments from Shionogi which agsignated for both principal and
interest payments on the PhaRMA No

Under the Currency Hedge Agreement, we have tli tigpurchase dollars and sell yen at a rate 6fyEh per dollar for which we may
be required to pay a premium in each year from 2f@dgugh 2020, provided the Currency Hedge Agreensestill in effect. A payment of
$2.0 million will be required if, during the releviayear, the dollar is worth less than 100 yen.h&ee the right to terminate the Currency
Hedge Agreement with respect to 2016 through 2@2@iing notice on May 18, 2014 and a payment 24 million termination fee. Prior-
termination, the maximum amount of hedge collateiaimay be required to post is $5.9 million. ADefcember 31, 2012, we have posted
$5.2 million in hedge collateral. Because the pagstif additional collateral and payment of annuahgiums is contingent on the value of the
yen relative to the dollar and other factors, spajments have been excluded from the foregoingt
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In addition to the above, we have committed to maktential future “sublicense” payments to thirdtjgs as part of in-licensing and
development programs. Payments under these agreegeserally become due and payable only upon aement of certain developmental,
regulatory and/or commercial milestones. Becausathievement of these milestones is neither ptelady reasonably estimable, such
contingencies have not been recorded on our bakirest.

Critical Accounting Policies

We have established various accounting policiesgbeern the application of accounting principlemerally accepted in the U.S., which
were utilized in the preparation of our consolidafi@eancial statements. Certain accounting poligieslve significant judgments and
assumptions by management that have a materiacinopahe carrying value of certain assets andliligls. Management considers such
accounting policies to be critical accounting piekc The judgments and assumptions used by managemnesbased on historical experience
and other factors, which are believed to be redsenamder the circumstances. Because of the nafuhe judgments and assumptions mad
management, actual results could differ from thjedgments and estimates, which could have a matetpmct on the carrying values of assets
and liabilities and the results of operations.

While our significant accounting policies are mbrly described in Note 1 to our financial staterseincluded in this Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 201helieve that the following accounting policies #ve most critical to aid you in fully
understanding and evaluating our reported finamemllts and affect the more significant judgmemts estimates that we use in the prepar
of our financial statements.

Inventory

Our inventories consist of peramivir finished goadtsl supplies for the manufacture of peramivir,clitare valued at the lower of cost or
market using the first-in, first-out (i.e., FIFOkthod. Cost includes materials, labor, overheagpgig and handling costs. Our inventories are
subject to expiration dating. We regularly evaluat carrying value of our inventories and prowd&iation reserves for any estimated
obsolete, short-dated or unmarketable inventohieaddition, we may experience spoilage of our naaterials and supplies. Our determinatior
that a valuation reserve might be required, in @aliito the quantification of such reserve, regalins to utilize significant judgment. We have
recorded a full valuation allowance for all invenytdalances at December 31, 2012.

Accrued Expense

We enter into contractual agreements with thirdypaendors who provide research and developmentufaaturing, and other services
in the ordinary course of business. Some of thea&racts are subject to milestobased invoicing and services are completed ovexgndec
period of time. We record liabilities under thesattactual commitments when an obligation has lieeurred. This accrual process involves
reviewing open contracts and purchase orders, canuaing with our applicable personnel to idensrvices that have been performed and
estimating the level of service performed and gsoaiated cost when we have not yet been invoicetherwise notified of actual cost. The
majority of our service providers invoice us momtim arrears for services performed. We make eséismaf our accrued expenses as of each
balance sheet date based on the facts and ciraurast&nown to us. We periodically confirm the aacyrof our estimates with the service
providers and make adjustments if necessary. Exesrgflestimated accrued expenses include:

» fees paid to CROs in connection with preclinicad &xicology studies and clinical trial

» fees paid to investigative sites in connection withical trials;

» fees paid to contract manufacturers in connectith thie production of our raw materials, drug sahse and drug products; a

» professional fees

We base our expenses related to clinical trialeworestimates of the services received and eféogpended pursuant to contracts with

multiple research institutions and clinical resbasoganizations that conduct and manage clinicabkton our behalf. The financial terms of
these agreements are subject to negotiation, vamy ¢ontract to contract and may result in uneveyment flows. Payments under some of
these contracts depend on factors such as thessficcenroliment of patients and the completioglofical trial milestones. In accruing serv
fees, we estimate the time period over which sesviill be performed and the level of effort expethéh each period. If the actual timing of

the performance of services or the level of eff@ries from our estimate, we will adjust the actagzordingly. If we do not identify costs that
we have begun to incur or if we underestimate @restimate the level of these costs, our actuadresgs could differ from our estimates.
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Revenue Recognitio

We recognize revenues from collaborative and atbgzarch and development arrangements and praglast Revenue is realized or
realizable and earned when all of the followingesia are met: (i) persuasive evidence of an agarent exists; (ii) delivery has occurred or
services have been rendered; (iii) the seller'septd the buyer is fixed or determinable; and ¢m)ectability is reasonably assured.

Collaborative and Other Research and Developmerdagrements and Royalties

Revenue from license fees, royalty payments, epayinents, and research and development fees aigniezed as revenue when the
earnings process is complete and we have no furthméinuing performance obligations or we have cletepl the performance obligations
under the terms of the agreement. Fees receivesf lindnsing agreements that are related to fytarormance are deferred and recognized
over an estimated period determined by managenaseidon the terms of the agreement and the prolizertsed. In the event a license
agreement contains multiple deliverables, we evealudether the deliverables are separate or comhings of accounting. Revisions to
revenue or profit estimates as a result of chaigtee estimated revenue period are recognizecpotively.

Under certain of our license agreements, we reaeyalty payments based upon our licensees’ ness#lcovered products. Generally,
under these agreements, we receive royalty refortsour licensees approximately one quarter iras, that is, generally in the second
month of the quarter after the licensee has s@ddkalty-bearing product. We recognize royaltyeraves when we can reliably estimate such
amounts and collectability is reasonably assuregaRy revenue paid by Shionogi on their produt¢sés subject to returns.

Reimbursements received for direct out-of-pock@emses related to research and development cestscarded as revenue in the
income statement rather than as a reduction inresgqse Event payments are recognized as revenuethupachievement of specified events if
(1) the event is substantive in nature and theeaelnnent of the event was not reasonably assutée aiception of the agreement and (2) the
fees are non-refundable and non-creditable. Anyteyayments received prior to satisfying theseeddtare recorded as deferred revenue.
Under our contract with BARDA/HHS, revenue is recizgd as reimbursable direct and indirect costsrangrred.

Product Sale:
Product sales are recognized net of estimated afioes, discounts, sales returns, chargebacks batse

Research and Development Expent

Our research and development costs are chargeghémse when incurred. Advance payments for goodsmices that will be used or
rendered for future research and development desvare deferred and capitalized. Such amountseaognized as expense when the related
goods are delivered or the related services aferpeed. Research and development expenses induug other items, personnel costs,
including salaries and benefits, manufacturings;adinical, regulatory, and toxicology servicesfpemed by CROs, materials and supplies,
and overhead allocations consisting of various aditnative and facilities related costs. Most of manufacturing and clinical and preclinical
studies are performed by third-party CROs. Coststiadies performed by CROs are accrued by ustheeservice periods specified in the
contracts and estimates are adjusted, if requir@sed upon our on-going review of the level of e actually performed.

Additionally, we have license agreements with tigadties, such as AECOM, IRL, and UAB, which reguUees related to sublicense
agreements or maintenance fees. We expense sidgdipagments as incurred unless they are relatedénues that have been deferred, in
which case the expenses are deferred and recognieedhe related revenue recognition period. WEeage maintenance payments as
incurred.

At December 31, 2012, we had deferred collaboragiqenses of approximately $5.4 million. These deteexpenses were sub-license
payments, paid to our academic partners upon reckgonsideration from various commercial partnarsl other consideration to our
academic partners for modification to existing fise agreements. These deferred expenses wouldvebken incurred without receipt of
such payments or modifications from our commeng#tners and are being expensed in proportiongoetated revenue being recognized.
believe that this accounting treatment appropyatedtches expenses with the associated revenue.
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We group our R&D expenses into two major categodesect external expenses and indirect expensiescDexpenses consist of
compensation for R&D personnel and costs of oufsatéies to conduct laboratory studies, developufearturing processes and manufacture
the product candidate, conduct and manage clitrieds, patentelated costs, as well as other costs relatedrtaloical and preclinical studie
These costs are accumulated and tracked by prod¢mdirect expenses consist of lab supplies andaesyfacility expenses, depreciation of
development equipment and other overhead of oearel and development efforts. These costs applptk on our clinical and preclinical
candidates as well as our discovery research sffort

Stock-Based Compensation

All share-based payments, including grants of stgation awards and restricted stock awards, am@grézed in our Consolidated
Statements of Comprehensive Loss based on theirdhies. Stock-based compensation cost is estihzdtihe grant date based on the fair
value of the award and is recognized as expensestraight-line basis over the requisite serviagopeof the award. Determining the
appropriate fair value model and the related assiomgpfor the model requires judgment, includintireating the life of an award, the stock
price volatility, and the expected term. We utilthe Black-Scholes option-pricing model to value awards and recognize compensation
expense on a straight-line basis over the ves@nggs. The estimation of share-based payment athed will ultimately vest requires
judgment, and to the extent actual results or wgatlastimates differ from our current estimateshs@amounts will be recorded as a cumula
adjustment in the period estimates are revisechiftgignt management judgment is also required terdeining estimates of future stock price
volatility and forfeitures to be used in the valaatof the options. Actual results, and future aesiin estimates, may differ substantially from
our current estimates.

Foreign Currency Hedge

In connection with our issuance of the PhaRMA Notes entered into a foreign Currency Hedge Agredrnehedge certain risks
associated with changes in the value of the Japay@srelative to the U.S. dollar. Under the CutyeiHedge Agreement, we have the right to
purchase dollars and sell yen at a rate of 10Qgemollar for which we may be required to pay enpium in each year from 2014 through
2020, provided the Currency Hedge Agreement remaigffect. A payment of $2.0 million will be regead if, on May 18 of the relevant year,
the U.S. dollar is worth 100 yen or less as deteeahin accordance with the Currency Hedge Agreenhecbnjunction with establishing the
Currency Hedge Agreement, we will be required tstpollateral to the counterparty, which may causéo experience additional quarterly
volatility in our financial results. We will not bequired at any time to post collateral exceedimgmaximum premium payments remaining
payable under the Currency Hedge Agreements. &bkstiing the hedge, we provided initial funds ppeoximately $2.0 million to support c
potential hedge obligations. Subject to certaingattions we have in connection with the PhaRMA Notee have the right to terminate the
Currency Hedge Agreement with respect to the 2Bddiigh 2020 period by giving notice to the coundetypprior to May 18, 2014 and
payment of a $2.0 million termination fee. Priotthds termination date, the maximum amount of hetlgkteral we may be required to post is
$5.9 million.

The Currency Hedge Agreement does not qualify &aige accounting treatment and therefore mark t&ehadjustments will be
recognized in our Consolidated Statements of Cohgreive Loss. Cumulative mark to market adjustmfemtthe year ended December 31,
2012 resulted in a $749,000 loss. Mark to markgistichents are determined by quoted prices in msutkett are not actively traded and for
which significant inputs are observable directlyiratirectly, representing the Level 2 in the faadue hierarchy as defined by generally
accepted accounting principles. The Company isralgoired to post collateral in connection with thark to market adjustments based on
defined thresholds and as of December 31, 2012,8lion was posted under the agreement.

Tax

We account for uncertain tax positions in accordanith accounting principles generally acceptethenU.S. Significant management
judgment is required in determining our provisionihcome taxes, deferred tax assets and lialsiléied any valuation allowance recort
against net deferred tax assets. We have recordaldiaion allowance against all potential tax ss#ue to uncertainties in our ability to
utilize deferred tax assets, primarily consistifigertain net operating losses carried forwardotmthey expire. The valuation allowance is
based on estimates of taxable income in each gfittsglictions in which we operate and the periedravhich our deferred tax assets will be
recoverable.

Impact of Inflation

We do not believe that our operating results haentmaterially impacted by inflation during thetphsee years. However, we cannof
assured that our operating results will not be exhg affected by inflation in the future. We wibbntinually seek to mitigate the adverse eff
of inflation on the services that we use througprioved operating efficiencies and cost containnirgtiatives.
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Recent Accounting Pronouncements

Note 11 to the Consolidated Financial Statememisided in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 1@HKcusses accounting
pronouncements recently issued or proposed butaigequired to be adopted.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK.
Interest Rate Ris
We are subject to interest rate risk on our invesinportfolio and borrowings under our PhaRMA Notes

We invest in marketable securities in accordandk airr investment policy. The primary objectivesaf investment policy are to
preserve capital, maintain proper liquidity to mepérating needs and maximize yields. Our investrpelicy specifies credit quality standards
for our investments and limits the amount of crediposure to any single issue, issuer or typewddtment. We place our excess cash with
high credit quality financial institutions, commgiccompanies, and government agencies in ordéntbthe amount of credit exposure. Some
of the securities we invest in may have market $ks means that a change in prevailing intergtsrmay cause the principal amount of the
investment to fluctuate.

Our investment exposure to market risk for chanmgésterest rates relates to the increase or deergethe amount of interest income we
can earn on our portfolio, changes in the markktevdue to changes in interest rates and otherehfaktors as well as the increase or deci
in any realized gains and losses. Our investmenttgbio includes only marketable securities andrmsents with active secondary or resale
markets to help ensure portfolio liquidity. A hypetical 100 basis point drop in interest rates glitne entire interest rate yield curve would
significantly affect the fair value of our interesnsitive financial instruments. We generally hiénesability to hold our fixed-income
investments to maturity and therefore do not exflettour operating results, financial positiorcash flows will be materially impacted due to
a sudden change in interest rates. However, ourdunvestment income may fall short of expectatidne to changes in interest rates, or we
may suffer losses in principal if forced to seltseties which have declined in market value duettanges in interest rates or other factors,
such as changes in credit risk related to the gegiissuers. To minimize this risk, we schedole investments to have maturities that
coincide with our expected cash flow needs, thusding the need to redeem an investment priorstaiturity date. Accordingly, we do not
believe that we have material exposure to intaegstrisk arising from our investments. Generailly;, investments are not collateralized. We
have not realized any significant losses from auestments.

We do not use interest rate derivative instrumemteanage exposure to interest rate changes. Weeethe safety and preservation of
invested principal funds by limiting default riskarket risk and reinvestment risk. We reduce defék by investing in investment grade
securities.

Foreign Currency Ris

In connection with the issuance by Royalty SuthefPhaRMA Notes, we entered into a Currency Hedgreément to hedge certain
risks associated with changes in the value of #padese yen relative to the U.S. dollar. UndeCimeency Hedge Agreement, we are require
to post collateral based on our potential obligagiander the Currency Hedge Agreement as deterrbingeriodic mark to market
adjustments. Provided the Currency Hedge Agreeneemtins in effect, we may be required to pay a pramin the amount of $2.0 million in
each year beginning in May 2014 and continuingugloMay 2020. Such payment will be required ifMay of the relevant year, the spot rate
of exchange for Japanese yen-U.S. dollars (detedrimaccordance with the Currency Hedge Agreenigst)ch that the U.S. dollar is worth
100 yen or less.
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ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA
BIOCRYST PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In thousands, except per share amounts)

December 31

2012 2011
ASSETS
Cash and cash equivale $ 20,89: $ 16,44«
Restricted cas 30¢ 62t
Investments 14,70¢ 25,27
Receivable! 4,562 5,831
Interest reserv — 1,74
Inventory — 263
Prepaid expenses and other current a: 1,097 37¢
Deferred collaboration expen 412 2,301
Total current asse 41,97¢ 52,85¢
Investments 1,151 15,38:
Furniture and equipment, n 583 1,09¢
Deferred collaboration expen 5,03: 5,431
Other asset 8,694 7,43:
Total asset $ 57,43¢ $ 82,20¢
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS ' EQUITY
Accounts payabl $ 3,97¢ $ 2,49
Accrued expense 9,86( 12,61¢
Interest payabl 1,99¢ 1,40(
Deferred collaboration reveni 1,392 9,78¢
Total current liabilities 17,22¢ 26,29¢
Deferred collaboration reveni 5,92( 7,10:
Foreign currency derivativ 4,74¢ 4,00(
Non-recourse notes payal 30,00( 30,00(
Stockholder' equity:
Preferred stock, $0.001 par value; shares auttlb— 5,000; no shares outstandi — —
Common stock, $0.01 par value; shares authorizé35;000; shares issued and outstanding — 50,89
2012 and 45,662 in 201 50¢ 457
Additional paic-in capital 391,61: 367,82¢
Accumulated other comprehensive inca 27 4C
Accumulated defici (392,60 (353,520
Total stockholder (deficit) equity (4549) 14,80¢
Total liabilities and stockholde’ equity $ 57,43¢ $ 82,20¢

See accompanying notes to consolidated financa#tistents.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

Revenues
Royalty revenus
Product sale

BIOCRYST PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Collaborative and other research and developi

Total revenue:
Expenses
Cost of products sol
Research and developmt
General and administrati
Royalty
Restructuring
Total operating expens
Loss from operation
Interest and other incon
Interest expens
Loss on foreign currency derivati
Net loss

Basic and diluted net loss per common sl
Weighted average shares outstanc
Unrealized loss on available for sale investm:

Comprehensive Los

See accompanying notes to consolidated financsdistents.
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Year Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010
$ 3317 $ — $ —
— — 32t
22,97¢ 19,64  62,05¢
26,29: 19,64 62,38
— — 86
51,46:  57,24¢ 83,90
6,82¢ 11,98: 11,71¢
132 — —
1,75¢ — 1,03¢
60,18°  69,23( 96,73t
(33,88)) (49,587  (34,35)
227 417 504
4,666 (3,779 —
(749 (4,000 —
(39,08) (56,949 (33,859
$ (079 $ (1.2 $ (0.70
49,47  4514¢ 44,56«
(13) (65) 131
$(39,099 $(57,01) $(33,72)
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BIOCRYST PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Year Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010
Operating activities:
Net loss $(39,08) $(56,94¢) $(33,85)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash usegerating activities
Depreciation, amortization, and impairm 62€ 88¢€ 2,261
Stocl-based compensation expel 4,16 4,772 6,30z
Amortization of debt issuance co: 43¢ 35€ —
Change in fair value of foreign currency derival 74¢ 4,00( —
Changes in operating assets and liabilit
Receivables from collaboratio 1,26¢ 24,39 3,49t
Inventory 263 63t 5,38:¢
Prepaid expenses and other as (623) 62€ 51
Deferred collaboration expen 2,301 1,30¢ (220
Accounts payable and accrued expei 2,06¢ (20,73) (9,487)
Deferred collaboration reven (9,577 (1,552 (2,499
Net cash used in operating activities (37,39) (32,25) (28,55%)
Investing activities:
Acquisition of furniture and equipme (113) (55) (325)
Change in restricted ca 317 — —
Purchases of investmer (16,157 (45,500 (55,909
Sales and maturities of investme 40,83: 56,87 56,45¢
Net cash provided by investing activities 24,88« 11,31¢ 221
Financing activities:
Sale of common stock, n 17,80¢ 1,025 —
Exercise of stock optior 534 27¢ 553
Employee stock purchase plan s¢ 321 30C 28¢
Purchases of treasury stc — (62) (5)
Issuance of nc-recourse notes payable, | — 25,69 —
Payment of foreign currency derivative collate (1,700 (3,480 —
Net cash provided by financing activities 16,96( 23,75t 831
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equiv: 4,44 2,82: (27,507)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of 16,44« 13,62: 41,12¢
Cash and cash equivalents at end of ye: $20,89. $16,44+ $13,62:

See accompanying notes to consolidated financsgistents.
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BIOCRYST PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Accumulated

Additional Other Total
Common Paid-In Comprehensive Accumulated Stockholders’
Stock Capital (Loss) Income Deficit Equity (Deficit)
Balance at December 31, 20C $ 43¢ $348,57: $ (26) $(262,719 $  86,26¢
Net loss — — — (33,859 (33,857
Other comprehensive incor — — 131 — 131
Exercise of stock options, 240 shares, 2 55C — — 552
Employee stock purchase plan sales, 51 st 1 282 — — 282
Issuance of common stock, 761 shares 8 5,81¢ — — 5,821
Purchases of treasury stock, 1 st — (5) — — (5)
Stocl-based compensation expel — 6,30z — — 6,30z
Balance at December 31, 201 45C 361,52( 10t (296,577 65,50
Net loss — — — (56,949 (56,949
Other comprehensive lo — — (65) — (65)
Exercise of stock options, 184 shares, 2 27¢€ — — 27¢
Employee stock purchase plan sales, 94 st 1 29¢ — — 30C
Issuance of common stock, 437 shares 4 1,02: — — 1,025
Purchases of treasury stock, 12 sh — (62) — — (62)
Stocl-based compensation expel — 4,77 — — 4,77
Balance at December 31, 2011 457 367,82 4C (353,52() 14,80¢
Net loss — — — (39,08) (39,08)
Other comprehensive lo — — (13 — (13
Exercise of stock options, 348 shares, 3 53€ — — 53¢
Employee stock purchase plan sales, 110 share 1 32C — — 321
Issuance of common stock, 4,774 shares 48 18,75¢ — — 18,80°
Stocl-based compensation expel — 4,16 — — 4,16
Balance at December 31, 201 $ 50¢ $391,61: $ 27 $(392,60)) $ (459

See accompanying notes to consolidated financsdistents.
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BIOCRYST PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Note 1 — Significant Accounting Policies
The Company

BioCryst Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (the “Company”) lsietechnology company that designs, optimizesdmalops novel drugs that block
key enzymes involved in the pathogenesis of diseadated to therapeutic areas with unmet medieadls aligned with its capabilities and
expertise. The Company was incorporated in Delawat®86 and its headquarters is located in Durhdonth Carolina. The Company
integrates the disciplines of biology, crystallqgrg, medicinal chemistry and computer modelingiscaver and develop small molecule
pharmaceuticals through the process known as ateiguided drug design. BioCryst has incurred lessel negative cash flows from
operations since inception.

The Company has undergone two recent restructuringse fourth quarter of 2012, it implementecdeatructuring plan to significantly
reduce its cost structure in response to setbaciks developmental programs. In the fourth quasfe2010, it implemented a restructuring plan
to consolidate its core facilities and move itsdwgearters to Durham, North Carolina. Based onutsent operating plans, the Company
expects it has sufficient liquidity, with its exigg cash and investments of $37,058, to contirsiplénned operations into the second quarter ¢
2014. The Company’s liquidity needs, and abilityatitiress those needs, will largely be determinehédpuccess of its product candidates an
key development and regulatory events in the futimrerder to continue its operations substantiaéyond mid-2014 it will need to:

(1) successfully secure or increase U.S. Governfioenting of its programs; (2) out-license rightsctatain of its product candidates, pursuant
to which the Company would receive cash milesto(@s;aise additional capital through equity or diéfiancings or from other sources;

(4) obtain product candidate regulatory approwatich would generate revenue and cash flow; ()cedspending on one or more research
and development programs; and/or (6) restructuegatipns. The Company will continue to incur opi@gtosses and negative cash flows unti
revenues reach a level sufficient to support orgojperations.

Basis of Presentation

Beginning in March 2011, the consolidated finanstatements include the accounts of the Companytamdolly-owned subsidiary,
JPR Royalty Sub LLC (“Royalty Sub”Royalty Sub was formed in connection with a $30,8088ncing transaction the Company complete:
March 9, 2011. See Note 3, Royalty Monetizationadurther description of this transaction. Altercompany transactions and balances havi
been eliminated.

The Company’s financial statements became condetidaeginning in March 2011 with the creation of/Rlty Sub, and have been
prepared in accordance with accounting principkrsegally accepted in the United States. Such fiaastatements reflect all adjustments that
are, in management’s opinion, necessary to préalyt in all material respects, the Company’saficial position, results of operations, and
cash flows. There were no adjustments other thamalaecurring adjustments.

Reclassifications

During the second quarter of 2012, the Company @baiits classification of facilities costs and otbests directly related to its
laboratory facility in Birmingham, Alabama from gegmal and administrative expense to research anglal@went expense. This change resi
in $351 of expenses being reclassified from gerardladministrative expense to research and davelopexpense in 2011. This
reclassification had no effect on previously repdrboperating expenses or net loss amounts.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company generally considers cash equivaleris &l cash held in commercial checking accountsey market accounts or
investments in debt instruments with maturitietho€ée months or less at the time of purchase. almgiog value of cash and cash equivalents
approximates fair value due to the short-term matifithese items.

Restricted Cash

Restricted cash as of December 31, 2012 include8 @525 as of December 31, 2011) that the Comjsargquired to maintain in an
interest bearing money market account to servelketeral for a corporate credit card program. Tdrmaining $8 in restricted cash for
December 31, 2012 relates to royalty receipts pgi8hionogi & Co. Ltd. (“Shionogi”) designated fioterest on the PhaRMA Notes (see in
Note 3).

Investments

The Company invests in high credit quality investtsen accordance with its investment policy, whigkdesigned to minimize the
possibility of loss. The objective of the Companiyigestment policy is to ensure the safety andgwedion of invested funds, as well as
maintaining liquidity sufficient to meet cash flawquirements. The Company places its excess cdbtigh credit quality financial
institutions, commercial companies, and governrageincies in order to limit the amount of its crediposure. Per its policy, the Company is
able to invest in marketable debt securities thay oonsist of U.S. government and government agsecyrities, money market and mutual
fund investments, municipal and corporate notestamdis, commercial paper and asset or mor-backec



54



Table of Contents

BIOCRYST PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Conti nued)
(In thousands, except per share amounts)

securities, among others. The Company'’s investpelity requires it to purchase high-quality markdg¢asecurities with a maximum
individual maturity of three years and requiresasarage portfolio maturity of no more than 18 mentbome of the securities the Company
invests in may have market risk. This means tledtzenge in prevailing interest rates may cause tineipal amount of the investment to
fluctuate. To minimize this risk, the Company salied its investments with maturities that coincidth expected cash flow needs, thus
avoiding the need to redeem an investment pridstmaturity date. Accordingly, the Company doesbw®lieve it has a material exposure to
interest rate risk arising from its investmentsn@ally, the Company’s investments are not colidized. The Company has not realized any
significant losses from its investments.

The Company classifies all of its investments aslalile-for-sale. Unrealized gains and losses sastments are recognized in
comprehensive income/(loss), unless an unrealzEslis considered to be other than temporary, iolhwtase the unrealized loss is charged tc
operations. The Company periodically reviews itestments for other than temporary declines inaiue below cost basis and whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate tieatdtrying amount of an asset may not be recowerdhble Company believes the individual
unrealized losses represent temporary declinesaplimesulting from interest rate changes. Redligains and losses are reflected in interest
and other income in the Consolidated Statemen@oaiprehensive Loss and are determined using ttoffisgdentification method with
transactions recorded on a settlement date basisstments with original maturities at date of pase beyond three months and which matur
at or less than 12 months from the balance sheéetada classified as current. Investments with aritg beyond 12 months from the balance
sheet date are classified as long-term. At Dece®bgP012, the Company believes that the costis @fivestments are recoverable in all
material respects.

The following tables summarize the fair value ¢ @ompany’s investments by type. The estimated/&dire of the Company'’s fixed
income investments are classified as Level 2 irfdfrevalue hierarchy as defined in U.S. GAAP wtitle exception of U.S. Treasury securities,
which are classified as Level 1. These valuatiorshased on observable direct and indirect inguiarily quoted prices of similar, but not
identical, instruments in active markets or quqigdes for identical or similar instruments in metkthat are not active. These fair values are
obtained from independent pricing services whidlizetLevel 2 inputs.

December 31, 201

Gross Gross

Amortized Accrued Unrealizec Unrealized Estimated

Cost Interest Gains Losses Fair Value

U.S. Treasury securities $ 99¢ $ 2 $ 2 $ — $ 1,00
Obligations of U.S. government and its agen 3,50¢ 6 2 — 3,51z
Corporate debt securitis 4,03t 22 6 — 4,06:
Commercial pape 1,69t — 1 — 1,69¢
Municipal obligations 5,541 27 1€ — 5,58¢
Total investment $15,77¢ $ 57 $ 27 $ — $15,85¢
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BIOCRYST PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Conti nued)
(In thousands, except per share amounts)

December 31, 201

Gross Gross

Amortized Accrued Unrealized Unrealized Estimated

Cost Interest Gains Losses Fair Value

U.S. Treasury securities $ 1,99¢ $ 2 $ 14 $ — $ 2,014
Obligations of U.S. government and its agen 5,00( 10 — — 5,01(
Corporate debt securitis 10,92 80 15 (9) 11,01(
Commercial pape 10,93¢ — 2 (D) 10,94(
Asse-backed securitie 611 — — — 611
Certificate of deposi 801 1 — — 80z
Municipal obligations 10,18: 68 21 (2 10,26¢
Total investment $40,45¢ $ 161 $ 52 $ (12 $40,65¢

The following table summarizes the scheduled migtfior the Company’s investments at December 3122ihd 2011.

2012 2011
Maturing in one year or less $14,70¢ $25,27+
Maturing after one year through two ye 1,151 14,62¢
Maturing after two year — 754
Total investment $15,85¢ $40,65¢

Receivable:

Receivables are recorded for amounts due to thep@oynrelated to reimbursable research and develoipoosts from the U.S.
Department of Health and Human Services or royaitgivables from Shionogi & Co. Ltd. These recelealare evaluated to determine if any
reserve or allowance should be established atrepahiting date. At December 31, 2012 and 2011Cihmpany had the following receivables.

December 31, 201,

Billed Unbilled Total
U.S. Department of Health and Human Services $ 15C $3,88¢ $4,03¢
Shionogi & Co. Ltd. 524 — 524
Total receivable $ 674 $3,88¢ $4,56:

December 31, 201

Billed Unbilled Total
U.S. Department of Health and Human Services $1,14¢ $4,68: $5,82¢
Shionogi & Co. Ltd. 2 — 2
Total receivable $1,14¢ $4,68:¢ $5,831

Monthly invoices are submitted to the U.S. Deparhw Health and Human Services Biomedical AdvarRedearch and Development
Authority (“BARDA/HHS") related to reimbursable research and developmeis.cbhe Company is also entitled to monthly reirebment o
indirect costs based on rates stipulated in theryidg contract. The Compargytalculations of its indirect cost rates are sttije audit by thi
federal government.
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BIOCRYST PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Conti nued)
(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Inventory

At December 31, 2012 and 2011, the Company’s imrgrdonsisted of peramivir finished goods inventang supplies for the
manufacture of peramivir. Inventory is stated atlttwer of cost, determined under the first-instiiout (“FIFO”) method, or market. The
Company expenses costs related to the productioventories as research and development expemsles period incurred until such time it
is believed that future economic benefit is expéttebe recognized, which generally is reliant upseeipt of regulatory approval. Upon
regulatory approval, the Company capitalizes sulbsejcosts related to the production of inventories

During 2011, based on the annual variability ofuahza, which impacts potential clinical and comeredrdemand and timing for
peramivir administration, as well as the coststémesand maintain supplies, the Company decideddonomic reasons to reduce its supplies
inventory. During the fourth quarter of 2012, imoection with the termination of the peramivir Rih&s301 clinical trial, the Company decic
to reserve the remaining balance of its supplieentory for the manufacture of peramivir.

The Company’s inventory consisted of the following:

As of December 31

2012 2011
Supplies $ 262 $ 89¢
Finished good 3,98( 3,98(
Reserve for finished goods and supp (4,249 (4,619
Net inventories $ — $ 267

Furniture and Equipment

Furniture and equipment are recorded at cost. Reiien is computed using the straight-line methaith estimated useful lives of five
and seven years. Laboratory equipment, office eqeif, and software are depreciated over a lifévefyfears. Furniture and fixtures are
depreciated over a life of seven years. Leasehgiddvements are amortized over their estimatedulbeés or the remaining lease term,
whichever is less.

In accordance with generally accepted accountimgiples, the Company periodically reviews its fiture and equipment for impairme
when events or changes in circumstances indicatehb carrying amount of such assets may notdmvegable. Determination of
recoverability is based on an estimate of undistmifuture cash flows resulting from the use ofdahset and its eventual disposition. In the
event that such cash flows are not expected taffieient to recover the carrying amount of theedssthe assets are written down to their
estimated fair values. Furniture and equipmenetdibposed of are reported at the lower of carrgimgunt or fair value less cost to sell.

Patents and Licenses

The Company seeks patent protection on all intgri@lveloped processes and products. All pateateélcosts are expensed to researcl
development expenses when incurred as recoveyadiilguch expenditures is uncertain.

Accrued Expenses

The Company generally enters into contractual agesgs with third-party vendors who provide reseantt development,
manufacturing, and other services in the ordinayrse of business. Some of these contracts arectubjmilestone-based invoicing and
services are completed over an extended periddchef The Company records liabilities under thesgre@tual commitments when it
determines an obligation has been incurred, regssdif the timing of the invoice. This process lags reviewing open contracts and purchas
orders, communicating with applicable Company pemsbto identify
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services that have been performed on its behalkatithating the level of service performed andas®ociated cost incurred for the service
when the Company has not yet been invoiced or wikemotified of actual cost. The majority of seevproviders invoice the Company
monthly in arrears for services performed. The Canypmakes estimates of accrued expenses as obakite sheet date in its financial
statements based on the facts and circumstancesCdimpany periodically confirms the accuracy ok&timates with the service providers
makes adjustments if necessary. Examples of estthatcrued expenses include:

. fees paid to Clinical Research Organizations (“CR@sconnection with preclinical and toxicologyusties and clinical
trials;

. fees paid to investigative sites in connection withical trials;

. fees paid to contract manufacturers in connectibh tlie production of our raw materials, drug sahse and drug
products; ant

. professional fees

The Company bases its expenses related to climiakd on its estimates of the services receivatiedforts expended pursuant to
contracts with multiple research institutions atidical research organizations that conduct andagarclinical trials on the Company’s behalf.
The financial terms of these agreements are sutgjettgotiation, vary from contract to contract amaly result in uneven payment flows.
Payments under some of these contracts depenatimmsauch as the successful enrollment of patemisthe completion of clinical trial
milestones. In accruing service fees, the Compatignates the time period over which services wéllgerformed and the level of effort
expended in each period. If the actual timing ef plerformance of services or the level of efforiasmfrom the estimate, the Company will
adjust the accrual accordingly. Accrued expensed Becember 31, 2012 and 2011 included $6,57338r8P22, respectively, of research and
development costs.

Income Taxes

The liability method is used in the Company’s asdmg for income taxes. Under this method, defeteedassets and liabilities are
determined based on differences between finaneadrting and tax bases of assets and liabilitielsame measured using the enacted tax rates
and laws that are expected to be in effect whenliffierences are expected to reverse.

Accumulated Other Comprehensive (Loss) Income

Accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income smesed of unrealized gains and losses on invegsvamilable-for-sale and is
disclosed as a separate component of stockholeguity.

Revenue Recognition

The Company recognizes revenues from collaboratikother research and development arrangemenizrasidct sales. Revenue is
realized or realizable and earned when all of tiewing criteria are met: (i) persuasive evidenf@an arrangement exists; (ii) delivery has
occurred or services have been rendered; (iiigétker’s price to the buyer is fixed or determirgalaind (iv) collectability is reasonably assured

Collaborative and Other Research and Developmeragements and Royalties

Revenue from license fees, royalty payments, epayinents, and research and development fees aigniezed as revenue when the
earnings process is complete and the Company hasther continuing performance obligations or @@mpany has completed the
performance obligations under the terms of theeagent. Fees received under licensing agreemertartheelated to future performance are
deferred and recognized over an estimated peritetrdaned by management based on the terms of tieemgnt and the products licensed. In
the event a license agreement contains multipieaetebles, the Company evaluates whether the daldles are separate or combined units of
accounting. Revisions to revenue or profit estimai® a result of changes in the estimated revesnigdpare recognized prospectively.

Under certain of our license agreements, the Cognpegeives royalty payments based upon our lices\sext sales of covered products.
Generally, under these agreements, the Companiyesa®yalty reports from our licensees approxilyab@e quarter in arrears, that is,
generally in the second month of the quarter dftedicensee has sold the royalty-bearing prodilme. Company recognizes royalty revenues
when it can reliably estimate such amounts anectlbility is reasonably assured.
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Royalty revenue paid by Shionogi on their prodad¢s is subject to returns. Prior to the third ¢praof 2012, the Company did not have
sufficient historical experience to reasonablyreate product returns and therefore could not redsgnmecord the underlying revenue. As of
the end of the second quarter of 2012, the Comgaferred recognition of all RAPIACTA royalty revemfrom Shionogi sales in 2011 and
the first six months of 2012. During the third giearof 2012, and after the completion of the 20012flu season in Japan, the Company
obtained sufficient historical information to reaably estimate product returns and recognized tpyavenue of $2,848, net of an allowance
for estimated returns. During the fourth quarte2@12, the Company recognized royalty revenue 6D$for a total of $3,317 in 2012.
Prospectively, the Company expects to have suffigiformation to recognize royalty revenue on artgrly basis, net of an allowance for
estimated returns.

Reimbursements received for direct out-of-pock@emses related to research and development cestscarded as revenue in the
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Lossrrithe as a reduction in expenses. Event paymeatgeognized as revenue upon the
achievement of specified events if (1) the evestisstantive in nature and the achievement of\ithatevas not reasonably assured at the
inception of the agreement and (2) the fees arerefumdable and non-creditable. Any event paymesdsived prior to satisfying these criteria
are recorded as deferred revenue. Under the Corigpemmytract with BARDA/HHS, revenue is recognizedraimbursable direct and indirect
costs are incurred.

Product Sales

Sales are recognized when there is persuasivermgdbat an arrangement exists, title has padsegyice was fixed and determinable,
and collectability is reasonably assured. Prodaletssare recognized net of estimated allowancespdits, sales returns, chargebacks and
rebates. Product sales recognized during 2010 magrsubject to a contractual right of return.
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The Company recorded the following revenues foryders ended December 31.:

2012 2011 2010
Royalty revenue $ 3,315 $ — $ —
Product sales
NT Pharma Limited (Hong Kong — — 25C
Other — — 75
Total product sale — — 32t
Collaborative and other research and developme&ehres
U.S. Department of Health and Human Serv 14,02¢ 17,09¢ 42,53(
Shionogi (Japar 1,18¢ 1,181 15,93t
Mundipharma (United Kingdorr 7,76¢€ 1,27 1,86(
Grants (United State: — 86 97¢
Other — — 75¢
Total collaborative and other research and devetoprevenue 22,97¢ 19,64 62,05¢
Total revenue: $26,29! $19,64! $62,38:

Research and Development Expenses

The Company'’s research and development costs argaihto expense when incurred. Research and geweid expenses include all
direct and indirect development costs related ¢odivelopment of the Compasyportfolio of product candidates. Advance paymémtgoods
or services that will be used or rendered for fitesearch and development activities are defamdctapitalized. Such amounts are recogi
as expense when the related goods are delivertbe oelated services are performed. Research aradogenent expenses include, among o
items, personnel costs, including salaries andftisnmanufacturing costs, clinical, regulatorydanxicology services performed by CROs,
materials and supplies, and overhead allocationsisting of various administrative and facilitiedated costs. Most of the Company’s
manufacturing and clinical and preclinical studies performed by third-party CROs. Costs for stsigherformed by CROs are accrued by the
Company over the service periods specified in trgracts and estimates are adjusted, if requiresgdupon the Company’s on-going review
of the level of services actually performed.

Additionally, the Company has license agreements third parties, such as Albert Einstein Colle§®ledicine of Yeshiva University
(“AECOM"), Industrial Research, Ltd. (“IRL"), andhé University of Alabama at Birmingham (“UAB”), wdti requires fees related to
sublicense agreements or maintenance fees. The &gneppenses sublicense payments as incurred uhsare related to revenues that
have been deferred, in which case the expenseetared and recognized over the related reveraggrition period. The Company expenses
maintenance payments as incurred.

Deferred collaboration expenses represent subdeepayments, paid to the Company’s academic partiem receipt of consideration
from various commercial partners, and other comaiit paid to our academic partners for modifimatio existing license agreements. These
deferred expenses would not have been incurredutitteceipt of such payments or modifications fith Company’s commercial partners
and are being expensed in proportion to the releeeinue being recognized. The Company believeghtsaaccounting treatment
appropriately matches expenses with the assodiatesue.

Stock-Based Compensation

All share-based payments, including grants of stiation awards and restricted stock awards, agrezed in the Company’s
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss lmas#tkir fair values. The fair value of stock optiawards is estimated using the Black-
Scholes option pricing model. The fair value otrieged stock awards is based on the grant dasinggrice of the common stock. Stooése:
compensation cost is recognized as expense oaighdtline basis over the requisite service pedbthe award.
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Interest Expense and Deferred Financing Costs

Interest expense for the years ended Decembe032,&nhd 2011 was $4,666 and $3,774, respectivetyrelates to the issuance of the
PhaRMA Notes. Costs directly associated with teaasce of the PhaRMA Notes have been capitalizécdenincluded in other non-current
assets on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Thetseare being amortized to interest expense oedetim of the PhaRMA Notes using the
effective interest rate method. Amortization ofeteé¢d financing costs included in interest expdoséhe years ended December 31, 2012 anc
2011 was $439 and $356, respectively.

Currency Hedge Agreement

In connection with the issuance by Royalty SuthefPhaRMA Notes, the Company entered into a Cuyrelecige Agreement to hedge
certain risks associated with changes in the valibe Japanese yen relative to the U.S. dollae. Thrrency Hedge Agreement does not
qualify for hedge accounting treatment; therefoeekrto market adjustments are recognized in thegamy's Consolidated Statements of
Comprehensive Loss. Cumulative mark to market adiests for the years ended December 31, 2012 ahtlr28ulted in a loss of $749 and
$4,000, respectively. Mark to market adjustmengsdatermined by a third party pricing model whislesiquoted prices in markets that are no
actively traded and for which significant inputg @bservable directly or indirectly, representirayél 2 in the fair value hierarchy as defined
by generally accepted accounting principles. Thea@any is also required to post collateral in cotioeowith the mark to market adjustments
based on defined thresholds. As of December 312 a6d 2011, $5,180 and $3,480 of hedge collatezalposted under the agreement,
respectively.

Restructuring Activities

During the fourth quarter of 2012, the Company amoed a restructuring plan in response to sethiadks development programs. For
example, the Company terminated its 301 peramivarse 3 clinical trial and will conduct meetings aligtussions with government and
regulatory agencies to determine the future ofptegram. Also, the Company withdrew its BCX5191dstigational New Drug application
due to regulatory concerns. The Company ultimatiyinated the BXC5191 program and does not interpirsue future development. The
restructuring plan was implemented to significaméigluce the Company’s cost structure and scalertfanization appropriately for its current
portfolio and operations. In connection with thiarg the Company recognized restructuring cos&lof59, consisting of one-time termination
benefits and charges related to vacant office space

During the fourth quarter of 2010, the Company amoed a restructuring plan to consolidate cordifi@si and outsource non-core
activities. In connection with this plan, the Compaecognized approximately $302 in one-time teation benefits, of which approximately
$144 was expensed in 2010 and the remaining balsasexpensed in 2011. The Company also recogajzeximately $890 in accelerated
depreciation during the fourth quarter of 2010ffeed assets no longer used by the Company.

The following table sets forth activity in the negituring liability for the years ended Decembey 2012, 2011 and 2010.

Employee Facilities
separatior
related
costs charges Total
Balance at December 31, 2009 $ — $ — $ —
Accruals 15¢€ — 158
Payment: — — —
Balance at December 31, 20 15¢€ — 158
Payment: (15¢) — (15€)
Balance at December 31, 20 — — —
Accruals 1,662 97 1,75¢
Payment: (58) — (58)
Balance at December 31, 20 $ 1,60« $ 97 $1,701

Net Loss Per Share

Net loss per share is based upon the weighted g&zenamber of common shares outstanding duringehiegh Diluted loss per share is
equivalent to basic net loss per share for allqusripresented herein because common equivalemssinam unexercised stock options,
outstanding warrants, and common shares expecteg issued under the Company’s employee stock psecplan were anti-dilutive. The
calculation of diluted earnings per share for tharg ended December 31, 2012, 2011, and 2010 dbextude 6,172, 5,681, and 4,043,

respectively, of potential common shares, as thgiact would be anti-dilutive.
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Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conftymiith accounting principles generally acceptethi@ United States (“U.S. GAAP”)
requires the Company to make estimates and assumjitiat affect the amounts reported in the firelrstatements. Actual results could differ
from those estimates.

Concentration of Market Risk

The Company’s primary source of revenue that hashaerlying cash flow stream is reimbursement oapévir development expenses,
which was earned under the cost-plus-fixed-feeraohtvith BARDA/HHS. The Company relies on BARDA/ISHo reimburse predominantly
all of the development costs for its peramivir peog. Accordingly, reimbursement of these expenspsesents a significant portion of the
Company’s collaborative and other research andldprent revenues. The completion or terminatiothisf program/collaboration could
negatively impact the Company’s future Consolidegtatements of Comprehensive Loss and Cash Flovegldition, the Company also
recognizes royalty revenue from the net sales dPRETA ; however, the underlying cash flow from skeeoyalty payments goes directly to
pay the interest, and then the principal, on them@any’s non-recourse notes payable. Payment dhtbeest and the ultimate repayment of
principal of these notes will be entirely fundedfbture royalty payments derived from net saleRAPIACTA. The Company'’s drug
development activities are performed by a limiteolug of third party vendors. If any of these versdeere unable to perform their services,
this could significantly impact the Company’s alilio complete its drug development activities.

Credit Risk

Cash equivalents and investments are financialum&nts which potentially subject the Company tecemtration of risk to the extent
recorded on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Thgp&uy deposits excess cash with major financiditin®ns in the United States. Balant
may exceed the amount of insurance provided on depbsits. The Company believes it has establigh@&tlines for investment of its excess
cash relative to diversification and maturitiest ttmaintain safety and liquidity. To minimize thep@sure due to adverse shifts in interest rates
the Company maintains a portfolio of investmentthwain average maturity of approximately 24 monthiess. This majority of the Compaisy’
receivables are due from BARDA/HHS, for which ther@o assumed credit risk.

Note 2 — Furniture and Equipment
Furniture and equipment consisted of the followatdecember 31:

2012 2011
Furniture and fixtures $ 59€ $ 59¢
Office equipmen 1,48¢ 1,50C
Software 1,421 1,40¢
Laboratory equipmer 6,05( 6,03:
Leased equipmel 63 63
Leasehold improvemen 5,31¢ 5,261

14,93: 14,86¢
Less accumulated depreciation and amortize (14,349 (13,770
Furniture and equipment, n $ 58: $ 1,09¢

Depreciation and amortization expense for the yeaded December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010 was $888,dhd $2,267, respectively.

Note 3— Royalty Monetization
Overview

On March 9, 2011, the Company completed a $30,@B@M¢ing transaction to monetize certain futureattyyand milestone payments
under the Shionogi Agreement, pursuant to whiclo®igi licensed from the Company the rights to maR&PIACTA in Japan and, if
approved for commercial sale, Taiwan. The Compaogived net proceeds of $22,691 from the trangaefi@r transaction costs of $4,309
the establishment of a $3,000 interest reserveuastdry Royalty Sub, available to help cover intestmrtfalls in the future. All of the interest
reserve account has been fully utilized throughmpayt of the September 2012 interest payment. A3egckbmber 31, 2012, approximately $:
of interest due at September 1, 2012 is in arrears.
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As part of the transaction, the Company enteregarpurchase and sale agreement dated as of Ma2€ii ® with Royalty Sub, whereby
the Company transferred to Royalty Sub, among dttiegs, (i) its rights to receive certain royadtyd milestone payments from Shionogi
arising under the Shionogi Agreement, and (ii)rigat to receive payments under a Japanese yerdls tbreign currency hedge arrangen
(as further described below, the “Currency HedgesAment”) put into place by the Company in conmactiith the transaction. Royalty
payments will be paid by Shionogi in Japanese yehmailestone payments will paid in U.S. dollarseT®ompany’s collaboration with
Shionogi was not impacted as a result of this tasn.

Non-Recourse Notes Payable

On March 9, 2011, Royalty Sub completed a privédegment to institutional investors of $30,000 ggieegate principal amount of its
PhaRMA Senior Secured 14.0% Notes due 2020 (thaRRtA Notes”). The PhaRMA Notes were issued by Rigy&ub under an Indenture,
dated as of March 9, 2011 (the “Indenture”), by Betlveen Royalty Sub and U.S. Bank National Asginciaas Trustee. Principal and interesi
on the PhaRMA Notes issued are payable from, amdegured by, the rights to royalty and milestamgngents under the Shionogi Agreement
transferred by the Company to Royalty Sub and paysaé& any, made to Royalty Sub under the Currdiegige Agreement. The PhaRMA
Notes bear interest at 14% per annum, payable dpiniarrears on Septemberstof each year, beginning on September 1, 2011 @agrhen
Date”). The Company remains entitled to receive myplties and milestone payments related to s#lpsramivir by Shionogi following
repayment of the PhaRMA Notes.

Royalty Sub’s obligations to pay principal and et on the PhaRMA Notes are obligations solelRafalty Sub and are without
recourse to any other person, including the Compaxgept to the extent of the Company’s pledgésoéduity interests in Royalty Sub in
support of the PhaRMA Notes. The Company may, bt obligated to, make capital contributions tapital account that may be used to
redeem, or on up to one occasion pay any intehestfall on, the PhaRMA Notes.

Prorated interest expense for the first Paymeng Bavering the period March 9, 2011 through the&aper 1, 2011 totaled $2,018.
Payment of such interest was made through $760yalty payments collected from Shionogi and a 88 @&wdown from the interest reser
account. Interest expense for the second PaymeatiD&eptember 2012 totaled $4,200. Partial paymiethis amount was paid in September
2012 totaling $3,628, consisting of royalty paynserdllected from Shionogi of $1,886 and the rermgjialance of the interest reserve acc
of $1,742. This payment resulted in an interesttshlbof $572 from the total interest amount dunel gayable of $4,200. As stipulated under
the PhaRMA Notes Indenture, if the amounts avadldtt payment on any Payment Date are insuffidieipay all of the interest due on a
Payment Date, unless sufficient capital is contgduo Royalty Sub by the Company as permitted utigelndenture or the interest reserve
account is available to make such payment, thefsitian interest will accrue interest at the irget rate applicable to the PhaRMA Notes
compounded annually. Accordingly, commencing int8eyoer 2012, the Company began accruing interdstltper annum on the interest
shortfall of $572. Under the terms of the Indentieyalty Sub’s inability to pay the full amountioterest payable in September 2012 did no
constitute an event of default under the PhaRMAeNeinless Royalty Sub fails to pay such unpaidésteplus interest thereon, on or prior to
the next succeeding Payment Date for the PhaRMA&$ethich is September 1, 2013.

The Indenture does not contain any financial com&na he Indenture includes customary representafod warranties of Royalty Sub,
affirmative and negative covenants of Royalty StNents of Default and related remedies, and pronssregarding the duties of the Trustee,
indemnification of the Trustee, and other mattgpscal for indentures used in structured financiogthis type.

As of December 31, 2012, the aggregate fair vafubeoPhaRMA Notes approximates its carrying valti#30,000. The estimated fair
value of the PhaRMA Notes is classified as Leviel the fair value hierarchy as defined in U.S. GAAP

Beginning on March 9, 2012, the PhaRMA Notes becsrdeemable by Royalty Sub. Accordingly, the PhaRNbes will be
redeemable at the option of Royalty Sub at any tiree redemption price equal to the percentagkeeobtitstanding principal balance of the
PhaRMA Notes being redeemed specified below fop#réd in which the redemption occurs, plus actraied unpaid interest through the
redemption date on the PhaRMA Notes being redeemed.

Redemptior
Payment Dates (Between Indicated Date Percentage
From and including March 9, 2012 to and includingrivsh 8, 2013 107.(%
From and including March 9, 2013 to and includingrith 8, 201« 103.5%
From and including March 9, 2014 and therez 100.(%
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Foreign Currency Hedg

In connection with the issuance by Royalty SubhefPhaRMA Notes, the Company entered into a Cuyrelecige Agreement to hedge
certain risks associated with changes in the valube Japanese yen relative to the U.S. dolladddithe Currency Hedge Agreement, the
Company has the right to purchase dollars and/ealkt a rate of 100 yen per dollar for which tlerPany may be required to pay a premium
in each year from 2014 through 2020, provided theréhcy Hedge Agreement remains in effect. A payro€f1,950 will be required if, on
May 18 of the relevant year, the U.S. dollar is tvdrO0 yen or less as determined in accordancethdtiCurrency Hedge Agreement.

The Currency Hedge Agreement does not qualify &alge accounting treatment; therefore mark to matiistments are recognized in
the Company’s Consolidated Statement of Compretienhsiss. Cumulative mark to market adjustmentit22and 2011 resulted in a loss of
$749 and $4,000, respectively. The Company isrguoired to post collateral in connection with thark to market adjustments based on
defined thresholds. As of December 31, 2012 and 263,180 and $3,480 respectively, were postedruthéeCurrency Hedge Agreement.
Company will not be required at any time to postateral exceeding the maximum premium paymentsargimg payable under the Currency
Hedge Agreement. Subject to certain obligationg@bmpany has in connection with the PhaRMA Notes,Gompany has the right to
terminate the Currency Hedge Agreement with resjoettte 2016 through 2020 period by giving notcéhte counterparty prior to May 18,
2014 and payment of a $1,950 termination fee.df@ompany terminates the hedge agreement withaetgpeurrency hedges for 2016 thro
2020, the maximum obligation under the currencygleed $5,850, including the $1,950 termination fee.

Note 4 — Lease Obligations and Other Contingencies
The Company has the following minimum payments uogerating lease obligations that existed at Déxear31, 2012:

2013 $1,01%
2014 1,04¢
2015 37C
Total minimum payment $2,431

The obligations in the preceding table are prigaglated to the Company’s leases for buildingBiitmingham, Alabama and Durham,
North Carolina. The lease for the building in Alatmexpires June 30, 2015 and has an option to raneadditional five years at the curn
market rate on the date of termination. The leas¢hie building in Durham, North Carolina expiresd@mber 31, 2014. Rent expense for
operating leases was $629, $714, and $771 in 2012, and 2010, respectively.

Note 5 — Stockholders’ Equity

In June 2011, the Company entered into an At Mddtance Sales Agreement (the “ATM Agreement’hwitcNicoll, Lewis & Vlak
(“MLV”) pursuant to which the Company may issue &l $70,000 in shares of its common stock atesurmarket prices under a Form S-3
registration statement with MLV acting as the salgent. Subject to the terms and conditions oAfhil Agreement, MLV will use
commercially reasonable efforts to sell the Comfmogmmon stock from time to time, based upon then@any’s instruction, including any
price, time or size limits or other customary paggens or conditions the Company may impose. Thegaomwill pay MLV an aggregate
commission rate of 2% or 3% of the gross proceédseosales price per share of any common stoakwadler the ATM Agreement depending
on the number of shares sold. On June 28, 201 ahgpany filed a Registration Statement on Form &kich became effective on July 13,
2011, for the issuance and sale of up to $70,0@@oity or other securities. During 2011, the Conypsold an aggregate of 437 shares of
common stock at an average per share price of $8r6%t proceeds of $1,027. During 2012, the Camsold an aggregate of 4,516 share
common stock at an average per share price of $ufiant to the ATM Agreement for net proceed$1af,805.

On March 15, 2012, the Company issued 193 shanesstsfcted common stock in lieu of a cash payneeimployees as payment for
their annual incentive award earned in 2011. Thaber of shares issued was based on the total ghlixe annual incentive earned in 2011 of
$1,542, less $535 in withholding taxes paid in aaislthe employees’ behalf, divided by the closingnmon stock price on March 15, 2012 of
$5.23 per share.
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In May 2010, the Company entered into an amendtoethie License Agreement dated June 27, 2000,ksequently amended (the
“License Agreement”), by and among the Company/AEG@OM and IRL (the “Licensors”). The amendment figit amended the License
Agreement through which the Company obtained waddvexclusive rights to develop and ultimately mistte any product candidates that
might arise from research on a series of PNP itdriiincluding forodesine and ulodesine. Underténms of the amendment, the Licensors
agreed to accept a reduction of one-half in thegrage of future payments received from thirdypaub licensees of the licensed PNP
inhibitors that must be paid to the Licensors. Teiduction does not apply to (i) any milestone pegta the Company may receive in the fu
under its license agreement dated February 1, @8Viundipharma International Holdings Limited (tMdipharma”) and (ii) royalties
received from the Company’s sub licensees in caiorewith the sale of licensed products, for whilkh original payment rate will remain in
effect. The rate of royalty payments to the Liceadmased on net sales of any resulting product rhgdlee Company remains unchanged.

In consideration for the modifications to the liseragreement, the Company issued to the Licenkarsssof its common stock with an
aggregate value of $5,827 and paid the Licensdsr$Bash. The Company deferred the value of thisicleration and is amortizing to
research and development expense through Sept@®®érwhich is the date of expiration of the lasekpire patent related to this agreement
Additionally, at the Company’s sole option and gabjto certain agreed upon conditions, any futare-moyalty payments due to be paid by the
Company to the Licensors under the License Agreémay be made either in cash, in shares of its comstock, or in a combination of cash
and shares.

Note 6 — Stock-Based Compensation
Stock Incentive Plan

As of December 31, 2012, the Company had two shased employee compensation plans, the Stock imed®ian (“Incentive Plan”)
and the Employee Stock Purchase Plan (“ESPP”), Whtth were amended and restated in March 2012ppcbved by the Company’s
stockholders in May 2012. During 2007, the Compemaygle an inducement grant outside of the Incentiae 8nd ESPP to recruit a new
employee to a key position within the Company. Btbased compensation expense of $4,167 ($4,01%pehse related to the Incentive Plan,
$157 of expense related to the ESPP) was recogdimény 2012, while $4,772 ($4,589 of expense eelab the Incentive Plan, $146 of
expense related to the ESPP and $37 of expensedétathe inducement grant) was recognized di&didl, and $6,302 ($5,961 of expense
related to the Incentive Plan, $192 of expenseaelt the ESPP, and $149 of expense related todneement grant) was recognized during
2010.

Under the Incentive Plan, the Company may gramksoption awards and restricted stock awards teritployees, directors, and
consultants. Stock option awards are granted witbxercise price equal to the market price of tben@anys stock at the date of grant. Prio
March 1, 2011, stock option awards granted to eygae generally vest 25% after one year and motftkeleafter on a pro rata basis over the
next three years until fully vested after four ya@ommencing in March 2011, stock option awar@dsigd to employees generally vest 25%
after each year until fully vested after four ye&@tock option awards granted to nemployee directors of the Company generally vest owne
year. Predominantly all stock option awards havereetual terms of 10 years. The vesting exeraiegigions of all awards granted under
Incentive Plan are subject to acceleration in trenteof certain stockholdexpproved transactions, or upon the occurrencechage in contrc
as defined in the Incentive Plan. Under the IneenRlan, the Company also grants shares of restrmimmon stock to employees that
generally vest 25% after each year until fully eesafter four years.
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Related activity under the Incentive Plan is abofas:

Weighted
Average
Awards Options Exercise
Available Outstanding Price
Balance December 31, 2009 1,772 5,82 $ 6.5¢
Plan amendmer 1,30( — —
Stock option awards grant (1,550 1,55( 6.6¢
Stock option awards exercis — (240 2.3C
Stock option awards cancell 33t (33%) 8.4z
Balance December 31, 20 1,85¢ 6,802 6.6¢€
Plan amendmer 1,60( — —
Restricted stock awards grani (217) — —
Restricted stock awards cancel 8 — —
Stock option awards grant (1,830 1,83( 3.97
Stock option awards exercis — (290 1.57
Stock option awards cancell 584 (589) 5.9¢
Balance December 31, 20 2,00¢ 7,85¢ 6.21
Plan amendmer 1,70( — —
Restricted stock awards grani (41%) — —
Restricted stock awards cancel 8€ — —
Stock option awards grant (1,617%) 1,615 4.6t
Stock option awards exercis — (350 1.5¢
Stock option awards cancell 1,052 (1,052 6.2€
Balance December 31, 20 2,81F 8,07: $ 6.0¢

For stock option awards granted under the IncerRlae during 2012, 2011 and 2010, the fair value @stimated on the date of grant
using a Black-Scholes option pricing model andasgumptions noted in the table below. The weightetdage grant date fair value of these
awards granted during 2012, 2011 and 2010 was $8228@4, and $4.65, respectively. The fair valuthefstock option awards is amortized to
expense over the vesting periods using a straightexpense attribution method. The following erpldons describe the assumptions used by
the Company to value the stock option awards gdasiteing 2012, 2011, and 2010. The expected lifmised on the average of the assumptic
that all outstanding stock option awards will bereised at full vesting and the assumption thabaistanding stock option awards will be
exercised at the midpoint of the current datel(éady vested) or at full vesting (if not yet veitand the full contractual term. For 2011 and
2010, the expected volatility represents an aveohdgiee implied volatility on the Company’s publidraded options, the volatility over the
most recent period corresponding with the expelifiedand the Company’s long-term reversion voiitilFor 2012, the expected volatility
represents the volatility over the most recentqeedorresponding with the expected life. The Congdaas assumed no expected dividend
yield, as dividends have never been paid to stodption holders and will not be for the foreseediokure. The weighted average -free
interest rate is the implied yield currently avai&aon zero-coupon government issues with a remgitgrm equal to the expected term.

Weighted Average Assumptions for Stock Option Award Granted under the Incentive Plan

201z 2011 201C
Expected Life 5.4 5.5 58
Expected Volatility 87% 80% 8%
Expected Dividend Yiels 0.C% 0.C% 0.C%
Risk-Free Interest Ral 0.9% 2.2% 2.4%

66



Table of Contents

BIOCRYST PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Conti nued)
(In thousands, except per share amounts)

The total intrinsic value of stock option awardeexsed under the Incentive Plan was $877 duriig® 28374 during 2011, $1,169 and
during 2010. The intrinsic value represents thal jotoceeds (fair market value at the date of eégerdess the exercise price, times the numbe
of stock option awards exercised) received bynalividuals who exercised stock option awards dutivggperiod.

The following table summarizes, at December 31220% price range: (1) for stock option awards tautding under the Incentive Plan,
the number of stock option awards outstandingr theighted average remaining life and their weighdgerage exercise price; and (2) for
stock option awards exercisable under the Plamtingber of stock option awards exercisable and theighted average exercise price:

Qutstanding Exercisable
Weighted Weighted Weighted
Average Average Average
Remaining Exercise Exercise
Range Number Life Price Number Price
$0to 3 1,024 5.4 $ 1.5t 94: $ 1.5C
3to6 3,51( 7.2 4.1¢ 1,44¢ 3.8¢
6to9 2,082 4.€ 7.37 1,82¢ 7.4¢€
9to 12 64( 3.7 11.3¢ 64( 11.3¢
12 to 15 811 3.4 12.5¢ 79¢€ 12.5¢
15to 18 4 3.C 15.4¢ 4 15.4¢
18to 21 2 0.2 18.9¢ 2 18.9¢
$0to 21 8,07: 5.7 $ 6.0¢ 5,664 $ 6.72

The weighted average remaining contractual lifstotk option awards exercisable under the Inceiitlaa at December 31, 2012 was
5.7 years.

The aggregate intrinsic value of stock option awardtstanding and exercisable under the Incentae & December 31, 2012 was $1
The aggregate intrinsic value represents the \@heeperiod’s closing market price, less the exergirice, times the number of in-the-money
stock option awards) that would have been recdiyeall stock option award holders under the Ina@nklan had they exercised their stock
option awards at the end of the year.

The total fair value of the stock option awardstedainder the Incentive Plan was $3,373 during 264275 during 2011, and $4,441
during 2010.

As of December 31, 2012, the number of stock opioards vested and expected to vest under thetlmed?lan is 7,535. The weighted
average exercise price of these stock option awsi$6.18 and their weighted average remainingrectial life is 6.1 years.

The following table summarizes the changes in tiraber and weighted-average grant-date fair valueofvested stock option awards
during 2012:

Non-

Vested Weighted Average

Stock

Option Grant-Date Fair

Awards Value
Balance December 31, 2011 2,73¢ 3.04
Stock option awards grant 1,615 3.2¢4
Stock option awards vest: (1,19¢) 2.82
Stock option awards forfeite (746 3.2¢
Balance December 31, 20 2,40¢ 3.1¢

67



Table of Contents

BIOCRYST PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Conti nued)
(In thousands, except per share amounts)

As of December 31, 2012, there was approximatel2&5of total unrecognized compensation cost rélatenon-vested employee stock
option awards and restricted stock awards grangegtidoCompany. That cost is expected to be recegras follows: $2,959 in 2013, $2,010 in
2014, $1,148 in 2015, and $155 in 2016.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

The Company has reserved a total of 975 sharesnofnon stock to be purchased under the ESPP, ohvifii¢ shares remain available
for purchase at December 31, 2012. Eligible empeymaay authorize up to 15% of their salary to pasehcommon stock at the lower of 85%
of the beginning or 85% of the ending price dusirgmonth purchase intervals. No more than 3 sha@sbe purchased by any one employe
at the six-month purchase dates and no employegorahase stock having a fair market value at tmeraencement date of $25 or more in
any one calendar year.

There were 110, 94, and 51 shares of common stackased under the ESPP in 2012, 2011, and 204k atvely, at a weighted
average price per share of $2.93, $3.21, and $EeSpectively. Expense of $157, $146, and $193atadlto the ESPP was recognized during
2012, 2011, and 2010, respectively. Compensatiperese for shares purchased under the ESPP redateel purchase discount and the “look-
back” option were determined using a Black-Scholgson pricing model. The weighted average grame dir values of shares granted under
the ESPP during 2012, 2011, and 2010, were $1483%and $2.76, respectively.

Note 7 — Income Taxes

The Company has incurred net losses since inceptidnconsequently, has not recorded any U.S.dédad state income tax expense o
benefit. The differences between the Company’stffe tax rate and the statutory tax rate in 2@M8,1, and 2010 are as follows:

2012 2011 2010
Income tax benefit at federal statutory rate (35%) $(13,67¢) $(19,93)) $(11,457)
State and local income taxes net of federal tavefite (1,470 (2,509 (1,099
Permanent item 754 89C 1,75:
Rate chang 1,145 (2,500 5,17¢
Expiration of attribute carryforwarc 5,13¢ 2,88¢ 5,34:
Research and development tax cre 82¢ (2,109 (5,359
Other 281 731 252
Change in valuation allowan 7,002 22,53¢ 5,381
Income tax expens $ — $ — $ —

The Company recognizes the impact of a tax positiats financial statements if it is more likelyan not that the position will be
sustained on audit based on the technical meritsegposition. The Company has concluded thatsttiva uncertain tax positions pertaining to
its research and development and orphan drug aeditforwards. The Company has established theshts based on information and
calculations it believes are appropriate and thst bstimate of the underlying credit. Any futur@rfes to the Company’s unrecognized tax
benefits would be offset by an adjustment to tHaat#on allowance and there would be no impacthenGompany'’s financial statements.

Additionally, utilization of the Company’s net op¢ing loss carryforwards could be subject to a tsuttiml annual limitation due to
ownership change limitations as described in Se@R? of the Internal Revenue Code and similaegiatvisions. The Company has
performed an analysis as of December 31, 2012hasdietermined that it has incurred changes inaloes defined under Section 382. These
ownership changes may limit the amount of net dpegdosses that can be utilized annually to offa&ire taxable income and tax.
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Significant components of the Company’s deferredatssets and liabilities are as follows:

2012 2011
Deferred tax asset
Net federal and state operating los $ 108,49t $ 97,05¢
Research and Development crei 36,14: 38,11¢
Fixed asset 1,18¢ 1,26¢
Reserve for inventorie 1,654 1,827
Deferred revenu 2,64t 5,801
Stoclk-based compensatic 6,47¢ 5,91¢
Foreign currency derivativ 1,851 1,58¢
Other 53¢ 422
Total deferred tax asse 158,98¢ 151,98
Valuation allowanct (158,989 (151,98)
Total deferred tax liabilitie — —
Net deferred tax asse $ — $ —

The majority of the Company’s deferred tax assaltsi@ to net operating loss and research and dawelat carryforwards that can only
be realized if the Company is profitable in futpegiods. It is uncertain whether the Company widllize any tax benefit related to these
carryforwards. Accordingly, the Company has prosideull valuation allowance against the net deféitax assets due to uncertainties as to
their ultimate realization. The valuation allowawadl remain at the full amount of the deferred &ssets until it is more likely than not that the
related tax benefits will be realized. The Compangluation allowance increased by $7,002 in 222,538 in 2011, and $5,381 in 2010.

As of December 31, 2012, the Company had fedeedating loss carryforwards of $277,298, state dpegdoss carryforwards of
$311,643, and research and development creditfoangrds of $36,142, which will expire at varioustes from 2013 through 2032.

The Company’s federal and state operating losyftewards include $4,901 of excess tax benefitateel to a deduction from the
exercise of stock options. The tax benefit of treesgductions has not been recognized in deferreddsats. If utilized, the benefits from these
deductions will be recorded as adjustments to irectar expense and additional paid-in capital.

Tax years 2009-2011 remain open to examinatioméyrtajor taxing jurisdictions to which the Compasgubject. Additionally, years
prior to 2009 are also open to examination to ttterg of loss and credit carryforwards from thosarg. The Company recognizes interest an
penalties accrued related to unrecognized tax kierzsf components of its income tax provision. Hesvethere were no provisions or accruals
for interest and penalties in 2012, 2011, and 2010.

The American Taxpayer Relief Act of 2012 (the “Actlias signed in to law on January 2, 2013. Ther@itbactively restored several
expired business tax provisions, including the aese and development credit. Because a change lauweis accounted for in the period of
enactment, the retroactive effect of the Act onGloenpany’s research and development business caadjtforward will be recorded in 2013
for 2012 activities. The deferred tax asset rel&tegeneral business credits will also be adjust&2D13 due to this retroactive treatment. The
Company will record a full valuation allowance tifset this potential benefit.

Note 8 — Employee 401(k) Plan

In January 1991, the Company adopted an employeement plan (“401(k) Plan”) under Section 401¢k}the Internal Revenue Code
covering all employees. Employee contributions paynade to the 401(k) Plan up to limits establighethe Internal Revenue Service.
Company matching contributions may be made atig@eation of the Board of Directors. The Companydmanatching contributions of $418,
$391, and $434, in 2012, 2011, and 2010, respéygtive
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Note 9 — Collaborative and Other Research and Devahment Contracts

U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (“BARIHS"). In January 2007, the U.S. Department of Healthtdmehan Services
(“BARDA/HHS") awarded the Company a $102,661, fyerr contract for the advanced development of petafor the treatment of
influenza. During 2009, peramivir clinical developm shifted to focus on intravenous delivery aredtteatment of hospitalized patients. To
support this focus, a September 2009 contract ricatiibn was awarded to extend the intravenous.(Jiperamivir program by 12 months and
to increase funding by $77,191. On February 2412€@e Company announced that BARDA/HHS had awaitde&55,000 contract
modification, intended to fund completion of theaB& 3 development of i.v. peramivir for the treattwad patients hospitalized with influenza.
This contract modification brings the total awamini BARDA/HHS to $234,852 and extends the contraech by 24 months through
December 31, 2013, providing funding through coripiteof Phase 3 and to support the filing of a mug application (“NDA”) to seek
regulatory approval for i.v. peramivir in the U.S.

On November 7, 2012, the Company announced the letimpof the planned interim analysis of the pekaniPhase 3 clinical trial in
patients admitted to the hospital with influenzhe™ifference between peramivir and control grdoepshe primary endpoint was small and
recalculated sample size was greater than the fimeddutility boundary of 320 subjects.

Based on the DMC recommendation that the studyidmmtinued, the Company suspended enrolimenttediga in, and subsequently
terminated, the clinical trial. The Company has ptated a full analysis of the clinical trial, arftetfuture of the program will be determined
following discussions between the Company, BARDAS{&hd the Food and Drug Administration (“FDA”).

The contract with BARDA/HHS is a cost-plus-fixedefeontract. That is, the Company is entitled t@nexreimbursement for all costs
incurred in accordance with the contract provisithag are related to the development of peramius p fixed fee, or profit. BARDA/HHS wi
make periodic assessments of progress and thengatitin of the contract is based on the Compmapgtformance, the timeliness and qualit
deliverables, and other factors. The governmentilgats under certain contract clauses to termittagecontract. The contract is terminable by
the government at any time for breach or withouisea

Shionogi & Co., Ltd. (“Shionogi”)In March 2007, the Company entered into an exctubbense agreement with Shionogi to develop
and commercialize peramivir in Japan for the tresthof seasonal and potentially life-threateninghhn influenza. Under the terms of the
agreement, Shionogi obtained rights to injectabienfilations of peramivir in Japan. The Company t®ed peramivir under a license from
UAB and will owe sublicense payments to them on faiyre milestone payments and/or royalties recelwethe Company from Shionogi. In
October 2008, the Company and Shionogi amendelittrese agreement to expand the territory coveyetthd agreement to include Taiwan
and to provide rights for Shionogi to perform a &ha clinical trial in Hong Kong. Shionogi has coeraially launched peramivir under the
commercial name RAPIACTA in Japan.

Green Cross Corporation (“Green Cross'n June 2006, the Company entered into an agreewmitnGreen Cross to develop and
commercialize peramivir in Korea. Under the terrhthe agreement, Green Cross will be responsiblalfalevelopment, regulatory, and
commercialization costs in Korea. The Company rebia one-time license fee of $250. The license @levides that the Company will share
in profits resulting from the sale of peramivirKiorea, including the sale of peramivir to the Karggmvernment for stockpiling purposes.
Furthermore, Green Cross will pay the Company anpma over its cost to supply peramivir for develagarhand any future marketing of
peramivir products in Korea.

Mundipharma International Holdings Limited (“Mundiprma”). In February 2006, the Company entered into an sikaiuroyalty
bearing right and license agreement with Mundiptzafon the development and commercialization of desine, a Purine Nucleoside
Phosphorylase (“PNP”) inhibitor, for use in oncoldthe “Original Agreement”). Under the terms oétBriginal Agreement, Mundipharma
obtained rights to forodesine in markets acros®irAsia, and Australasia in exchange for a $1DugBfront payment.

The Company deferred revenue recognition of the(RMup-front payment that was received from Muhdipa in February 2006
because the Company was involved in the contineedldpment of forodesine. Amortization of this newe commenced in February 2006 ant
was initially scheduled to end in October 2017,chkhs the date of expiration for the last-to-exmegent covered by the agreement. The
Company also deferred revenue recognition of adfbpayment received from Mundipharma in connectvih the initiation of a clinical trial
in 2007. Amortization of this deferred revenue caemeed in 2007 and was initially scheduled to en@dtober 2017. Under its agreement
with AECOM/IRL, the Company paid sublicense paymsaeiated to these upfront cash payments receieed KMundipharma. Expense
recognition of these sublicense payments was aafemnd recognized under the same term as thedelaferred revenue.

70



Table of Contents

BIOCRYST PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Conti nued)
(In thousands, except per share amounts)

On November 11, 2011, the Company entered inté\thended and Restated License and Development Agmt(tine “Amended and
Restated Agreement”) with Mundipharma, amendingrasthting the Original Agreement. Under the teofnhe Amended and Restated
Agreement, Mundipharma obtained worldwide rightéoi@desine. Commencing on November 11, 2011, Mahmtima controls the
development and commercialization of forodesine asslimes all future development and commerciabzatbsts. The Amended and Restate
Agreement provides for the possibility of futureeatpayments totaling $15,000 for achieving spedifiegulatory events for certain indicati
and tiered royalties ranging from mid to high sadigit percentages of net product sales in eaahtcp where forodesine is sold by
Mundipharma. These royalties are subject to dowdwajustments based on the then-existing patemrage and/or the availability of generic
compounds in each country.

The Amended and Restated Agreement is a multiplaeht arrangement for accounting purposes, in whiglfCompany is required to
deliver to Mundipharma both the worldwide rightfdoodesine in the field of oncology and the transff product data and know-how to
permit Mundipharma to develop and commercializedesine (the “Knowledge Transfer”). The Companyaoated for these elements as a
combined unit of accounting as they do not havedstdone value to Mundipharma. The worldwide lieerights were granted to
Mundipharma on November 11, 2011 and the Knowléldgesfer was completed during the first quarte2@f2. Completion of the
Knowledge Transfer concludes the Company’s obligetiunder the Amended and Restated Agreement anltiee in the recognition of the
unamortized deferred revenue and expense of $3A6&1,864, respectively, in the Consolidated States of Comprehensive Loss for the
year ended December 31, 20

Albert Einstein College of Medicine of Yeshiva @néity and Industrial Research, Ltd. (“AECOM” andRL" respectively).n June
2000, the Company licensed a series of potentitangof PNP from AECOM and IRL, (collectively, theicensors”). The lead product
candidates from this collaboration are forodesim& @lodesine. The Company has obtained worldwidtusive rights to develop and
ultimately distribute these, or any other, produamdidates that might arise from research on timdleitors. The Company has the option to
expand the Agreement to include other inventiorthénfield made by the investigators or employddhe Licensors. The Company agreed to
use commercially reasonable efforts to developetlilesgs. In addition, the Company has agreed tapegin milestone payments for each
licensed product (which range in the aggregate am00 to almost $4,000 per indication) for futdexvelopment of these inhibitors, single
digit royalties on net sales of any resulting prduade by the Company, and to share approximatedyquarter of future payments received
from other third-party partners, if any. In additjghe Company has agreed to pay annual licensevidgch can range from $150 to $500, that
are creditable against actual royalties and othgments due to the Licensors. This agreement magrbenated by the Company at any time
by giving 60 days advance notice or in the evemhaferial uncured breach by the Licensors.

In May 2010, the Company amended the licensee amgneiethrough which the Company obtained worldwikldiesive rights to develop
and ultimately distribute any product candidated thight arise from research on a series of PNBitolns, including forodesine and ulodesi
Under the terms of the amendment, the Licensomseaigio accept a reduction of one-half in the peaggnof future payments received from
third-party sub licensees of the licensed PNP itdnib that must be paid to the Licensors. This otida does not apply to (i) any milestone
payments the Company may receive in the future nitslécense agreement dated February 1, 2006 Mithdipharma and (i) royalties
received from its sub licensees in connection Withsale of licensed products, for which the oagjpayment rate will remain in effect. The
rate of royalty payments to the Licensors basedairsales of any resulting product made by the Gmppemains unchanged.

In consideration for these modifications in 201& Company issued to the Licensors shares of itsran stock with an aggregate value
of $5,911 and paid the Licensors $90 in cash. Aafuily, at the Company’s sole option and subjeatdrtain agreed upon conditions, any
future non-royalty payments due to be paid by theLicensors under the license agreement maydake mither in cash, in shares of its
common stock, or in a combination of cash and share

On November 17, 2011, the Company further amerntgesjreements with the Licensors whereby the Lmenagreed to accept a
reduction of one-half in the percentage of Net BPeals (as defined) received by the Company undéniisnded and Restated Agreement with
Mundipharma that will be paid to AECOM/IRL.

On June 19, 2012, the Company further amendedgreements with AECOM/IRL whereby the parties cladfthe definition of the fiel
with respect to PNP inhibition and AECOM/IRL agrdedexclusive worldwide license of BCX4430 to BigSrfor any antiviral use.

At its sole option and subject to certain agreeahugponditions, any future non-royalty payments tiube paid by the Company to
AECOMI/IRL under the license agreement may be matleran cash, in shares of the Company’s commoaokstor in a combination of cash
and shares.
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The University of Alabama at Birmingham (“UAB™he Company currently has agreements with UABriiluenza neuraminidase and
complement inhibitors. Under the terms of theseagents, UAB performed specific research for thea@my in return for research payments
and license fees. UAB has granted the Companyiceitgnts to any discoveries in these areas rexyftiom research developed by UAB or
jointly developed with the Company. The Company dg®ed to pay single digit royalties on salesngfr@sulting product and to share
future payments received from other third-partytpens. The Company has completed the research thmel&lAB agreements. These two
agreements have initial 25-year terms, are autealbtirenewable for fivgrear terms throughout the life of the last paternt are terminable k
the Company upon three months notice and by UARundrtain circumstances. Upon termination bothigemshall cease using the other
parties’ proprietary and confidential informatiomdamaterials, the parties shall jointly own jointéntions and UAB shall resume full
ownership of all UAB licensed products. There isrently no activity between the Company and UABtloase agreements, but when the
Company licenses this technology, such as in tee ofithe Shionogi and Green Cross agreementspamercializes products related to these
programs, the Company will owe sublicense feegyalties on amounts it receives.

Note 10 — Quarterly Financial Information (Unaudited)

First Second Third Fourth

2012 Quarters

Revenue: $ 12,22: $ 4,21( $ 5,761 $ 4,101

Net Loss (6,052) (12,27¢) (9,700) (11,059

Basic and diluted net loss per sh (0.13) (0.25) (0.19 (0.22)
2011 Quarters

Revenue! $ 5,43t $ 3,73t $ 5,24¢ $ 5,22¢

Net loss (13,027 (16,277) (14,459 (13,199

Basic and diluted net loss per sh (0.29) (0.36) (0.3 (0.29)

Note 11 — Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In May 2011, the Financial Accounting Standardsrdthe “FASB”) issued Accounting Standards UpdagsU”) 2011-04, “Fair
Value Measurement (Topic 820): Amendments to Achi@emmon Fair Value Measurements and DisclosureiRement in U.S. GAAP and
IFRS.” This ASU modifies the existing standardénicude disclosure of all transfers between Levahdl Level 2 asset and liability fair value
categories. In addition, the ASU provides guidameeneasuring the fair value of financial instrunsemianaged within a portfolio and the
application of premiums and discounts on fair vaheasurements. The ASU requires additional disoéofar Level 3 measurements regarding
the sensitivity of fair value to changes in unokiabte inputs and any interrelationships betweesdhoputs. This guidance is effective for
interim and annual periods beginning after DeceniBe011, with early adoption prohibited. The Campadopted this ASU in the first
quarter of 2012.

In June 2011, the FASB issued ASU 2011-05, “Comgmslve Income (Topic 220): Presentation of Comprslve Income.” This ASU
eliminates the current option to report other caghpnsive income and its components in the stateafi@hianges in equity. Under this new
ASU, an entity can elect to present items of nebine, other comprehensive income and total compsi#®income in one continuous
statement or in two separate, but consecutiverstatts. This guidance is effective for fiscal years] interim periods within those years,
beginning after December 15, 2011. Early adoptsgpeirmitted, but retrospective application is regpli The Company adopted this ASU in
first quarter of 2012.

In December 2011, the FASB issued ASU 2011-12, “Peensive Income (Topic 220): Deferral of the Effifee Date for Amendments
to the Presentation of Reclassifications of Item$ @ Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income incdieting Standards Update No. 2011-
05.” This ASU defers the requirement in ASU 2011t@%resent reclassification adjustments for eamrhponent of accumulated other
comprehensive income in both net income and othepcehensive income on the face of the financakstents. This ASU does not affect
requirement to present items of net income, andratbmprehensive income and total comprehensiveriedn one continuous statement or in
two separate, but consecutive statements. Thisaguoélis effective for fiscal years, and interimipas within those years, beginning after
December 15, 2011. Early adoption is permitted rétrbspective application is required. The Compatigpted this ASU in the first quarter of
2012.
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The Board of Directors and Stockholders
BioCryst Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

We have audited the consolidated balance she®&®Gfyst Pharmaceuticals, Inc. as of December 8122nd 2011, and the related
consolidated statements of comprehensive losskhsbtaers’equity and cash flows for each of the three yaathe period ended December
2012. These financial statements are the respditysitfithe Company’s management. Our responsibititto express an opinion on these
financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstats of the Public Company Accounting OversighafBioUnited States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform thet dndbtain reasonable assurance about whethdindrecial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on Blasis, evidence supporting the amounts and digds in the financial statements. An a
also includes assessing the accounting princied and significant estimates made by managenenelaas evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our apditgide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements refer@alove present fairly, in all material respedts, ¢onsolidated financial position of
BioCryst Pharmaceuticals, Inc. at December 31, 20122011, and the consolidated results of itsaijmers and its cash flows for each of the
three years in the period ended December 31, 20®nformity with U.S. generally accepted accoogtprinciples.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@nited States), BioCryst
Pharmaceuticals, Inc.’s internal control over ficiahreporting as of December 31, 2012, based iberier established itnternal Control-
Integrated Frameworissued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidrike Treadway Commission and our report dateccal, 201:
expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP

Raleigh, North Carolina
March 11, 2013
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountindgrirm on Internal Control

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
BioCryst Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

We have audited BioCryst Pharmaceuticals, Incteriral control over financial reporting as of Ded®m31, 2012, based on criteria
established imnternal Control-Integrated Framewoiiksued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidrise Treadway Commission (the
COSO criteria). BioCryst Pharmaceuticals, Inc.’syagement is responsible for maintaining effectiterinal control over financial reporting,
and for its assessment of the effectiveness ofriateontrol over financial reporting included hretaccompanying Management’s Report on
Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Our resgibility is to express an opinion on the Compargternal control over financial reporti
based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the stedwof the Public Company Accounting Oversighti@d&/nited States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform thet dndbtain reasonable assurance about whetheatigianternal control over financial
reporting was maintained in all material respe@is: audit included obtaining an understanding térimal control over financial reporting,
assessing the risk that a material weakness etasting and evaluating the design and operatifegtfeness of internal control based on the
assessed risk, and performing such other procedsre®& considered necessary in the circumstancefeéliéve that our audit provides a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company'’s internal control over financial repodiis a process designed to provide reasonablesaesuregarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of finahstatements for external purposes in accordanttegeinerally accepted accounting princip

A company'’s internal control over financial repodiincludes those policies and procedures thai€ftrin to the maintenance of records that,
in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reftbettransactions and dispositions of the assdtseocfompany; (2) provide reasonable assuranc
that transactions are recorded as necessary tatp@aparation of financial statements in accor@anwith generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditureb®ttbmpany are being made only in accordance witioaizations of management and
directors of the company; and (3) provide reasanabburance regarding prevention or timely detectfainauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the company’s assets that could lzaneterial effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtver financial reporting may not prevent or d¢taisstatements. Also, projections of
any evaluation of effectiveness to future periogssabject to the risk that controls may becomdeénaate because of changes in condition
that the degree of compliance with the policieprocedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, BioCryst Pharmaceuticals, Inc. niaimed, in all material respects, effective intéguntrol over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2012, based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@nited States), the
consolidated balance sheets of BioCryst Pharmaadsitinc. as of December 31, 2012 and 2011, amdelhted consolidated statements of
comprehensive loss, stockholders’ equity, and 8asts for each of the three years in the periodeghbBecember 31, 2012 of BioCryst
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and our report dated Mar¢t2Q13 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP

Raleigh, North Carolina
March 11, 2013
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We maintain a set of disclosure controls and proesithat are designed to ensure that informaétating to BioCryst Pharmaceuticals,
Inc. required to be disclosed in our periodic fisnunder the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, anded (the “Exchange Act”), is recorded,
processed, summarized and reported in a timely erammer the Exchange Act of 1934. We carried awaluation as required by paragrapt
(b) of Rule 13a-15 or Rule 15tb under the Exchange Act, under the supervisiarvath the participation of management, including €hief
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, tieteffectiveness of the design and operation ofimalosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Rule 13a-15(e) or Rule 15d-15 underBkehange Act). Based upon that evaluation, the f&iecutive Officer and Chief Financial
Officer concluded that, as of December 31, 2012 disclosure controls and procedures are effecte believe that our disclosure controls
and procedures will ensure that information reqlteebe disclosed in the reports filed or submitigdis under the Exchange Act is recorded,
processed, summarized and reported within the pienimds specified in the rules and forms of theuiges and Exchange Commission, and
include controls and procedures designed to ertkaténformation required to be disclosed by usunh reports is accumulated and
communicated to our management, including our @teairand Chief Executive Officer and Chief Finan@#icer, as appropriate to allow
timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Finandal Reporting

Management of BioCryst Pharmaceuticals, Inc. ipaasible for establishing and maintaining adeqirgtanal control over financial
reporting and for the assessment of the effects®péinternal control over financial reporting. defined by the Securities and Exchange
Commission, internal control over financial repogtis a process designed by, or under the supenvigiour principal executive and principal
financial officers and effected by our Board of &itors, management and other personnel, to proga®nable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the prepaceat of the financial statements in accordance Wit. generally accepted accounting princig

Our internal control over financial reporting igpported by written policies and procedures thapgt}ain to the maintenance of records
that, in reasonable detail, accurately and faeRect our transactions and dispositions of ouetsg2) provide reasonable assurance that
transactions are recorded as necessary to perepaation of the financial statements in accordavittegenerally accepted accounting
principles, and that our receipts and expenditaredeing made only in accordance with authorinatmf our management and directors; and
(3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prereatitimely detection of unauthorized acquisitiose or disposition of our assets that coulc
have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtiver financial reporting may not prevent or detisstatements. Also, projections of
any evaluation of effectiveness to future periogssaubject to the risk that controls may becomdenaate because of changes in condition
that the degree of compliance with the policieprocedures may deteriorate.

In connection with the preparation of our annuaficial statements, management has undertakesessagent of the effectiveness of
our internal control over financial reporting asidcember 31, 2012, based on criteria establighédérnal Control — Integrated Framework
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidrike Treadway Commission (the COSO Frameworlgndfjement’s assessment
included an evaluation of the design of our inteowatrol over financial reporting and testing bétoperational effectiveness of those controls

Based on this assessment, management has conthaded of December 31, 2012, our internal corver financial reporting was
effective. Management believes our internal corakar financial reporting will provide reasonabsarance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of finahstatements for external purposes in accordanteWs. generally accepted accounting
principles.

Ernst & Young LLP, the independent registered guaticounting firm that audited our financial stagens included in this report, has
issued an attestation report on the Company’sriaterontrol over financial reporting, a copy of wiiappears on page 77 of this annual repor
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Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reportirg

There have been no changes in our internal coowel financial reporting that occurred during theader ended December 31, 2012 tha
have materially affected, or are reasonably likelynaterially affect, our internal control overdimcial reporting.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION
None.

PART IlI

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNACE

The information required by this item is set fouthider the captiorf$tems to be Voted on — 1. Election of Director$Executive
Officers,” “Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Refiog Compliance”and“Corporate Governance'in our definitive Proxy Statement for the
2013 Annual Meeting of Stockholders and incorpatdterein by reference.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by this item is set foutider the captionfCompensation Discussion and Analysis,” “Summaryn@eensation
Table,” “Grants of Plan-Based Awards in 2012,” “Ostanding Equity Awards at December 31, 2012,” “2@gtion Exercises and Stock
Vested,” “Potential Payments Upon Termination ora@ige in Control,” “Director Compensation,” “Compeasion Committee Interlocks and
Insider Participatiol” and“Compensation Committee Repoiiti our definitive Proxy Statement for the 2013 AahMeeting of Stockholders
and incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 12, SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS ANDMANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDEF
MATTERS

The information required by this item is set foutider the captiorfEquity Compensation Plan Informatioréind “Security Ownership
of Certain Beneficial Owners and Managemeintbur definitive Proxy Statement for the 2013 Aahhleeting of Stockholders and
incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, ANEDIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The information required by this item is set fouthider the caption®Certain Relationships and Related Transactioresid “Corporate
Governancé in our definitive Proxy Statement for the 2013rAral Meeting of Stockholders and incorporated Imelogireference.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

The information required by this item is set fouthider the captiotitems to be Voted on — Ratification of Appointmeihindependent
Registered Public Accounta” in our definitive Proxy Statement for the 2013 AahMeeting of Stockholders and incorporated hebgin
reference.
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PART IV
ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
(a) Financial Statements

The following financial statements appear in Itewf 8his Form 10-K:

Page in

Form 10-K
Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31, 2@l 2Gir1 50
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loshiéyéars ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 51
Consolidated Statements of Stockhol’ Equity for the years ended December 31, 2012, 20:1201( 53
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the yaaded December 31, 2012, 2011 and = 52
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statems 54
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounfiimgn on Consolidated Financial Stateme 73
Report of Independent Registered Public Accourfiimgn on Internal Contrc 74

No financial statement schedules are included Isecthe information is either provided in the cortedkd financial statements or is not
required under the related instructions or is itigaple and such schedules therefore have beereninit

(b) Exhibits.See Index of Exhibits.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Regyisthas duly caused this report tc
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, theredatp authorized on March 11, 2013.

BIOCRYST PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

By: /s/Jon P. Stonehouse
Jon P. Stonehou:
Chief Executive Office

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934, this report has been signed bbélpthe following persons on behalf
of the registrant and in the capacities indicatedarch 11, 2013:

Signature Title(s)
/s/ Jon P. Stonehouse President, Chief Executive Officer and Director
(Jon P. Stonehous (Principal Executive Officer)
/s/ Thomas R. Staab Il Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer andasure
(Thomas R. Staab | (Principal Financial and Principal Accounting O}
/sl George B. Abercrombie Director
(George B. Abercrombie
/sl Stanley C. Erck Director
(Stanley C. Erck
/s/ John L. Higgins Director
(John L. Higgins
/sl Zola P. Horovitz Director
(Zola P. Horovitz, Ph.D.
/sl Peder K. Jensen Director
(Peder K. Jensen, M.C
/s/ Kenneth B. Lee, Jr. Director
(Kenneth B. Lee, Jr
/s/ Charles A. Sanders Director
(Charles A. Sanders, M.C
/s/ Nancy Huston Director

(Nancy Hutson, Ph.D
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10.6&
10.7&
10.8&
10.9&
10.10&

10.11&

10.12#

10.13
10.14

10.15

INDEX TO EXHIBITS

Description

Side Letter regarding At Market Issuance Sales Agient, dated March 11, 2013, by and between Bia®ilyarmaceuticals, Inc.
and McNicoll, Lewis & Vlak LLC.

Third Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Retgint. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.theoCompany’s Form B-filed
December 22, 2001

Certificate of Amendment to the Third Restated i@lestte of Incorporation of Registrant. Incorpormitay reference to Exhibit 3.1
to the Compar’s Form K filed July 24, 2007

Certificate of Increase of Authorized Number of &saof Series B Junior Participating Preferred IStbtcorporated by reference
to Exhibit 3.1 to the Compa’s Form K filed November 4, 200¢

Amended and Restated Bylaws of Registrant effe@igmber 29, 2008. Incorporated by reference talkixB8.2 to the Company’
Form &K filed November 4, 200¢

Rights Agreement, dated as of June 17, 2002, byoatwdleen the Company and American Stock Transférust Company, as
Rights Agent, which includes the Certificate of @sition for the Series B Junior Participating Brefd Stock as Exhibit A and
the form of Rights Certificate as Exhibit B. Incorpted by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Compafgan 8-A filed June 17,
2002.

Amendment to Rights Agreement, dated as of Augu2087. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2hef Company’s Form 10-
Q filed August 9, 2007

Indenture, dated as of March 9, 2011 by and betw@&hRoyalty Sub LLC and U.S. Bank National Asstimig as trustee.
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 of the @am’'s Form 1-Q filed May 6, 2011

Amended and Restated Stock Incentive Plan datedhivd, 2012. Incorporated by reference to ExhiBifl bf the Company’s
Form &K, filed May 25, 2012

Amended and Restated Employee Stock Purchase &fed March 29, 2012. Incorporated by referencaécdompany’s Form 8-
K, filed May 25, 2012

Form of Notice of Grant of Non-Employee Directortdmatic Stock Option and Stock Option Agreemertotporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.4 of the Comp’s Form 1-K filed March 4, 2008

Form of Notice of Grant of Stock Option and Stoghtion Agreement. Incorporated by reference to ExHiB.5 of the Companyg’
Form 1(-K filed March 4, 2008

Annual Incentive Plan. Incorporated by referencEstbibit 10.1 of the Compar's Form K filed March 12, 2012
Executive Relocation Policy. Incorporated by refieesto Exhibit 10.2 of the Compé’'s Form 1-K filed March 4, 2008

Amended and Restated Employment Letter Agreemdatd&ebruary 14, 2007, by and between the Compaahyan P.
Stonehouse. Incorporated by reference to Exhibt2.@ the Company’s Form 10-K for the year endeddnber 31, 2006, filed
March 14, 2007

Employment Letter Agreement between BioCryst Phagutcals, Inc. and Thomas R. Staab II, dated M&y2211. Incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Comp’s Form &K filed May 25, 2011

Employment Letter Agreement between BioCryst Phagutcals, Inc. and William P. Sheridan dated JL&e2008. Incorporate
by reference to Exhibit 10.27 of the Comp’s Form 1-Q filed August 8, 200¢

Employment Letter Agreement dated April 2, 2007 abg between the Company and David McCullough.rpmated by
reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the Comp’s Form 1-Q filed May 10, 2007

Retention Bonus Agreement between BioCryst Pharatmeds, Inc. and David McCullough dated May 21020Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.26 of the Comp’s Form 1+-Q filed August 8, 200¢

Agreement dated January 3, 2007, between BioChgastrPaceuticals, Inc. and the Department of Healthluman Services, as
amended by Amendment number 1 dated January 3,@@Amendment number 2 dated May 11, 2007. (Rrtoonitted
pursuant to request for confidential treatmentcptporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Canys Form 109 filed Augus
9, 2007.

Amendment #3 to the Agreement between BioCrystrRheeuticals, Inc. and the Department of Healthtdmehan Services,
dated October 2, 2007. Incorporated by referené&tobit 10.6 of the Compars Form 1K filed March 4, 2008

Amendment #4 to the Agreement between BioCrystrRheeuticals, Inc. and the Department of Healthtmehan Services dat
April 3, 2008. Incorporated by reference to Exhikiit29 of the Compars Form 1-Q filed August 8, 200¢

Amendment #5 to the Agreement between BioCrystiRaeeuticals, Inc. and the Department of Healthtmehan Services dat:
July 2, 2008. Incorporated by reference to ExHibi30 of the Compars Form 1-Q filed August 8, 200¢
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10 .16
10.17
10.18
10.19
10.20
10.21
10.22

10.23¢

10.244

10.25

10.26

(10.27)

10.28

10.29

10.30¢

10.314

10.32¢

Description

Amendment #6 to the Agreement between BioCrystiRheeuticals, Inc. and the Department of Healthkmehan Services datt
August 18, 2008. Incorporated by reference to Bkii.1 of the Compar's Form &K filed November 7, 200¢

Amendment #7 to the Agreement between BioCrystiiRheeuticals, Inc. and the Department of HealthHumchan Services datt
November 17, 2008. Incorporated by reference taliixh0.12 of the Compar's Form 1-K filed March 6, 2009

Amendment #8 to the Agreement between BioCrystiRheeuticals, Inc. and the Department of HealthHumchan Services datt
March 13, 2009. Incorporated by reference to ExHiBi13 of the Compars Form 1-K filed March 9, 2010

Amendment #9 to the Agreement between BioCrystRaeeuticals, Inc. and the Department of Healthkmehan Services datt
September 18, 2009. Incorporated by reference Iibix 0.1 of the Compar's Form 1+Q filed November 6, 200¢

Amendment #10 to the Agreement between the Comaadyhe U.S. Department of Health & Human Servidesed October 1!
2009. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2hef Compan’'s Form 1-Q filed November 6, 200¢

Amendment #11 to the Agreement between the Comaadyhe U.S. Department of Health & Human Servidated February
23, 2011. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3@Pthe Compar’s Form 1+K filed March 15, 2011

Order for Supplies or Services from the U.S. Departt of Health & Human Services, dated Novemb&04809. Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.16 of the Comp’s Form 1+K filed March 9, 2010

License, Development and Commercialization Agredrdated as of February 28, 2007, by and betwee@dmepany and
Shionogi & Co., Ltd. Incorporated by reference tibit 10.4 to the Company’s Form ID{iled May 10, 2007. (Portions omitt
pursuant to request for confidential treatme

First Amendment to License, Development and Comiakzation Agreement, effective as of September28l)8, between the
Company and Shionogi & Co., Ltd. Incorporated Hgmence to Exhibit 10.19 to the Company’s Form 10kkd March 6, 2009.
(Portions omitted pursuant to request for confiddteatment.

Riverchase Business Park Warehouse Lease dateti2)ud00 between RBP, LLC an Alabama Limited LigbCompany and
the Registrant for office/warehouse space. Incateak by reference to Exhibit 10.8 to the Compafgen 10-Q for the second
quarter ending June 30, 2000 filed August 8, 2!

Third Amendment to Lease Agreement dated Augug0@7, by and between Riverchase Capital LLC, aidddimited liability
company, Stow Riverchase, LLC, a Florida limiteabllity company, as successor landlord to RBP, land the Company.
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 of therany's Form 1-Q filed August 9, 2007

Fourth Amendment to the Lease Agreement dated Bepfy 2012, by and between Riverchase Capital ld_Elprida limited
liability company, Stow Riverchase, LLC, a Floridaited liability company, as successor landlordBP, LLC and the
Company.

Stock and Warrant Purchase Agreement dated asagisi®, 2007, by and among BioCryst Pharmaceutitradsand each of the
Investors identified on the signature pages thetatmrporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of ttmany’s Form 8-K filed
August 7, 2007

Stock Purchase Agreement, dated as of Februar®00B, by and among BioCryst Pharmaceuticals, Baker Bros. Investment
L.P., Baker Biotech Fund Il, L.P., Baker Bros. Istraents Il, L.P., Baker Biotech Fund Il (Z), L.Baker/Tisch Investments, L.
Baker Biotech Fund Ill, L.P., Baker Biotech FundLIP., Baker Biotech Fund Il (Z), L.P. and 1415%. Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Comp’s Form &K filed February 17, 200t

Development and License Agreement dated as of Bepfy 2006, by and between BioCryst Pharmacestitat. and
Mundipharma International Holdings Limited. Incorpted by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the CompaRgem 8-K/A filed May
2, 2006. (Portions omitted pursuant to requestémfidential treatment

Amended and Restated Development and License Agmeeisiated as of November 11, 2011, by and betBesbryst
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Mundipharma Internati@Quaporation Limited. Incorporated by referencé&tdibit 10.32 to the
Compan’s Form 1K filed March 6, 2012. (Portions omitted pursuantequest for confidential treatmer

License Agreement dated as of June 27, 2000, byamhg Albert Einstein College of Medicine, IndigdtResearch, Ltd. and
BioCryst Pharmaceuticals, Inc., as amended by itls¢ Amendment Agreement dated as of July 26, 20GPthe Second
Amendment Agreement dated as of April 15, 20050iparated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the ComyfsaForm 8-K filed
November 30, 2005. (Portions omitted pursuant qouiest for confidential treatmen
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10.334

10.344

10.354

10.364

10.37

10.38

10.39

10.40

10.41

10.42

10.43

(21)

(23)

(31.1)
(31.2)
(32.1)
(32.2)
(101)

Description

Third Amendment Agreement by and among Albert EimsCollege of Medicine, Industrial Research, ladd BioCryst
Pharmaceuticals, Inc., dated as of December 119.266orporated by reference to Exhibit 10.33 ® @ompany’s Form 10-K filed
March 9, 2010. (Portions omitted pursuant to regjfe@sconfidential treatment

Fourth Amendment Agreement by and among AlbertteingCollege of Medicine, Industrial Research, ladd BioCryst
Pharmaceuticals, Inc., dated as of May 5, 201@rparated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the ComyfsaForm 10-Q filed August
6, 2010. (Portions omitted pursuant to requestdémfidential treatment

Fifth Amendment Agreement by and among Albert EimsCollege of Medicine, Industrial Research, ladd BioCryst
Pharmaceuticals, Inc., dated as of November 171.2@torporated by reference to Exhibit 10.36 ® @ompany’s Form 18-filed
March 6, 2012. (Portions omitted pursuant to regfesconfidential treatment

Sixth Amendment Agreement by and among Albert Eins€ollege of Medicine, Industrial Research, ladd BioCryst
Pharmaceuticals, Inc., dated as of June 19, 2@t2rporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Gany’s Form 10-Q filed
August 8, 2012. (Portions omitted pursuant to retjtar confidential treatment

Stock Purchase Agreement, dated as of Decemb@008, by and among BioCryst Pharmaceuticals, Kieiner Perkins Caufield
& Byers, Texas Pacific Group Ventures and KPTV, LI@&orporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to tlmmpany’s Form 8-K filed
December 16, 200!

Nomination and Observer Agreement, dated as of iDbee 16, 2005, by and between BioCryst Pharmaadstimc. and Kleine
Perkins Caufield & Byers. Incorporated by refereta&xhibit 4.2 to the Compa’s Form K filed December 16, 200!

Purchase and Sale Agreement, dated as of Mard9, Zetween BioCryst Pharmaceuticals, Inc. andR&plty Sub LLC.
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of therany' s Form 1-Q filed May 6, 2011

Pledge and Security Agreement, dated as of Mar@0B1 between BioCryst Pharmaceuticals, Inc. aif®l Bank National
Association, as trustee. Incorporated by referéadexhibit 10.2 of the Compa’s Form 1-Q filed May 6, 2011

Confirmation of terms and conditions of ISDA Mastgreement, dated as of March 7, 2011, between Mo&fanley Capital
Services Inc. and BioCryst Pharmaceuticals, Intedlas of March 9, 2011. Incorporated by referg¢adexhibit 10.3 of the
Compan’s Form 1-Q filed May 6, 2011

At Market Issuance Sales Agreement, dated Jun2®8,, by and between BioCryst Pharmaceuticals,dnd.McNicoll, Lewis &
Vlak LLC. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit bthe Company’s Registration Statement on Formfig&e@ June 28, 2011 (File
No. 33-175182).

Mutual Termination and Release Agreement, datecedper 29, 2012, by and among Presidio Pharmactsytina., BioCryst
Pharmaceuticals, Inc., S Sub, Inc., 667, L.P., B&kes. Investments Il, L.P., Baker Brothers Lifgehces, L.P., 14159, L.P., Bay
City Capital Fund IV, L.P., Bay City Capital Fund Co-Investment Fund, L.P., and Panorama Capit8, Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Comp’s Form &K filed November 30, 201:

Subsidiaries of the Registre

Consent of Ernst & Young, LLP, Independent RegextdPublic Accounting Firrr

Certification of the Chief Executive Officer Pursiigo Section 302 of the Sarba-Oxley Act of 2002

Certification of the Chief Financial Officer Pursudo Section 302 of the Sarba-Oxley Act of 2002

Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 13%0adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sar-Oxley Act of 2002
Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 13%0adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sar-Oxley Act of 2002

Financial statements from the Annual Reporton Fd@AK of BioCryst Pharmaceuticals, Inc. for the yeadeth December 31, 201
formatted in XBRL.: (i) Consolidated Balance SheétsConsolidated Statements of Comprehensive L@§sConsolidated
Statements of Cash Flows, (iv) Consolidated Statésnaf StockholdersEquity and (v) Notes to Consolidated Financial &tagnts
t

#  Confidential treatment grante
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&  Management contract

() Filed herewith
In accordance with Rule 406T of Regulation S-E€ ¥BRL related information in Exhibit 101 to thimAual Report on Form 10-K shall

not be deemed to be “filed for purposes of Secti®mf the Exchange Act or otherwise subject tolititglity of that section, and shall not
be part of any registration or other document fileder the Securities Act or the Exchange Act, pkas shall be expressly set forth by

specific reference in such filin
82



Exhibit 1.1
March 11, 2013

MLV & Co. LLC
1251 Avenue of the Americas, 41 Floor
New York, NY 1002(C

Ladies and Gentlemen:

BioCryst Pharmaceuticals, Inc., a Delaware corpamgthe “ Company), and MLV & Co. LLC (formerly McNicoll, Lewis & Mak
LLC), a Delaware limited liability company (* MLV), are parties to an At Market Issuance Sales &grent, dated as of June 28, 2011 (the “
Agreement), pursuant to which, MLV serves as agent forshte of shares of the Company’s common stock, alaiev$0.01 per share (the “
Common StocK). Capitalized terms used herein and not defiredl hiave the respective meanings ascribed to tuofs under the
Agreement.

The Agreement provides for compensation equal)t8%i of the gross proceeds from the sale of tis¢ $80 million of Placement Shares,
and (ii) 2% of the gross proceeds from the sakengfadditional Placement Shares. Notwithstandiegdhegoing, the parties agree that for
purposes of calculating the amount of any compensdtom the date of this letter agreement, tgpaiel by the Company to MLV in
connection with the sale of the Placement ShardsruBection 2 of the Agreement, the parties adra@eMLV shall receive as compensation
amount equal to 3% of the gross proceeds fromaleeaf Placement Shares for the first $20 millié®Placement Shares sold under the
Agreement, and 2% for the remaining Placement Sheolel thereafter under the Agreement.

Very truly yours,
BIOCRYST PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

By:

Name:
Title:

ACCEPTED as of the date
first-above written

MLV & CO. LLC

By:

Name: Dean Coluc
Title: Presiden



Exhibit 10.27
FOURTH AMENDMENT TO LEASE AGREEMENT

This Fourth Amendment to Lease Agreement (this “esdment) is executed as of the Effective Date (as heffe@naefined) between
Riverchase Capital, LLC, a Florida limited liabjlitompany, and Stow Riverchase, LLC, a Floridatiahiliability company, successors in
interest to RBP, LLC, (collectively * Landlord, and BioCryst Pharmaceuticals, Inc., (“Tenamt&ted July 13, 2000, and amended May 15,
2001, November 14, 2005, and August 7, 20@bllectively the “ Leas®), for the Premises commonly known as Suites A,B&fhe 2190
Wing, and Suites A&C of the 2192 Wing of Building®/2192, Riverchase Business Park, Birminghambaxiza, 35244.

PRELIMINARY STATEMENTS

Landlord and Tenant desire to enter into this Anmesiot for the purpose of downsizing the Premised fanthe purposes set forth hert

AGREEMENTS :

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of these prem#es other good and valuable consideration, thapeard sufficiency of which i
hereby acknowledged, Landlord and Tenant herebseagramend the Lease as follows:

1. Definitions. Unless otherwise defined herein, all capitaliterdhs used in this Amendment shall have the measngbed to them in the
Lease.

2. PremisedsEffective February 1, 2012, the Premises is redteedl, 100 sf as referenced in Exhibit A to thisé&ndment as “BioCryst
Premises.” Tenant’s proportionate share of theddujl as used by the Landlord in the calculation€@ihmon Area Maintenance Costs
and Taxes as outlined in the Lease shall remaihamged from its current amount of 73.59%. Notwihsding the foregoing, Tenant sl
not be responsible for charges related to any aesvncurred or specifically requested by Nohablditing, without limitation, special
cleaning requests etc.). Tenant shall pay $12,000Wards the separation of the BioCryst Premiselstiae Nohab Premises. Nohab will
be responsible for separating the electrical serEtween the BioCryst Premises and the Nohab Besnirenant and Landlord will
contribute up to $15,000.00 each towards the séparafter receipt of copies of paid invoices amghed lien waiver(s) from the
responsible contractc

3.  Nohab Leas. Tenant acknowledges that Landlord and Nohab EBssiroducts, LLC (“Nohab”) have entered into askeagreement
for 16,050 sf of Tena’'s Premises as shown on the attached Exhibit AisocAimendment”“Nohab Premis¢’).

4. Common Area Maintenance Costs and TaXemant shall remain responsible for all Commoaaaintenance Costs and Taxes for
both BioCryst Premises and for Nohab Premises tirdwne 30, 201!

5. SubMetered Electric Tenant, Landlord, and Nohab acknowledge that Nshalectric usage will be metered through theailtestion of
sub-meters within Tenant’s Premises. Tenant shatl the sub-meters quarterly and at such time\tblaab’s usage exceeds $2,675 per
month, Tenant shall invoice Nohab, and Nohab giallto Tenant the difference. If Nohab’s usagess than $2,675 per month, Tenant
shall issue a credit to Nohab for the differer

6. Fixed Minimum Rent Payme..

Dates Rent:

2/1/12 — 2/29/12 $43,992.4,
3/1/12-6/30/12 $35,967.4,
7/1/12—3/31/13 $37,287.2
4/1/13-6/30/13 $33,274.7
7/1/13-6/30/14 $34,634.01
7/1/14- 6/30/15 $36,034.2

7. Renewal OptionThe Option to Renew provision provided for in fftard Amendment to Lease Agreement remains inffulte and
effect; however, shall only apply to the new redlBPeemises size of 34,100



8.  Ratification. Tenant hereby ratifies and confirms its obligasiender the Lease, and represents and warransttbord that it has no
defenses thereto. Additionally, Tenant further aom§ and ratifies that, as of the date hereoftHa)Lease is and remains in good stan
and in full force and effect, and (b) Tenant haslaims, counterclaims, seffs or defenses against Landlord arising out efltease or i
any way relating thereto or arising out of any otin@nsaction between Landlord and Ten

9. Binding Effect; Governing LawExcept as modified hereby, the Lease shall reimngull effect and this Amendment shall be binding
upon Landlord and Tenant. This Amendment shalldemed by the laws of the State of Alabama. TE&éctive Date’ shall be the
date the last of Landlord and Tenant signs this Aangent as evidenced by the date below their reisesignatures

10. Conflict. In the event of a conflict between the terms emaditions of this Amendment and the terms and itimmd of the Lease, this
Amendment shall control and prev:

11. _Severability and Invaliditylf any provision of this Amendment, or the apgtion of such provision to any person or circumstaishall
be held invalid, the remainder of the Amendmentherapplication of such provision to persons ccwnstances other than those to
which it is held invalid, shall not be affected ribley

12. Brokers Tenant and Landlord represent and warrant totiher that there is no other broker, agent or fireolved in this transaction,
other than Engel Realty Company, LLC (“Engel”), titlam Realty (“Platinum”) and Sandner CommerciahRegstate, Inc. (“Sandner”),
to whom Tenant shall pay a commission for the Ndbedse period January 1, 2012 through June 30, glfsnant to a separate written
agreement. All shall be paid by Tenant based omgitbss base rent lease value, as followsp2fable to Engel and 2% to Platinum, and
2% to Sandner. Therefore, the total commissionisl$26,482.50. Tenant agrees to defend, indemrafydlord and hold Landlord
harmless of and from all liabilities and/or liengsang out of a breach of the foregoing represémtaand warranty

All other terms and covenants of the original Leageeement shall remain as contained.
SIGNATURES ON FOLLOWING PAGE
2



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have set thends and seals as of the Effective Date.

“TENANT”

Tenant NameBioCryst Pharmaceuticals, |

Business Type: Corporation

State of OrganizatiorAlabama

Signature: /s/ Alane Barnes

Print Name Alane Barne:
Title: General Counst

Date:2/23/02
“LANDLORD”

Riverchase Capital, LLC,
a Florida Limited Liability Compan

Signature: /s/ Kristen Kennedy Showalter

Kristen Kennedy Showalter
Vice Presiden

Date: 3/23/1:

Stow Riverchase, LLC,
a Florida Limited Liability Company

By: Arcis Realty, LLC, as its attorn-in-fact

Signature: /s/ Kristen Kennedy Showalter

Kristen Kennedy Showalt¢
Vice Presiden

Date: 3/23/12

Agreed & Accepted B
Nohab Business Products, Ll

/sl [Signature lllegible]

Signature

By: [lllegible]

Its: CFO
Date: 2/28/1:

Signed, sealed and delivered in my presence agssitto Tenan

Witness for Tenar

Signature /s/ Whitney A. Meeks

Print Name: Whitney A. Meek

Signed, sealed and delivered in my presence agssitio Landlor

Witness 1 for Landlor

Signature /s/ Lisa |. Cadieux

Print NameLisa |. Cadieux

Witness 1 for Landlort

Signature /s/ Lisa |. Cadieux

Print NameLisa Cadieuy
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Exhibit 21

Subsidiaries of the Registrant

Jurisdiction
of
Subsidiary Incorporation

JPR Royalty Sub LLC Delawart



Exhibit 23

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accountingirm

We consent to the incorporation by reference irféHewing Registration Statements:

Registration Statements (Form S-8 Nos. 333-120333,39484 and 333-30751) pertaining to the BioCRfsirmaceuticals, Inc.
1991 Stock Option Plan, as amended and restatefd\arch 8, 2004

Registration Statement (Forn-8 No. 33:-90582) pertaining to the BioCryst Pharmaceutidals, Employee Stock Purchase Pl

Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-13670&ppeng to the BioCryst Pharmaceuticals, Inc. &trentive Plan, which
amended and restated the BioCryst Pharmaceutinals] 991 Stock Option Plan as of May 17, 2C

Registration Statement (Forn-3 No. 33:-145638) pertaining to the registration of up to4®,000 shares of common sto

Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-14562tppeng to the BioCryst Pharmaceuticals, Inc. 8trentive Plan as
amended and restated effective March 2007 and BEmaot Letter Agreement dated April 2, 2007 betwB&Cryst
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and David McCullou

Registration Statement (Form S-3 No. 333-175182)He registration of up to $70 million of BioCryfBharmaceuticals, Inc.
common stock, preferred stock, depositary shatesk purchase contracts, warrants or ui

Registration Statement (Form S-3 No. 333-15308d)He registration of 3,335,408 shares of BioCBfsarmaceuticals, Inc.
common stock and 3,159,895 warrants to purchasenconstock of BioCryst Pharmaceuticals, It

Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 3E2570) pertaining to the BioCryst Pharmaceuticel, Stock Incentive Plan, as amen
and restated effective February 28, 2008 and tb€Bist Pharmaceuticals, Inc. Employee Stock PuecRéan, as amended and
restated effective February 28, 20

Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-16783@&ppeng to the BioCryst Pharmaceuticals, Inc. 8thxentive Plan, as
amended and restated effective March 31, 2010l 8ibCryst Pharmaceuticals, Inc. Employee Stoaklrase Plan, as amended
and restated effective March 31, 20

Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333096) pertaining to the BioCryst Pharmaceuticel, Stock Incentive Plan, as amen
and restated effective February 17, 2(

of our reports dated March 11, 2013 with respethéoconsolidated financial statements of BioCBlsarmaceuticals, Inc. and the effectiver
of internal control over financial reporting of Bioyst Pharmaceuticals, Inc. included in this AnrReport of BioCryst Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
(Form 10-K) for the year ended December 31, 2012.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP

Raleigh, North Carolina
March 11, 2013



Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATIONS

I, Jon P. Stonehouse, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 16fBioCryst Pharmaceuticals, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notador@ny untrue statement of a material fact or donfttate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememis,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amdtife periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anare responsible for establishing and maintainlisglosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&)}%(nd internal control over financial reportirag defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15
(f) and 15d-15(f) for the registrant and have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedoresiused such disclosure controls and procedotes designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhsubsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly duriig toeriod in which this report is being prepared;

b) designed such internal control over financiglonting, or caused such internal control over fgiahreporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repogiand the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting principles;

c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registsagiitsclosure controls and procedures and presentais report our conclusions ab
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls adgatures, as of the end of the period coveredibydport based on such evaluation; ant

d) disclosed in this report any change in the tegi$'s internal control over financial reportirftat occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodigbal quarter in the case of an annual repo#) tlas materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the registrant’s intexl control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anaave disclosed, based on our most recent evatuaf internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a) all significant deficiencies and material weadges in the design or operation of internal corvelr financial reporting which a
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regisfeaability to record, process, summarize and refioancial information; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that invelveanagement or other employees who have a signifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

/s/ Jon P. Stonehouse
Jon P. Stonehou:
Chief Executive Office

Date: March 11, 2013



Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATIONS

I, Thomas R. Staab I, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 16fBioCryst Pharmaceuticals, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notador@ny untrue statement of a material fact or donfttate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememis,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amdtife periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anare responsible for establishing and maintainlisglosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&)}%(nd internal control over financial reportirag defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15
(f) and 15d-15(f) for the registrant and have:

a. designed such disclosure controls and procedaresused such disclosure controls and procedoifes designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhsubsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly duriig toeriod in which this report is being prepared;

b. designed such internal control over financigbrting, or caused such internal control over faiahreporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repogiand the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting principles;

c. evaluated the effectiveness of the registsadiisclosure controls and procedures and preséanths report our conclusions abc
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls adgatures, as of the end of the period coveredibydport based on such evaluation; ant

d. disclosed in this report any change in the teai$'s internal control over financial reportirttat occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodigbal quarter in the case of an annual repo#) tlas materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the registrant’s intexl control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anaave disclosed, based on our most recent evatuaf internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a. all significant deficiencies and material weads®s in the design or operation of internal cordvelr financial reporting which a
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regisfeaability to record, process, summarize and refioancial information; and

b. any fraud, whether or not material, that invelmeanagement or other employees who have a signifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

/s/ Thomas R. Staab Il

Thomas R. Staab

Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer
(Principal Financial Officer

Date: March 11, 2013



Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of BioCrystaRinaceuticals, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Ktfte period ending
December 31, 2012 as filed with the SecuritiesExchange Commission on the date hereof (the “R@pgron P. Stonehouse, Chief
Executive Officer of the Company, certify, pursuanil8 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to 9% Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that,
to the best of my knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requiremeatsection 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities ExgwAct of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report faphgesents, in all material respects, the finan@aldition and results of operations
of the Company.

s/ Jon P. Stonehou
Jon P. Stonehouse
Chief Executive Office

March 11, 2013

This certification is furnished with this Report Borm 10-K pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarb&@dsy Act of 2002 and shall not,
except to the extent required by such Act, be deditedd by the Company for purposes of Section flthe Securities Exchange Act of 1934,
as amended (the “Exchange Act”). Such certificatidhnot be deemed to be incorporated by referént®any filing under the Securities Act
of 1933, as amended, or the Exchange Act, excepetextent that the Company specifically incorpesat by reference.



Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of BioCrystaRinaceuticals, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Ktfte period ending
December 31, 2012 as filed with the SecuritiesExcthange Commission on the date hereof (the “R8pariThomas R. Staab, Il, Chief

Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursutmtl8 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to 9@t Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that,
to the best of my knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requiremeatsection 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities ExgwAct of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report faphgesents, in all material respects, the finan@aldition and results of operations
of the Company.

/s/ Thomas R. Staab

Thomas R. Staab Il

Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer
(Principal Financial Officer

March 11, 2013

This certification is furnished with this Report Borm 10-K pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarb&@dsy Act of 2002 and shall not,
except to the extent required by such Act, be deditedd by the Company for purposes of Section flthe Securities Exchange Act of 1934,
as amended (the “Exchange Act”). Such certificatidhnot be deemed to be incorporated by referént®any filing under the Securities Act
of 1933, as amended, or the Exchange Act, excapetextent that the Company specifically incorpesat by reference



